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SECURE TRUST BANK PLC
Preliminary Results for the 12 months to 31 December 2023

Strong progress towards £4 billion loan book
David McCreadie, Chief Executive, said:

"Secure Trust has  made s ignificant progress  in 2023 against our strategic priori�es. We del ivered strong lending growth of
13.6% by enhancing our customer experience and leveraging our distribu�on networks. We con�nued to manage our
growth careful ly to generate an appropriate risk adjusted margin. Al l  four specia l is t lending bus inesses  del ivered record
levels  of new bus iness  lending in 2023.

O ur strategy to s impl i fy the Group con�nues at pace, with further cost op�misa�on savings  del ivered during the year. We

are on track to del iver our upgraded target of £5 mi l l ion of annual ised savings2 by the end of 2024.

O nce again, we have demonstrated our abi l i ty to grow in 2023 and the Group is  wel l  placed to real ise our ambi�ons. We
are wel l  on our way towards  our £4 bi l l ion net loan book target and del ivery of our 14-16% return on average equity target.
We remain confident about the future."

Highlights1

·       Record new lending delivered 13.6% growth in lending balances to £3.3 billion (2022: £2.9 billion)

·       Total profit before tax of £33.4 million decreased by 24.1% (2022: £44.0 million)

·       Adjusted3 profit before tax pre impairments up 12.4% to £85.5 million (2022: £76.1 million)

·       Adjusted3 profit before tax of £42.6 million up 9.2% (2022: £39.0 million)

·       Adjusted3 cost income ratio at 54.0% (2022: 55.0%); on track to deliver £5 million in annualised savings2 by the end of
2024. Statutory cost income ratio at 57.5% (2022: 55.0%)

·       Cost of risk stable at 1.4% (2022: 1.4%)

·       Tangible book value per share increased 4.0% to £17.80 per share

Financial Highlights1

The Group achieved record new bus iness  lending across  a l l  divis ions  during the period, increas ing 11.5% compared to
2022, whi le maintaining i ts  discipl ined approach to risk management.

The net lending book has  grown 13.6% in the period. I n Consumer F inance, net lending balances  grew to £1.7 bi l l ion (2022:
£1.4 bi l l ion) fol lowing record new bus iness  lending of £1.7 bi l l ion (2022: £1.5 bi l l ion). I n Bus iness  F inance, net lending
balances  increased s l ightly to £1.6 bi l l ion (2022: £1.5 bi l l ion) with record new bus iness  lending of £0.6 bi l l ion (2022: £0.5
bi l l ion).

Net interest margin ('NI M') decreased to 5.4% (2022: 5.7%) reflec�ng new Tier 2 capital , which reduced NI M by 20 bps  in the
period but provides  capital  for growth, and the strategic shi< towards  lower yielding, lower risk lending in both our
Business  Finance and Consumer Finance divis ions.

I n l ine with our strategy to s impl i fy the Group, the adjusted cost income ra�o improved from 55.0% in 2022 to 54.0%,
demonstrating our abi l i ty to leverage our cost base.

The impairment charge of £43.2 mi l l ion (2022: £38.2 mi l l ion) reflects  a  cost of risk of 1.4% (2022: 1.4%), growth in new
business , and one materia l  loss  of £7.2 mi l l ion in Commercial  Finance as  reported at the hal f year.

O n an adjusted bas is  the Group achieved a profit before tax of £42.6 mi l l ion (2022: £39.0 mi l l ion), an increase of 9.2%.
Total  profit before tax of £33.4 mi l l ion (2022: £44.0 mi l l ion) was  impacted by excep�onal  i tems (£6.5 mi l l ion) in 2023. I n
2022, there was a  £6.1 mi l l ion gain on sale of the Debt Manager (Services) Limited's  ("DMS") loan portfol io.

As  highl ighted in our pre-close trading update, during H2 2023 we engaged in formal  discuss ions  with the FC A about our
col lec�ons processes , procedures  and pol icies  fol lowing i ts  Borrowers  in F inancial  D ifficulty review across  the industry.
This  activi ty has  resulted in the recognition of a  provis ion for costs  including any redress  required of £4.7 mi l l ion. This  has
been treated as  an exceptional  i tem along with corporate activi ty costs  of £1.8 mi l l ion.

The Group achieved a total  return on average equity ('ROAE') of 7.3% (2022: 10.8%) and maintained strong capital  ra�os.
ROAE in 2022 benefiEed from the gain recognised on the sale of the D M S loan porFol io. Excluding the gain/(losses) from
discon�nued opera�ons and excep�onal  i tems in 2023, the total  con�nuing ROAE for 2023 would be 9.6% compared to
9.4% for 31 December 2022.

Financial summary1

2023 2022
Change4

%



2023 2022 %

Total statutory profit before tax £33.4m £44.0m  (24.1)

Adjusted3 profit before tax £42.6m £39.0m  9.2

Adjusted3 profit before tax and pre impairments £85.5m £76.1m  12.4

Total  bas ic earnings  per share 129.6 pence 180.5 pence  (28.2)

Continuing bas ic earnings  per share 140.8 pence 158.5 pence  (11.2)

Ordinary dividend per share 32.2 pence 45.1 pence (28.6)

Total  return on average equity5 7.3% 10.8% (3.5)pp

Adjusted3 return on average equity 9.6% 9.4% 0.2pp

Net interest margin 5.4% 5.7% (0.3)pp

Cost of risk 1.4% 1.4% -

Adjusted3 cost income ratio 54.0% 55.0% (1.0)pp

Cost income ratio 57.5% 55.0% 2.5pp

Net lending balances £3,315.3m £2,919.5m  13.6

Customer deposits £2,871.8m £2,514.6m  14.2

Tangible book value per share £17.80 £17.11 4.0

Common Equity Tier 1 ('CET 1') ratio 12.7% 14.0% (1.3)pp

Total capital ratio5 15.0% 16.1% (1.1)pp

Optimising for Growth: Further strategic progress

The Group has  made good progress  against i ts  strategic priori�es  of Simplify, Enhance Customer Experience and Leverage
Networks during the year. This  strategic progress  has  driven our loan book growth and cost efficiency. Key strategic
priori ties  for the year ahead, include:

·       Project Fus ion is  on track to del iver £5 mi l l ion of annual ised cost savings2 by year-end 2024. Further opportunities
have been identi fied.

·       Market share gains  for both Retai l  Finance and Vehicle Finance, maximis ing the opportunities  from their strong
networks.

·       Vehicle Finance wi l l  complete i ts  move to a  s ingle technology platform, opening up the potentia l  for new pricing
models  and cost efficiencies .

Other highlights

·       Customer deposits  grew to £2,871.8 mi l l ion (2022: £2,514.6 mi l l ion) through a combination of growth in fixed term
funds, ISAs  and access  accounts . Savings  markets  have repriced fol lowing the Bank of England Base Rate increases.
This  combined with the increase cost of Tier 2 funding, resulted in a  cost of funds  of 4.4% (2022: 1.9%).

·       Tier 2 capital  of £90.0 mi l l ion issued to refinance the £50 mi l l ion of existing 2018 Tier 2 capital , with 2023 fi rst cal l
dates  and support lending growth.

·       Customer satis faction remains  high, as  measured by Feefo, 4.6 stars  (2022: 4.6 stars)

·       Listed as  an officia l  UK Best Workplace™ for the fi fth year running, ranking 12 out of 87 companies  (large
organisations  category), a  s igni ficant improvement from 2022 (ranked 29 out of 67).

·       We have made strong progress  against our ESG strategy that was  launched at the start of 2023, especial ly around
Equity, Divers i ty and Inclus ion, Cl imate Action, Customer Trust and Education and Ski l l s .

Dividend

The Directors  are proposing a  final  dividend of 16.2 pence per share for 2023, which wi l l  be payable on 23 May 2024 to
shareholders  on the register at the close of bus iness  on 26 Apri l  2024. The total  dividend payable for 2023 is  32.2 pence
per share (2022: 45.1 pence per share). This  i s  in l ine with the Group pol icy to return 25% of earnings  to shareholders . The
Board has  decided to move to a  progress ive dividend pol icy for the 2024 financial  year, reflec�ng feedback from
shareholders .

Outlook

W ith infla�on fal l ing, financial  markets  are predic�ng that the Bank Base Rate has  peaked and that i t wi l l  begin to fa l l  in
2024. We s incerely hope this  begins  to ease the 'cost of l iving' burden on our customers  and is  the beginning of a  period of
rela�ve economic stabi l i ty notwithstanding the impacts  of the geopol i�cal  environment. We wi l l  con�nue to make effec�ve
credit decis ions  and provide fa ir interest rates  for our deposit holders  ensuring the Group's  growth is  safe and the
business  generates  sustainable profi ts .

Our Optimis ing for Growth strategic priori ties  wi l l  continue to focus  on del ivering market share gains  in our four specia l is t
lending areas  through enhancing our customer experience and leveraging our networks. 2024 wi l l  see further
s impl ifica�on of the Group, which alongs ide lending book growth, should further improve cost income ra�os. The year has
started wel l , with net lending balances  in l ine with our expecta�ons and we have iden�fied opportuni�es  for further cost
efficiencies . We are wel l  pos itioned to del iver our medium-term targets  and face the future with confidence. 

Medium-term targets
31 December 2023

 Actual Target

Net lending balance £3.3bn £4bn

Net interest margin 5.4% >5.5%

Adjusted3 cost income ratio 54.0% 44-46%

Adjusted1,3 return on average equity 9.6% 14% - 16%

CET 1 ratio 12.7% >12.0%



Footnotes:

1. Performance metrics relate to continuing operations, unless otherwise stated. Further details of the metrics can be found in the Appendix to

the 2023 Annual Report and Accounts.

2. Cost savings relative to operating expenses for the 12 months ended December 2021.

3. Adjusted metrics exclude exceptional items of £6.5 million (2022: £nil). Details can be found in Note 8 to the financial statements.

4. pp represents the percentage point movement

5. Restated to reflect the prior year restatement of land and buildings from fair value to historic cost. Further details are provided Note 1.3 to the

Annual Report and Accounts.

Results presentation

This  announcement together with the associated investors ' presenta�on are avai lable
on:www.securetrustbank.com/results-reports/results-reports-presentations

Secure Trust Bank wi l l  host a  webcast for analysts  and investors  today, 21 March 2024 at 10.00am, which can be accessed
by registering at: https://brrmedia.news/STB_FY23

For those wishing to ask a  question, please dia l  into the event by conference cal l :

Dia l  +44 (0)330 551 0200

UK Tol l  Free: 0808 109 0700

Confirmation code (i f prompted): Secure Trust Bank

Enquiries: 

Secure Trust Bank PLC

David McCreadie, Chief Executive Officer
Rachel  Lawrence, Chief Financial  Officer
Phi l  Clark, Investor Relations
Tel : +44 (0) 121 693 9100
 
Investec Bank plc (Joint Broker)
Bruce Garrow
David Anderson
Maria Gomez de Olea
Tel : +44 (0) 20 7597 5970
 
Shore Capital Stockbrokers (Joint Broker)
Mark Percy / Rachel  Goldstein (Corporate Advisory)
Guy Wiehahn (Corporate Broking)
Tel : +44 (0) 20 7408 4090

Camarco

Ed Gascoigne-Pees, Geoffrey Pelham-Lane, Sean Palmer
securetrustbank@camarco.co.uk
Tel : +44 (0) 7591 760844

This  announcement contains  ins ide information.

The person responsible for the release of this  information on behalf of STB is  Lisa  Daniels , Company Secretary.

Forward looking statements

This  announcement contains  forward looking statements  about the bus iness , s trategy and plans  of STB and i ts  current
objec�ves, targets  and expecta�ons rela�ng to i ts  future financial  condi�on and performance. Statements  that are not
historical  facts , including statements  about STB's  or management's  bel iefs  and expecta�ons, are forward looking
statements . By their nature, forward looking statements  involve risk and uncertainty because they relate to events  and
depend on ci rcumstances  that wi l l  occur in the future. STB's  actual  future results  may differ materia l ly from the results
expressed or impl ied in these forward looking statements  as  a  result of a  variety of factors . These include UK  domes�c and
global  economic and bus iness  condi�ons, risks  concerning borrower credit qual i ty, market related risks  including interest
rate risk, inherent risks  regarding market condi�ons and s imi lar con�ngencies  outs ide STB's  control , the COVI D-19
pandemic, expected credit losses  in certain scenarios  involving forward looking data, any adverse experience in inherent
opera�onal  risks , any unexpected developments  in regula�on, or regulatory and other factors . The forward looking
statements  contained in this  announcement are made as  of the date of this  announcement, and (except as  required by law
or regulation) STB undertakes  no obl igation to update any of i ts  forward looking statements .

Our strategic progress

Simplify ·  Office space reduced by 51%

·  Project Fus ion on track for £5 mi l l ion annual ised cost savings1 by end 2024

·  Making progress  to del iver 50% reduction in Scope 1 and Scope 2 CO2 emiss ions  by 2025

·  Completed closure of Debt Management Services  operations

Enhance customer
experience ·  Savings  mobi le app launched, 15% el igible users  registered

·  Over 80% sel f-service adoption in Retai l  Finance

·  Enhanced col lections  and forbearance options  in Vehicle Finance

·  Customer Feefo score of 4.6 stars  and 10 Year Excel lence Award

Leverage networks ·  Supporting > 1,200 retai lers

·  Partnering > 750 Vehicle Finance brokers , dealers  and internet introducers

http://www.securetrustbank.com/results-reports/results-reports-presentations
mailto:securetrustbank@camarco.co.uk


·  Partnering > 750 Vehicle Finance brokers , dealers  and internet introducers

·  Business  Finance repeat bus iness  from establ ished relationships  increas ing

Enabled by
technology ·  Upgraded technological  capabi l i ties

·  Automated credit decis ions

·  Ease of partner integration

·  Platforms proven to be scalable

1   Cost savings relative to operating expenses for the 12 months ended December 2021.

Chairman's statement
I  am pleased to present our Annual  Report and Accounts  for 2023. It has  been a di fficult year for the country, and for so
many of our customers, employees  and fel low ci tizens. Despite the chal lenges  the Group has  once again del ivered a robust

set of results  with an adjusted profi t before tax1 at £42.6 mi l l ion (2022: £39.0 mi l l ion), and a statutory profi t before tax of
£36.1 mi l l ion (2022: £39.0 mi l l ion).

For the fi fth year running we have received the UK's  Best WorkplacesTM accolade from Great Place to Work® and are ranked
44 amongst the top large companies  in Europe. This  reflects  the relentless  effort by Anne McKenning and her team in HR to
promote a pos itive work culture. The bus iness  continues  to col lect prestigious  awards, with Vehicle Finance nominated for
'Finance provider of the Year' for the third year in a  row, and Commercial  Finance winning 'Asset-based lender of the year'
at the Real  Deal  Private Equity awards  in Europe. The Group met the bracing Consumer Duty implementation deadl ines  set
by the FCA and we remain completely committed to ensuring the highest standards  of service and support to our customers.

We are making good progress  despite some headwinds  in achieving our medium-term targets , with lending growing by £0.4
bi l l ion to £3.3 bi l l ion, and savings  book growth of £357 mi l l ion to £2.9 bi l l ion. At our Capital  Markets  Day we explained
how reaching a  £4 bi l l ion net lending book was the cornerstone to del ivering them. The Board are proposing a  final
dividend of 16.2 pence for the year and are now committed to a  progress ive pol icy going forward.

It was  a  real  pleasure to welcome Vicky Mitchel l  to the Board in November. She brings  extens ive experience in banking most
notably from Capital  One (Europe) plc. There was a lso sadness  with the intended reti rement of Nick Davis  after so many
years  of bri l l iantly bui lding our V12 Retai l  Finance bus iness . I  am also grateful  to our departing Company Secretary, Mark
Stevens  who has  been quite s imply outstanding and wi l l  be much missed.

Whi lst on the issue of reti rement, I  announced in March 2023 that I would be stepping down at the next Annual  General
Meeting. The search for my successor was  ski l ful ly led by our Senior Independent Director, Ann Berresford, and we have as
a result in Jim Brown, an experienced banker with a l l  the necessary ski l l s  and experience to take the Group forward.

As  I reflect on a decade on the Board of Secure Trust Bank, with over seven years  as  Chairman, I am immensely proud of i ts
achievements  in the worst of times and the best of times. The bus iness  is  res i l ient and has  shown great agi l i ty and
consistent del ivery, despite the chal lenges  of Brexit, COVID-19, regulation and inflation. I  have tremendous confidence in
David and his  Executive team and in the progress  made in cutting costs  and focus ing the bus iness  on segments  where we
have proven strength and expertise.

Looking ahead, inflation is  fa l l ing and the markets  predict that interest rates  have peaked. Nonetheless  geopol i tics  has
created the most fragi le and unpredictable times in my l i fetime. We hope for better times, but plan to maintain our record
of res i l ience and are wel l  placed to achieve our growth targets  and del iver value for our shareholders . In meeting that
chal lenge, I  am extremely grateful  to the Board, past and present, and to a l l  of our employees  whose dedication and hard
work gives  me every confidence for the future.

1. Adjusted profit before tax refers to profit before income tax from continuing operations before exceptional items.

Chief Executive's statement

The Group has  made continued progress  in 2023 and we are moving closer to achieving our £4 bi l l ion net lending

ambition. We del ivered robust loan book growth, improved adjusted profi ts1 and maintained credit discipl ines  against a
chal lenging economic backdrop. The year began with high levels  of inflation and the Bank of England tackl ing this  by
continuing to increase the Bank Base Rate to levels  not experienced s ince 2008, which in turn increased financial  pressure
on consumers  and bus inesses.

The Group has  actively managed i ts  balance sheet, whi le maintaining effective credit discipl ine. We have grown lending
balances  by £0.4 bi l l ion during the period, with further market share gains  in our Retai l  Finance and Vehicle Finance
businesses. We del ivered record new bus iness  levels  in each of our specia l is t lending bus inesses. We have del ivered
lending growth whi le careful ly managing our new bus iness  pricing. We continued to manage pricing careful ly against the
backdrop of ris ing rates  and we have maintained tight cost control . As  a  result, we have improved our adjusted cost income

ratio2 by 100 bas is  points .

I am pleased to report a  good set of results  against what has  been a chal lenging backdrop. We achieved an adjusted profi t

before tax1 of £42.6 mi l l ion (2022: £39.0 mi l l ion), and made progress  towards  our medium-term targets , with a  year-end
lending portfol io of £3.3 bi l l ion, an increase of 13.6% (2022: £2.9 bi l l ion). Net interest margin reduced to 5.4%, (2022:
5.7%), reflecting the interest rate environment we are operating in, the increas ing mix of lower risk lending in our consumer
businesses  and increased levels  of Tier 2 debt to support our growth strategy. Our key performance indicators  are set out
overleaf, which include our medium-term targets , which we refreshed at our recent Capital  Markets  Day (see our
www.securetrustbank.com/cme2023 for detai ls  of the presentation).

The Group achieved a statutory profi t before tax of £36.1 mi l l ion (2022: £39.0 mi l l ion), which includes  exceptional  i tems of
£6.5 mi l l ion, which relate to customer remediation activi ty fol lowing the FCA's  industry review of Borrowers  in Financial
Di fficulty ('BiFD') and corporate activi ty. Further information on these i tems can be found in the Financial  Review.

With our four specia l is t lending segments , the Group operates  in large addressable markets . We bel ieve there are
opportunities  to further deploy our expertise and systems to widen and deepen our market penetration. New business
growth was 11.5% during the year (2022: 43.5%) and net lending growth was 13.6% (2022: 19.1%).

In 2023 our market share for Retai l  Finance new bus iness  increased to 13.5%3 (2022:11.4%). Likewise we have seen market
share gains  for our Vehicle Finance bus iness , where improved distribution, despite the tightening of our credit cri teria  over



the last 18 months, has  increased our market share for new bus iness  to 1.2%4 (2022: 1.1%).

Further information on financial  performance for the year is  included in the Financial  review.

1. Adjusted profits/Adjusted profit before tax refers to profit before income tax from continuing operations before exceptional items.
2. Excludes exceptional items. See Note 8 to the Financial Statements and section (v) in the Appendix to the Annual Report for further details.
3. Source: Finance & Leasing Association ('FLA'): New business values within retail store and online credit: 2023: 13.5% (2022: 12.8%): FLA total

and Retail Finance new business of £8,811 million (2022: £8,775 million) and £1,185.4 million (2022: £1,124.3 million) respectively. As
published at 31 December 2023.

4. Source: FLA. Cars bought on finance by consumers through the point of sale: New business values: Used cars: 2023, FLA total and Vehicle
Finance total of £22,083 million (2022: £23,691 million) and £260.0 million (2022: £262.9 million) respectively, as published at 4 March
December 2024.

Key performance indicators
The fol lowing key performance indicators  are the primary measures  used by management to assess  the performance of the
Group.

Certain key performance indicators  represent a l ternative performance measures  that are not defined or speci fied under
International  Financial  Reporting Standards  ('IFRS').

Defini tions  of the financial  key performance indicators , their calculation and an explanation of the reasons  for their use
can be found in the Appendix to the Annual  Report.

Al l  key performance indicators  are presented on a continuing bas is , unless  otherwise stated. Further information on
discontinued operations  are included on Note 10 to the Financial  Statements .

Further explanation of the financial  key performance indicators  i s  discussed in the narrative of the Financial  review, where
they are identi fied by being in bold font.

Further explanation of the non-financial  key performance indicators  i s  provided in the Managing our bus iness  responsibly
and Cl imate-related financial  disclosures  sections  of the Annual  Report and Accounts .

The Directors ' Remuneration Report in the Annual  Report and Accounts  sets  out how executive pay is  l inked to the
assessment of key financial  and non-financial  performance indicators .

 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

Grow
Loans and advances to customers (£bn) 3.3 2.9 2.5 2.2 2.2
Why we measure this  - Shows the growth in the Group's  lending balances, which generate income

Total return on average equity (%) 7.3 10.8 15.9 5.9 12.8
Why we measure this  - Measures  the Group's  abi l i ty to generate profit from the equity avai lable to i t

Net interest margin 5.4 5.7 6.1 6.1 6.5

Why we measure this  - Shows the interest margin earned on the Group's  lending balances, net of funding costs

Sustain
Common Equity Tier 1 ('CET 1') ratio (%) 12.7 14.0 14.5 14.0 12.6
Why we measure this  - The CET 1 ratio demonstrates  the Group's  capital  s trength

Cost to income ratio (%) 57.5 55.0 60.0 56.6 56.3
Cost to income ratio (excluding exceptional items) (%) 54.0 55.0 60.0 56.6 56.3

Why we measure this  - Measures  how efficiently the Group uses  i ts  cost base to produce income

Cost of risk (%) 1.4 1.4 0.2 2.0 1.7
Why we measure this  - Measures  how effectively the Group manages  the credit risk of i ts  lending portfol ios

Care
Customer Feefo ratings (Stars) 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.7 4.7
Why we measure this  - Indicator of customer satis faction with the Group's  products  and services

(Mark out of 5 based on star rating from 1,989 reviews (2022: 990, 2021: 937, 2020: 1,466, 2019:1,754))

Employee survey trust index score (%) 83 85 80 82 79

Why we measure this  - Indicator of employee engagement and satis faction

Environmental intensity indicator 2.2 2.8 3.0 3.1 4.7

Why we measure this  - Indicator of the Group's  impact on the environment

(Total  Scope 1, 2 and certain Scope 3 emiss ions  per £m Group operating income)

Strategic priorities
At hal f year we launched our Optimis ing for Growth strategic priori ties  which support our strategic pi l lars  of Grow, Sustain
and Care. A clear focus  on s impl i fying the Group, enhancing customer experience and leveraging our networks  wi l l  enable
us  to progress  towards  del ivering a l l  of our medium-term targets .

Simplify

Our cost optimisation programme, Project Fus ion, remained a key focus  and we have successful ly del ivered annual ised
cost savings  of £4 mi l l ion and are on track for £5 mi l l ion annual ised cost savings  by the end of 2024. This  has  primari ly
been achieved through streaml ining legacy operational  processes  across  a  number of areas, s impl i fying the Group and
reducing the number of bus iness  l ines  we operate in. We have also taken the opportunity to review leadership structures ,
roles  and spans  of control  and undertaken an extens ive review of our suppl ier contracts  which has  del ivered s igni ficant
savings , as  wel l  as  reducing our property footprint by exi ting two properties  in Sol ihul l  and Cardi ff.

Enhance customer experiences



Enhance customer experiences

Ensuring we provide high customer satis faction remains  a  priori ty for us . We continue to score highly with Feefo, scoring
4.6 stars  out of 5 (2022: 4.6 out of 5 stars), and won Feefo's  very exclus ive accolade for customer service - the Feefo 10
Years  of Excel lence Award, recognis ing bus inesses  who have won a Feefo Trusted Service Award for 10 years  running. Feefo
also recognised our Vehicle Finance and Retai l  Finance teams and we were awarded 'Platinum Trusted Service Award'. Our
Savings  team secured Feefo's  'Gold Trusted Service Award'.

The Group was recognised external ly for i ts  Vehicle Finance and Commercial  Finance bus inesses. Vehicle Finance was
nominated for the Finance Provider of the Year Award at the Motor Trader Independent Dealer Awards  2023 for the third
year in a  row, and our Commercial  Finance team received the Asset-Based Lender of the Year Award at the Real  Deals
Private Equity Awards, the longest running and most prestigious  Private Equity awards  in Europe.

Our customer experience is  increas ingly digi ta l , with the launch of our Savings  app, with 15% of customers  registered s ince
the launch. Also, over 80% of our Retai l  Finance customers  are registered for onl ine account management. Internal  net
promoter scores  remain high for our Consumer Finance bus inesses  and benchmark wel l  against our industry.

As  part of the new Consumer Duty, which came in at the end of July 2023, we undertook a comprehensive review of our
Consumer Finance and Savings  products  and services , including consumer testing. A number of enhancements  were made
to our communications  to improve our customer experience.

The market for acquiring deposits  continues  to be competitive due to the high interest rate environment. During the year, we
raised record levels  of deposits  and retained s igni ficant funds  on maturing products . As  Bank Base Rate rose, we supported
customers  by continuing to increase rates  across  our managed rate products . We have introduced a Standard Savings  Rate,
setting the minimum rate of interest for variable rate accounts . Our deposits  are entirely from retai l  customers  and 96% of
deposits  are ful ly covered by the Financial  Services  Compensation Scheme.

Leverage networks

Strong relationships  are cri tical  to our bus iness  model . Maintaining a  network of introducers  from which we receive repeat
lending is  a  key focus. Our bus inesses  have establ ished relationships  with partners , retai lers , car dealerships ,
intermediaries  and profess ional  advisers . The Group looks  to further deepen these existing relationships  to originate new
business; to expand and tai lor our product offering; and take market share opportunities .

We have over 1,200 retai ler partners  within Retai l  Finance, which has  supported lending growth of 16.0% during the year,
and a year-end lending balance of £1.2 bi l l ion. We successful ly increased our volumes in large furniture retai lers  and
entered a new sector for financing electric vehicle chargers . Our AppToPay product has  been seamless ly integrated into our
establ ished technology and is  operational  with some of our retai ler partners . In Vehicle Finance we now have a network of
over 750 car dealerships . This  has  supported net lending growth of 25.2%, and a year-end lending balance of £0.5 bi l l ion.

Our Bus iness  Finance bus inesses  offer bespoke products  and personal ised account management. In Commercial  Finance,
private equity groups, profess ional  advisory fi rms and accountants  are important relationships  for new deal  flow. Nearly
two-thirds  of our private equity partners  have made more than one cl ient introduction, valuing our service proposition to
our cl ients  and their investors . In 2023, 80% of Real  Estate Finance's  new lending came through existing customer
relationships , demonstrating the attractiveness  of our service and product proposition.

Enabled by technology

We have successful ly launched a number of technology enhancements , which have al lowed customers  to interact with us
more eas i ly and to streaml ine the end-to-end process . In addition to the launch of our Savings  app, we launched AppToPay
in Retai l  Finance, a  workflow management tool  for Commercial  Finance and confirmation of payee within our Savings
platform.

Regulatory Initiatives

During H2 2023 we engaged in formal  discuss ions  with the FCA about our col lections  processes , procedures  and pol icies .
This  fol lows the FCA's  review of Borrowers  in Financial  Di fficulty ('BiFD') across  the industry. We have engaged external
support to ass ist us  with this  review and have del ivered enhancements  to our col lections  activi ties , which includes  offering
a wider range of forbearance options  to our customers. We expect the review to be completed in H2 2024.

In January 2024, the FCA announced i t was  to undertake a review of discretionary commiss ion arrangements  in the motor
finance market. We sometimes operated these arrangements  unti l  June 2017, ahead of the FCA banning their use in January
2021. We bel ieve that the overal l  proportion of loans  where we used discretionary commiss ion arrangements  was  smal l
and for a  shorter period, relative to the industry in general . The FCA plans  to set out i ts  next steps  in Q3 2024, when the
impl ications  for the industry should become clearer.

Environmental, Social and Governance ('ESG')

I  would l ike to thank al l  of our employees, who yet again show their commitment and pass ion for the organisation. We

have been acknowledged five times this  year by Great Places  to Work® (see page 9 of the 2023 Annual  Report and
Accounts), and received a Trust Index score of 83%, which was a  great outcome. Alongs ide this  we also won the ENEI 2023
award for 'Innovative Approach to Divers i ty, Equal i ty, and Inclus ion' in relation to our podcast, which is  a imed at creating
a voice for col leagues, helping dispel  stereotypes, increas ing understanding and celebrating our divers i ty.

We recently instal led solar panels  at our head office, which wi l l  contribute to our objective of reducing our Scope 1 and 2
CO2e emiss ions. This  wi l l  provide about a  quarter of our electrici ty and reduce greenhouse gas  emiss ions  by 15 tonnes

CO2e per year. We have seen our environmental  intens ity indicator reduce 21.4% year-on-year. We have also made strong

progress  against our other ESG targets . Further detai ls  of our achievements  can be found on pages  41 to 43 of the 2023
Annual  Report and Accounts .

Retirement of Chairman

On behalf of a l l  my col leagues, I  would l ike to thank Michael  for his  exemplary service to the Group over the years . He has
been an exceptional  Chairman, and I thank him personal ly for the guidance and support he has  given me s ince I took on the
role of Chief Executive Officer. His  counsel  has  been invaluable. I  wish him the very best for the future.

Outlook

With inflation fa l l ing ahead of Bank of England expectations, financial  markets  are predicting the Bank Base Rate has
peaked and wi l l  begin to fa l l  in 2024. Whi le macro conditions  remain uncertain, the Board is  very confident in the Group's
abi l i ty to make further strategic progress  in the year ahead, improve market share in our Consumer bus inesses  and manage
credit risk effectively. We s incerely hope this  starts  to ease the 'cost of l iving' burden and financial  pressure on our
customers  and is  the beginning of a  period of relative economic stabi l i ty. We are wel l  pos itioned to del iver our medium-



customers  and is  the beginning of a  period of relative economic stabi l i ty. We are wel l  pos itioned to del iver our medium-
term targets  and face the future with renewed confidence.

Financial review

Income statement

Continuing operations  2023
£million

2022
£mil l ion

Movement
%

Interest income and s imi lar income 304.0 203.0 49.8

Interest expense and s imi lar charges (136.5) (50.4) 170.8

Net interest income 167.5 152.6 9.8

Fee and commiss ion income 17.3 17.4 (0.6)

Fee and commiss ion expense (0.1) (0.4) (75.0)

Net fee and commission income 17.2 17.0 1.2

Operating income 184.7 169.6 8.9

Net impairment charge on loans  and advances  to customers (43.2) (38.2) 13.1

Gains  on modification of financial  assets 0.3 1.1 (72.7)

Fair value and other gains/(losses) on financial  instruments 0.5 (0.3) (266.7)

Operating expenses (99.7) (93.2) 7.0

Profit before income tax from continuing operations before exceptional items 42.6 39.0 9.2

Exceptional  i tems (6.5) - -

Profit before income tax from continuing operations 36.1 39.0 (7.4)

Income tax expense (9.7) (9.4) 3.2

Profit for the year from continuing operations 26.4 29.6 (10.8)

Discontinued operations

(Loss)/profit before income tax from discontinued operations (2.7) 5.0 (154.0)

Income tax credit/(expense) 0.6 (0.9) (166.7)

(Loss)/profit for the year from discontinued operations (2.1) 4.1 (151.2)

Profit for the year 24.3 33.7 (27.9)

Basic earnings  per share (pence) - Total 129.6 180.5 (28.2)

Bas ic earnings  per share (pence) - Continuing 140.8 158.5 (11.2)
 

Selected key performance indicators and performance metrics 2023
£million

2022
£mil l ion

Movement
%

Total profit before tax 33.4 44.0 (24.1)

% %

Percentage
point

movement
Net interest margin 5.4 5.7 (0.3)

Yield 9.8 7.5 2.3

Cost of funds 4.4 1.9 2.5

Adjusted cost to income ratio 54.0 55.0 (1.0)

Statutory cost to income ratio 57.5 55.0 2.5

Cost of risk 1.4 1.4 -

Adjusted return on average equity 9.6 9.4 0.2

Total  return on average equity 7.3 10.8 (3.5)

Common Equity Tier 1 ('CET 1') ratio 12.7 14.0 (1.3)

Total  capital  ratio 15.0 16.1 (1.1)
 

Certain key performance indicators  and performance metrics  represent a l ternative performance measures  that are not
defined or speci fied under International  Financial  Reporting Standards  ('IFRS'). Defini tions  of these al ternative performance
measures, their calculation and an explanation of the reasons  for their use can be found in the Appendix to the Annual
Report. In the narrative of this  review, key performance indicators  are identi fied by being in bold font.

Al l  key performance indicators  are presented on a continuing bas is , unless  otherwise stated. Adjusted profi t before tax
refers  to profi t before income tax from continuing operations  before exceptional  i tems. Further information on exceptional
i tems are included below and discontinued operations  are included on Note 10 to the Financial  Statements .

The Directors ' Remuneration Report in the Annual  Report and Accounts  sets  out how executive pay is  l inked to the
assessment of key financial  and non-financial  performance metrics .

2023 saw a continued focus  on net lending growth whi lst maintaining strong credit discipl ine and cost management.
Growth has  been focused on higher credit qual i ty prime lending, particularly within our Consumer Finance bus inesses. Net
lending growth of 13.6% has  generated an 8.9% increase in operating income, and this  has  been achieved with a  7.0%
increase in costs . The Group achieved an adjusted profi t before tax of £42.6 mi l l ion (2022: £39.0 mi l l ion), with the CET 1
ratio remaining strong at 12.7%.

Total  Earnings  Per Share ('EPS') fel l  from 180.5 pence per share (2022) to 129.6 pence per share. However, on an adjusted
bas is  EPS increased to 172.3 pence per share (2022: 158.5 pence per share). Total  return on average equity decreased from
10.8% (2022) to 7.3%. On an adjusted bas is  return on average equity increased to 9.6% (2022: 9.4%). Total  return on
average equity performance in 2022 was impacted by the one-off £6.1 mi l l ion gain recognised on the sale of the Debt
Managers  (Services) Limited's  loan portfol io.

Detai led disclosures  of EPS are shown in Note 11 to the Financial  Statements . The components  of the Group's  profi t are



Detai led disclosures  of EPS are shown in Note 11 to the Financial  Statements . The components  of the Group's  profi t are
analysed in more detai l  in the sections  below.

Operating income

The Group's  operating income increased by 8.9% to £184.7 mi l l ion (2022: £169.6 mi l l ion). Net interest income on the
Group's  lending assets  continues  to be the largest component of operating income. This  increased by 9.8% to £167.5
mi l l ion (2022: £152.6 mi l l ion), driven by growth in net lending assets , with average balances  increas ing by 14.8% to
£3,099.4 mi l l ion (2022: £2,699.3 mi l l ion).

The Group's  net interest margin decreased to 5.4% (2022: 5.7%), reflecting new Tier 2 capital  required to support our
growth ambitions, which reduced NIM by 19 bps  in the year and the strategic shi ft towards  lower yielding, lower risk
lending in both our Bus iness  Finance and Consumer Finance divis ions. The last two years  have been chal lenging given the
steep rise in interest rates , and we have actively managed the repricing of new lending and retai l  deposits  to maintain
product margins .

The Group's  other income, which relates  to net fee and commiss ion income, increased s l ightly by 1.2% to £17.2 mi l l ion
(2022: £17.0 mi l l ion).

Impairment charge

Impairment charges  increased to £43.2 mi l l ion (2022: £38.2 mi l l ion). The charge was impacted by one materia l  loss  of £7.2
mi l l ion, relating to a  long-running problem debt case within the Commercial  Finance bus iness , which was highl ighted in
the 2022 Annual  Report and Accounts  (Note 47.2 Non-adjusting post balance sheet events). Circumstances  around the
particular case were unique, with a  lessons  learned exercise confi rming no s imi lar concerns  across  the portfol io. Whi lst i t
i s  disappointing to record a loss  of this  magnitude, the cost of risk s ince inception of the Commercial  Finance bus iness  in
2014, excluding this  speci fic impairment charge, has  been 0.04% of average lending balances, and would be 0.6%, inclus ive
of this  case. This  loss  in the year resulted in a  Group cost of risk of 1.4% in l ine with the prior year (2022: 1.4%). Cost of risk
also reflects  the benefi t of an improving cost of risk within the Consumer Finance bus inesses , due to an increased mix of
higher qual i ty lending, offset by increased impairment charges  on two defaulted loans  in the Real  Estate Finance bus iness .

Cost of risk for the year, excluding the materia l  loss  highl ighted above, i s  1.2%. Overal l  impairment provis ions  remain
robust at £88.1 mi l l ion (2022: £78.0 mi l l ion) with a  total  coverage level  of 2.6% (2022: 2.6%).

During the financial  year, the Group refreshed macroeconomic inputs  to i ts  IFRS 9 Expected Credit Loss  ('ECL') models ,
incorporating i ts  external  economic advisor's  latest UK economic outlook. The forecast economic assumptions  within each
IFRS 9 scenario, and the weighting appl ied, are set out in more detai l  in Note 16 to the Financial  Statements .

The Group has  appl ied Expert Credit Judgements  ('ECJ's ') underlays  total l ing £1.2 mi l l ion (2022: £2.9 mi l l ion overlay),
where management bel ieves  the IFRS 9 model led output is  not ful ly reflecting current risks  in the loan portfol ios . Further
detai ls  of these ECJs  are included in Note 16 to the Financial  Statements . During the year, the Group implemented a new
IFRS 9 Probabi l i ty of Default model  for Vehicle Finance near prime lending, which now better reflects  the underlying credit
qual i ty of bus iness  written, and has  reduced the need for ECJ's .

Fair value and other gains/(losses) on financial instruments

During the year, the Group real ised a gain of £1.2 mi l l ion (2022: £ni l ) in relation to the buy-back of the 2018 Tier 2 debt.
The Group also recognised a loss  of £0.8 mi l l ion (2022: £ni l ) relating to interest rate swaps being entered into ahead of
hedge accounting becoming avai lable, which wi l l  reverse to the income statement over the remaining l i fe of the swaps. The
Group has  highly effective hedge accounting relationships , and as  a  result, recognised a smal l  hedging ineffectiveness  gain
of £0.1 mi l l ion (2022: £0.3 mi l l ion loss).

Operating expenses

The Group's  cost base increased in the period by 7.0% to £99.7 mi l l ion (2022: £93.2 mi l l ion), with the adjusted cost income
ratio improving to 54.0% (2022: 55.0%), despite the impact of inflation on operating expenses. The ratio reflects  both the
increase in operating income and the ongoing programme of ini tiatives  that seek to achieve more efficient and effective
operational  processes , including digi ta l isation of processes , suppl ier and procurement reviews, organisational  des ign and
property management. We are on track to del iver £5 mi l l ion of annual ised costs  savings  by the end of 2024 as  part of
Project Fus ion. Statutory cost income ratio inclus ive of exceptional  i tems was 57.5% (2022: 55.0%).

Taxation

The effective tax rate on continuing activi ties  of 26.9%, increased compared with 2022 (24.1%) fol lowing the change in
Corporation Tax rate to 25% from 19% with effect from 1 Apri l  2023. The effective rate is  above the 2023 Corporation Tax
rate of 23.5% mainly as  a  result of non-deductible expenses  in exceptional  i tems. The total  effective tax rate is  27.2% (2022:
23.4%).

Exceptional items

The Group recognised charges  for exceptional  i tems of £6.5 mi l l ion during the year (2022: £ni l ). Costs  of £1.8 mi l l ion were
incurred in relation to non-recurring corporate activi ty that took place during H1 2023. Fol lowing the FCA's  review of
Borrowers  in Financial  Di fficulty ('BiFD') across  the industry, and in response to the speci fic feedback we received on our
own col lection activi ties , costs  of £4.7 mi l l ion (compris ing £2.7 mi l l ion costs  and £2.0 mi l l ion potentia l  redress/goodwi l l )
have been incurred, or provided for, relating to processes , procedures  and pol icies  in our Vehicle Finance col lections
operations. We have engaged external  support to ass ist us  with this  work and, where necessary, are taking the necessary
actions  to enhance our approach. Further detai ls  are included in Note 8 to the Financial  Statements .

Discontinued business

In May 2022, the Group disposed of the loan portfol io of Debt Managers  (Services) Limited, real is ing an overal l  ini tia l
profi t on disposal  of £6.1 mi l l ion in the fi rst hal f of 2022. A further £2.7 mi l l ion of wind-down costs  have been incurred
during the year, with no s igni ficant further costs  expected.

Distributions to shareholders

The Board recommended the payment of a  final  dividend for 2023 of 16.2 pence per share, which together with the interim
dividend of 16.0 pence per share, represents  a  total  dividend for the year of 32.2 pence per share (2022: 45.1 pence per
share). This  i s  in l ine with the Group's  pol icy to pay total  annual  dividends representing 25% of annual  earnings.

Summarised balance sheet

Assets
2023

£million
 2022

£mil l ion



Assets £million £mil l ion
Cash and Bank of England reserve account 351.6 370.1

Loans and advances  to banks 53.7 50.5

Loans and advances  to customers 3,315.3 2,919.5

Fair value adjustment for portfol io hedged risk (3.9) (32.0)

Derivative financial  instruments 25.5 34.9

Other assets 35.8 36.8

3,778.0 3,379.8

Liabilities

Due to banks 402.0 400.5

Deposits  from customers 2,871.8 2,514.6

Fair value adjustment for portfol io hedged risk (1.4) (23.0)

Derivative financial  instruments 22.0 26.7

Tier 2 subordinated l iabi l i ties 93.1 51.1

Other l iabi l i ties 46.0 83.5

3,433.5 3,053.4

New business

Loan originations  in the year, being the total  of new loans  and advances  to customers  entered into during the period,
increased by 11.5% to £2,305.4 mi l l ion (2022: £2,067.8 mi l l ion). Further detai ls  on the divis ional  spl i t of this  new bus iness
can be found in the Bus iness  review.

Customer lending and deposits

Group lending assets  increased by 13.6% to £3,315.3 mi l l ion (2022: £2,919.5 mi l l ion), surpass ing £3.0 bi l l ion for the fi rst
time, primari ly driven by strong growth in our Consumer Finance and Real  Estate Finance bus inesses. This  represents  a
s igni ficant step towards  our £4.0 bi l l ion of net lending ambition, as  presented at our recent Capital  Markets  Day.

Consumer Finance balances  grew by £262.8 mi l l ion or 18.4%, driven by strong demand from strategic partner retai lers .

Vehicle Finance arrears  and levels  of provis ion have been temporari ly impacted by the Group's  review of i ts  col lections
pol icies  and procedures, as  part of our programme of work des igned to ensure we del iver good outcomes for customers.
Further analys is  of loans  and advances  to customers, including a  breakdown of the arrears  profi le of the Group's  loan
books, i s  provided in Note 16 to the Financial  Statements .

Customer deposits  include Fixed term bonds, ISAs, Notice and Access  accounts . Customer deposits  increased by 14.2% to
£2,871.8 mi l l ion (2022: £2,514.6 mi l l ion). Total  funding ratio of 111.7% decreased s l ightly from 31 December 2022
(112.5%). The mix of the deposit book has  continued to change as  the Group has  adapted to the Base Rate changes
throughout the period, with a  focus  on meeting customer demand for Access  products , and retaining stable funds, which is
reflected in the increase in Fixed term bonds and ISAs.

New business volumes £million
Retai l  Finance 1,185.4
Vehicle Finance 471.2
Real  Estate Finance 434.0
Commercial  Finance 214.8
Total 2,305.4
2022 Total 2,067.8

 

Loans and advances to customers £million
Retai l  Finance 1,223.2
Vehicle Finance 467.2
Real  Estate Finance 1,243.8
Commercial  Finance 381.1
Total 3,315.3
2022 Total 2,919.5

Investments and wholesale funding

As at the end of 2023, the Group held no debt securi ties  (2022: £ni l ). Amounts  due to banks  cons isted primari ly of drawings
from the Bank of England Term Funding Scheme with additional  incentives  for SMEs ('TFSME') faci l i ty.

Tier 2 subordinated liabilities

Tier 2 subordinated l iabi l i ties  represents  £90.0 mi l l ion of 10.5-year 13.0% Fixed Rate Cal lable Subordinated Notes, which
qual i fy as  Tier 2 capital . The existing 2018 Notes  were repurchased in February and March 2023.

Capital
Management of capital

Our capital  management pol icy is  focused on optimis ing shareholder value over the long-term. Capital  i s  a l located to
achieve targeted risk adjusted returns  whi lst ensuring appropriate surpluses  are held above the minimum regulatory
requirements .

Key factors  influencing the management of capital  include:



Key factors  influencing the management of capital  include:

·      The level  of buffers  and the capital  requirement set by the Prudentia l  Regulation Authori ty ('PRA');

·      Estimated credit losses  calculated us ing IFRS 9 methodology, and the appl icable trans itional  rules ;

·      New business  volumes; and

·      The product mix of new bus iness .

Capital resources

Capital  resources  increased over the period from £376.8 mi l l ion to £397.6 mi l l ion. This  includes  the proposed 2023 final
dividend of £3.1 mi l l ion. The increase was primari ly in CET 1 capital  and was driven by total  profi t for the year of £24.3
mi l l ion, offset by the 2023 dividend of £3.1 mi l l ion, and the reduction in the IFRS 9 trans itional  adjustment of £9.6 mi l l ion.
In addition, the increase in Tier 2 was  driven by the newly-issued £90.0 mi l l ion subordinated debt, which wi l l  have
increased uti l i sation over time as  capital  el igibi l i ty increases  as  a  consequence of risk weighted asset growth.

Capital
2023

£million

Restated1

2022
£mil l ion

CET 1 capital, excluding IFRS 9 transitional adjustment 335.8 315.2

IFRS 9 trans itional  adjustment 2.1 11.7

CET 1 capital 337.9 326.9

Tier 2 capital2 59.7 49.9

Total capital 397.6 376.8

Total risk exposure 2,653.4 2,334.6
 

Capital ratios
2023

%
2022

%
CET 1 capital  ratio 12.7 14.0

Total  capital  ratio 15.0 16.1

CET 1 capital  ratio (excluding IFRS 9 trans itional  adjustment) 12.7 13.6

Total  capital  ratio (excluding IFRS 9 trans itional  adjustment) 14.9 15.7

Leverage ratio 9.7 10.7
1. Restated to reflect a change in accounting policy relating to land and buildings, which are now presented at historical cost. Further details are

provided in Note 1.3 to the Financial Statements.
2. Tier 2 capital, which is solely subordinated debt net of unamortised issue costs, capped at 25% of total Pillar 1 and Pillar 2A requirements.

Capital requirements

The Total  Capital  Requirement, set by the PRA, includes  both the calculated requirement derived us ing the standardised
approach and the additional  capital  required, derived from the Internal  Capital  Adequacy Assessment Process  ('ICAAP'). In
addition, capital  i s  held to cover generic buffers  set at a  macroeconomic level  by the PRA.

 
2023

£million

Restated1

2022
£mil l ion

Total  Capital  Requirement 238.8 210.1

Capital  conservation buffer 66.3 58.4

Countercycl ical  buffer 53.1 23.3

Total 358.2 291.8
1. Restated to reflect a change in accounting policy relating to land and buildings, which are now presented at historical cost. Further details are

provided in Note 1.3 to the Financial Statements.

The increase in lending balances  through the year resulted in an increase in risk weighted assets  over the period, bringing
the total  risk exposure up from £2,334.6 mi l l ion to £2,653.4 mi l l ion. The capital  conservation buffer has  been held at 2.5%
of total  risk exposure s ince 1 January 2019. The countercycl ical  capital  buffer rose from 0% to 1% of relevant risk
exposures  in December 2022, and remained at this  level  unti l  5 July 2023 when i t rose again to 2%.

Liquidity
Management of liquidity

The Group uses  a  number of measures  to manage l iquidity risk. These include:

·      The Overal l  Liquidity Adequacy Requirement ('OLAR'), which is  the Board's  view of the Group's  l iquidity needs, as
set out in the Board-approved Internal  Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process  ('ILAAP').

·      The Liquidity Coverage Ratio ('LCR'), which is  a  regulatory measure that assesses  net 30-day cash outflows as  a
proportion of High Qual i ty Liquid Assets  ('HQLA').

·      Total  funding ratio, as  defined in the Appendix to the Annual  Report.

·      'HQLA' are held in the Bank of England Reserve Account and UK Treasury Bi l l s . For LCR purposes, the HQLA excludes
UK Treasury Bi l l s  that are pledged as  col lateral  against the Group's  TFSME drawings  with the Bank of England.

The Group exceeded the LCR minimum threshold (100%) throughout the year, with the Group's  average LCR being 208.0%
(based on a rol l ing 12 month-end average).

Liquid assets

We continued to hold s igni ficant surplus  l iquidity over the minimum requirements  throughout 2023, managing l iquidity by
holding HQLA and uti l i s ing funding predominantly from retai l  funding balances  from customer deposits . Total  l iquid assets
reduced to £400.2 mi l l ion (2022: £416.9 mi l l ion) which amongst other things  reflects  the levels  of l iquidity at the end of
2023 to support funding required to fund the pipel ine.

The Group is  a  participant in the Bank of England's  Sterl ing Money Market Operations  under the Sterl ing Monetary
Framework and has  drawn £390.0 mi l l ion under the TFSME. The Group has  no l iquid asset exposures  outs ide of the United
Kingdom and no amounts  that are ei ther past due or impaired.



Kingdom and no amounts  that are ei ther past due or impaired.

Liquid assets
2023

£million
2022

£mil l ion
Aaa - Aa3 356.4 370.1

A1 - A2 43.8 41.6

Unrated - 5.2

Total 400.2 416.9

We continue to attract customer deposits  to support balance sheet growth. The composition of customer deposits  i s  shown
in the table below:

Customer deposits
2023

%
2022

%
Fixed term bonds 54 56

Notice accounts 6 20

ISA 22 17

Access  accounts 18 7

Total 100 100

Business review

Consumer Finance
Retail Finance

We provide quick and easy finance options  at point of purchase:

·       Helping consumers  purchase l i festyle goods and services  without having to wait.

·       Supporting the growth of UK retai lers  by offering integrated finance options  that drive sales .

Performance history
 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
New business  (£m) 1,185.4 1,124.3 771.5 614.5 726.0
Loans and advances  to customers  (£m) 1,223.2 1,054.5 764.8 658.4 688.9
Net interest margin (%) 6.4 6.8 8.1 8.7 8.9
Risk adjusted margin (%) 5.3 5.6 7.8 6.7 6.4

What we do

·       We operate a  market-leading onl ine e-commerce service to retai lers , providing unsecured, prime lending products  to
UK customers  to faci l i tate the purchase of a  wide range of consumer products , including bicycles , musical  equipment
and instruments , furniture, outdoor/leisure i tems, electronics , dental , jewel lery, home improvements  products  and
footbal l  season tickets . These retai lers  include a large number of household names.

·       The finance products  are ei ther interest-bearing or have promotional  interest-free credit subs idised by retai lers . For
interest-free products , the customer pays  the same price for the goods, regardless  of whether credit i s  taken or not.
Taking the credit option al lows the customer to spread the cost of the main purchase into more manageable monthly
payments , and afford anci l lary extras  and add-ons, which can also be financed. Interest-free borrowing attracts  a
large proportion of high credit qual i ty customers.

·       The onl ine process ing system al lows customers  to s ign their credit agreements  digi ta l ly, thereby speeding up the pay-
out process , and removing the need to handle sens itive personal  documents . 90% of appl ications  are decis ioned in an
average of s ix seconds.

·       The bus iness  is  supported by a  highly experienced senior team and workforce.

2023 performance

·       Lending and revenue growth has  come mainly from interest-free lending into the furniture and jewel lery sectors . We
achieved record new lending for another year and increased our lending balances  by 16% (2022: 37.9%), resulting

from an increase in our market share of the retai l  s tore and onl ine credit new bus iness  market1.

·       Extens ion of our footprint within key retai l  partners , as  wel l  as  the introduction of new retai ler relationships
leveraging our strong track record of systems integration. As  a  result of s igni ficant new bus iness  growth over recent
years  we are now wel l  establ ished as  one of the major lenders  in the point of sale credit market.

·       We have conscious ly focused on prime sectors , remaining cautious  in response to the economic environment. This  i s
a  driver of the net interest margin decrease year-on-year. However, cost of risk (1.4%) has  a lso decreased compared to
2022 (1.6%), and is  in l ine with expectation and reflects  a  growing lower credit risk lending book.

·       At the end of the year, 86.3% (2022: 85.1%) of the lending book related to interest-free lending, and 80.4% (2022:
68.9%) of customers  have s igned up to onl ine account management a l lowing sel f-service of their account.

Outlook

·       We anticipate further lending growth from our existing retai l  partners  and our operational  plans  are focused on
digi ta l is ing a l l  key processes  to improve our customer and retai l  partners ' experience.

1. Source: Finance & Leasing Association ('FLA'): New business values within retail store and online credit: 2023: 13.5% (2022: 12.8%): FLA total
and Retail Finance new business of £8,811 million (2022: £8,775 million) and £1,185.4 million (2022: £1,124.3 million) respectively. As
published at 31 December 2023.

Vehicle Finance

We help to drive more bus iness  in UK car dealerships:

·       Providing funds  to customers  to help them buy used vehicles  from dealers  via  Vehicle Finance.



·       Providing funds  to customers  to help them buy used vehicles  from dealers  via  Vehicle Finance.

·       Providing funds  to dealers  to help them buy vehicles  for their forecourts  and showrooms via  Stock Funding.

Performance history

 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
New business  (£m) 471.2 401.7 199.8 78.6 183.3
Loans and advances  to customers  (£m) 467.2 373.1 263.3 243.9 323.7
Net interest margin (%) 10.3 12.0 13.1 12.8 13.5
Risk adjusted margin (%) 7.3 6.1 14.0 5.1 9.1

What we do

·       We provide lending products  that are secured against the vehicle being financed. The majori ty of vehicles  financed
are used cars  sold by independent dealers .

·       We also provide vehicle stock funding whereby funds  are advanced and secured against dealer forecourt used car
stock; sourced from auctions, part exchanges  or trade sources.

·       Finance is  provided via  technology platforms, a l lowing us  to receive appl ications  onl ine from i ts  introducers ; provide
an automated decis ion; faci l i tate document production through to pay-out to dealer; and manage in-l i fe loan
accounts .

2023 performance

·       Continued lending growth, despite the market for used cars  bought on point-of-sale finance shrinking by 6.8%1 year-

on-year by value. Market share increased to 1.2% from 1.1% in 20231.

·       New business  growth exceeded lending growth due to the short-term duration of Stock Funding.

·       Our Prime lending products , launched in 2021, del ivered £114.8 mi l l ion of new lending during 2023 and represent
24.4% (2022: 23.4%) of new bus iness .

·       33.4% (2022: (24.2%) of the lending portfol io relates  to prime products , this  i s  reflected in our net interest margin and
risk-adjusted margin performance. Cost of risk reduced from 6.3% to 3.4% (2022), driven by the mix of higher credit
qual i ty bus iness  fol lowing actions  in 2022 and 2023 to tighten credit cri teria.

·       The Stock Funding product launched in 2019 now has  250 active dealers  (2022: 193) with credit l ines  of £51.5 mi l l ion
(2022: £37.0 mi l l ion).

·       As part of the continuing Motor Transformation Programme ('MTP'), in 2023 we successful ly del ivered phase two of
the new col lection platform to incorporate the prime portfol io.

·       During H2 2023, we engaged in formal  discuss ions  with the FCA about our col lections  pol icies  and procedures  in
Vehicle Finance, in relation to Borrowers  in Financial  Di fficulty. Where necessary, we are enhancing our approach to
ensure good outcomes are del ivered in l ine with the Group's  purpose and values  (see Note 8 to the Financial
Statements).

Outlook

·       The final  phase of MTP is  to transfer Near Prime originations  onto the new platform with the implementation of a  new
rate for risk module, which wi l l  a l low us  to price lending based on the risk profi le of the borrower.

·       In January 2024, the FCA announced i t was  to undertake a review of discretionary commiss ion arrangements  in the
motor finance market. We sometimes operated these arrangements  unti l  June 2017. The FCA plans  to set out i ts  next
steps  in Q3 2024, when the impl ications  for the industry should become clearer. (See Note 31.1.2 to the Financial
Statements).

1. Source: FLA. Cars bought on finance by consumers through the point of sale: New business values: Used cars: 2023, FLA total and Vehicle
Finance total of £22,083 million (2022: £23,691 million) and £260.0 million (2022: £262.9 million) respectively, as published at 4 March 2024.

Business Finance
Real Estate Finance

We lend money against res identia l  properties  to profess ional  landlords  and property developers :

·       Providing commercial  lending faci l i ties  to profess ional  landlords  to a l low them to improve and grow their portfol io.

·       Providing development faci l i ties  to property developers  and SME housebui lders  to help bui ld new homes for sale or
letting.

·       We have an experienced special is t team, with many years  of property expertise, which is  nimble and responsive
within the market.

Performance history

 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
New business  (£m) 434.0 384.5 376.1 189.5 316.3
Loans and advances  to customers  (£m) 1,243.8 1,115.5 1,109.6 1,051.9 962.2
Net interest margin (%) 2.6 2.7 3.0 3.0 3.2
Risk adjusted margin (%) 2.2 2.6 3.0 2.5 3.2

What we do

·       Providing fi rst charge secured lending to profess ional  landlords  to a l low them to improve and grow their portfol io.

·       Providing development faci l i ties  to property developers  and SME housebui lders  to help bui ld new homes for sale or
letting.



letting.

·       We provide lending secured against property assets  to a  maximum 70% loan-to-value ratio, on fixed or variable rates
over a  term of up to five years .

·       Finance opportunities  are sourced and supported on a relationship bas is  directly and via  introducers  and brokers .

·       We maintain a  strong risk management framework for existing and prospective customers.

2023 performance

·       We del ivered record new bus iness  lending for the third year running by working with existing larger customers  to take
advantage of new investment opportunities  and to re-finance their portfol ios .

·       Lending balances  are at an al l -time high, despite a  di fficult economy, with interest rate volati l i ty and SME borrowers
less  wi l l ing or able to risk their capital .

·       The portfol io principal ly comprises  lower risk res identia l  investment lending, 83.8% (2022: 85.0%). The remainder of
the book relates  to development and commercial  investment lending.

·       Net revenue margin was  broadly flat year-on year despite the chal lenging interest rate environment.

·       Impairment charges  for the year were £4.5 mi l l ion (2022: £1.3 mi l l ion) and this  has  impacted risk adjusted margin
year-on-year. This  charge primari ly reflects  a  higher provis ion on one legacy development loan from within the whole
portfol io. Without this  charge, risk adjusted margin would be 2.5% (2022: 2.6%).

·       Secured loan book with an average loan-to-value of 57.2% (2022: 57.7%), reducing the level  of inherent risk to credit
losses .

Outlook

·       We bel ieve that the long-term outlook is  pos itive for real  estate lending. Our specia l is t and bespoke services  stand us
in good stead to del iver sustainable growth.

Commercial Finance

We support the growth of UK bus inesses  by enabl ing effective cash flow:

·       Providing a  ful l  sui te of Asset Based Lending to UK cl ients  who need working capital  solutions.

·       Providing bespoke lending faci l i ties  where Secure Trust Bank is  wel l  known for working closely with cl ients  to sustain
their bus inesses.

Performance history

 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
New business  (£m) 214.8 157.3 93.7 126.1 162.2
Loans and advances  to customers  (£m) 381.1 376.4 313.3 230.7 251.7
Net interest margin (%) 7.0 6.4 5.7 5.5 6.0
Risk adjusted margin (%) 4.7 6.2 5.8 5.0 5.9

What we do

·       Our lending remains  predominantly against receivables , releas ing funds  up to 90% of qual i fying invoices  under
invoice discounting faci l i ties . Other assets  can also be funded either long or short-term and across  a  range of loan-to-
value ratios  a longs ide these faci l i ties .

·       We also provided additional  lending to existing customers  through the Government guaranteed Coronavirus  Bus iness
Interruption Loan ('CBIL') Scheme, Coronavirus  Large Bus iness  Interruption Loan ('CLBIL') Scheme and Recovery Loan
Scheme ('RLS').

·       Business  is  sourced and supported directly from cl ients  via  private equity houses  and profess ional  introducers , but is
not rel iant on the broker market.

·       The Commercial  Finance team has  a  strong reputation across  the Asset Based Lending market. The experienced
special is t team works  effectively with i ts  partners  across  private equity and tier 1 and 2 accountancy practices .

·       Partners  and cl ients  have direct access  to decis ion-makers .

2023 performance

·       We del ivered record new bus iness  in 2023.

·       There was a  modest year-on-year increase in lending balances  as  the economic headwinds  led to higher cl ient
attri tion.

·       The large increase in net revenue margin is  driven by fees  charged for new faci l i ties , extens ions  and early
terminations. In 2023 and 2022 increases  in UK Base Rates  were passed through to cl ients .

·       As reported in the 2023 Interim Report, the 2023 impairment charge of £8.0 mi l l ion incorporates  a  £7.2 mi l l ion charge
on a one-off, long-running problem debt case. Circumstances  around the particular case were unique, with a  lessons
learned exercise confi rming no s imi lar concerns  across  the portfol io.

·       The Group continues  to administer UK Government CBIL, CLBILS and RLS products . At 31 December 2023, the
outstanding lending balances  under these schemes total led £15.5 mi l l ion (2022: £28.9 mi l l ion) with 76% of balances
now repaid.

Outlook

·       Economic and market conditions  remain chal lenging for our cl ients , but we remain committed to supporting their
growth and success  and we look forward to partnering with new bus inesses  in 2024.

Savings

We look after our customers ' savings  and provide a competitive return:



·       Helping our customers  save for specia l  events  such as  a  hol iday, wedding or reti rement.

·       Helping our lending bus inesses  fund their product to enable them to lend in the market we compete in.

Savings Review
 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
Total  deposits  (£m) 2,871.8 2,514.6 2,103.2 2,020.3 1,992.5
Total  funds  raised (£m) 1,719.1 1,210.1 661.3 535.9 560.2

 
    2023 2022
ISA 629.6 421.8
Notice 174.3 500.7
Access 521.3 178.1
Term 1,546.6 1,414.0
Total 2,871.8 2,514.6

What we do

·       We offer a  range of savings  accounts  that are purposely s imple in des ign, with a  choice of products  from Access  to
180-day notice, and s ix month to seven year fixed terms across  both Bonds and ISAs.

·       Accounts  are made avai lable and priced in l ine with our ongoing funding needs, a l lowing each individual  to hold a
maximum balance of £1 mi l l ion.

·       Our range of savings  products  enables  us  to access  the majori ty of the UK personal  savings  markets  and compete for
s igni ficant l iquidity pools , achieving a  lower marginal  cost with the volume, mix and the competitive rates  offered;
optimised to the demand of our funding needs.

2023 performance

·       We successful ly ra ised over £1.7 bi l l ion of new deposits  and retained over £0.7 bi l l ion at maturi ty during the year,
reaching a  record deposit holding of £2.9 bi l l ion.

·       During 2023 the Bank of England continued to increase the Bank Base Rate, which drove up the cost of acquiring and
retaining retai l  deposits . We continue to offer a  s imple product offering, distributed via  the 'best buy' tables  and
therefore priced competitively.

·       We have bui l t on the launch of the Access  Account in 2022, with balances  surpass ing £0.5 bi l l ion at year-end. Savers
have benefi ted from higher interest rates  and a competitive variable market a l lowing decent returns  without
sacri ficing immediate access  to funds. Simi larly, these features  of the market have weakened demand for Notice
products . We enhanced the Access  Account this  year, a l lowing customers  to save deposits  from £1 to £250,000,
expanding from our previous  bands of £1,000 to £85,000.

·       ISAs  have remained important to achieving our growth plans  in 2023, as  wel l  as  for customers, with the higher-rate
market environment creating increased demand for tax-free savings. We have improved the ISA appl ication journey by
introducing a  shorter form process  for existing customers.

·       Fixed-rate term deposits  continue to form a key part of our funding mix, with over £0.6 bi l l ion retained into new fixed-
term products  at maturi ty.

·       During 2023, we continued to priori tise Savings ' highest volume correspondence and convert from paper to digi ta l .
42% of correspondence was converted to digi ta l  during 2023. The overal l  total  correspondence that i s  now digi ta l  i s
59%. For customers, this  i s  timel ier, removes rel iance on the postal  service, and supports  our strategic priori ties  of
s impl i fying and enhancing our customer experience. This  ini tiative provides  a  cost saving, as  wel l  as  acting on
customer feedback about too much paper being issued. This  ini tiative continues  into 2024.

Outlook

·       2024 is  l ikely to be a dynamic market for savings  as  product pricing adjusts  to a  fa l l ing interest rate environment.
Customers  wi l l  seek to optimise returns  and we have a product set to meet these demands.

Market review
The Group operates  exclus ively within the UK and i ts  revenue is  derived almost entirely from customers  operating in the UK,
the Group is  therefore particularly exposed to the condition of the UK economy. Customers ' borrowing demands are
various ly influenced by, among other things , UK property markets , employment levels , inflation, interest rates  and
customer confidence. The economic environment and outlook affects  demand for the Group's  products , margins  that can be
earned on lending assets  and the levels  of loan impairment provis ions.

As  a  financial  services  fi rm, the Group is  subject to extens ive and comprehensive regulation by governmental  and
regulatory bodies  in the UK. The Group conducts  i ts  bus iness  subject to ongoing regulation by the Financial  Conduct
Authori ty ('FCA') and the Prudentia l  Regulation Authori ty ('PRA'). The Group must comply with the regulatory regime across
many aspects  of i ts  activi ties , including: the training, authorisation and supervis ion of personnel ; systems; processes;
product des ign; customer journey and documentation.

Economic review

Economic growth, measured in quarterly UK Gross  Domestic Product ('GDP'), s lowed in 2023, with only a  0.1% increase1 in
GDP recorded. This  represents  a  materia l  fa l l  from 2022 where annual  GDP growth was 4.3%. Economists ' base case
forecasts  indicate GDP growth wi l l  remain low in 2024 at 0.5%, driven by the lagged impacts  of tighter monetary pol icy on
both households  and the corporate sector.

Inflation remains  above the Bank of England 2% target, a l though i t has  been fa l l ing ahead of expectations  during the year,

from 10.1% in January 2023 to 4.2%1 in December 2023. The fa l l  fol lows the Bank of England's  response to tackle inflation
with several  Base Rate hikes  in the year, taking rates  from 3.5% to 5.25% by December 2023. Financial  markets  have



with several  Base Rate hikes  in the year, taking rates  from 3.5% to 5.25% by December 2023. Financial  markets  have
responded to the recent inflation data, pricing in a  fa l l  in the Bank Base Rate to 4.25% by the end of 2024. Although the
Bank Base Rate has  l ikely peaked, the ful l  impact of the tightening s ince late 2021 is  sti l l  to feed through to the real
economy and consumers ' disposable incomes and capacity for discretionary spending.

Employment levels  remain high at 75.0%1, whi le unemployment continues  to remain at a  low level  of 3.8%1, but did

increase s l ightly during the year from 3.7%1. Vacancies  in the labour market fel l  to ci rca 0.9 mi l l ion1 as  employers  hold
back on recruitment to control  costs  in an uncertain economic environment. Given the continued pressures  on employers
from borrowing and energy costs , unemployment is  expected to rise towards  a  peak of 4.5% by mid-2024. Strong annual

wage growth at 6.2%1 to December 2023 continues  to fuel  inflation, but has  fa l len from the in-year peak of 7.9%1.

As  anticipated, the impact of tighter credit and higher interest rates  has  softened transaction volumes and prices  in the
housing market. Lenders  have reported lower mortgage approvals  and negative net lending to October 2023. Given lower
rate expectations  l inked to lower inflation figures , lenders  started to cut mortgage rates  in the latter part of 2023 and this
has  continued into early 2024, leading to an uptick in mortgage approvals . However, given the wider economic pressures ,
economists  continue to predict a  further correction in house prices  of ci rca 6% in 2024.

Outlook

Interest rates  are expected to fa l l  in 2024, with the market expecting the fi rst cut to take place in Q2 2024 and rates
ultimately ending the year at 4.25%. The UK economy is  expected to grow only modestly through 2024. House prices  are
expected to continue to fa l l  after a  long period of growth, and unemployment is  expected to rise to a  peak of 4.5% from i ts
current level . The impact of high interest rates  wi l l  impact consumers  as  they remortgage away from historic low-rate
deals . The ful l  impact, however is  yet to flow through with 1.5 mi l l ion mortgage borrowers  having fixed rate deals  expiring
before the end of 2024. With forecast low GDP and higher interests  sti l l  to flow through in ful l  to household incomes, the
balance of risks  therefore to the UK remains  skewed to the downside.

1. Source: Office for National Statistics, data as at 31 December 2023, unless otherwise stated.

Government and regulatory
This  has  been another eventful  year for Government and regulatory announcements  that impact the Group and/or the
markets  in which i t operates . The key announcements  in 2023 are set out below.

Prudential regulation

In November 2022, the PRA issued CP16/22 'The PRA consults  on proposals  for implementation of the Basel  3.1 standards '
setting out i ts  proposed changes  to regulatory requirements , which are now expected to become effective from 1 July 2025.
The proposals  set out changes  to the regulatory environment, including s igni ficant changes  to the capital  requirements  for
credit risk and operational  risk. In PS17/23 issued in December 2023, the PRA issued a near final  approach for several
areas, including operational  risk with confi rmation for the remaining areas, including credit risk expected by June 2024.

In February 2023, the PRA issued CP4/23 'The Strong and Simple Framework: Liquidity and Disclosure requirements  for
Simpler-regime Firms' setting out their ini tia l  proposals  for a  strong and s imple prudentia l  framework, as  wel l  as  the Phase
1 proposed l iquidity and Pi l lar 3 disclosure-related rules  for the new regime. In December 2023, the PRA confirmed the
final  el igibi l i ty cri teria  for the regime in PS15/23, the renaming of the regime to the Smal l  Domestic Deposit Takers  ('SDDT')
regime and confirmed the Phase 1 implementation date as  1 July 2024. It a lso confi rmed the associated l iquidity and Pi l lar
3 rules  for SDDT fi rms.

The SDDT capital  rules  are the subject of a  further consultation, expected by June 2024. The PRA has  indicated that the
Basel  3.1 rules  wi l l  be the starting point for des igning the SDDT regime capital  requirements . However, the launch date for
the SDDT capital  regime is  sti l l  to be announced.

PS17/23 also confi rmed that fi rms that are el igible for and have appl ied to join the SDDT regime do not need to adopt Basel
3.1 and can instead remain on the current UK Capital  Requirements  Regulation regime unti l  the capital  rules  appl icable to
the SDDT regime are launched. The Group expects  to be el igible to join the SDDT regime.

The Group has  undertaken an impact analys is  of the CP16/22 proposals  to understand the potentia l  impact under the
proposed ful l  rules , which is  broadly neutral  to risk-weighted assets . The Group wi l l  decide whether i t wi l l  adopt the ful l
rules  or defer and adopt the SDDT regime in 2024.

During May 2023, the PRA issued PS5/23 'Model  risk management principles  for banks ' setting out stronger governance
expectations  for model  governance to address  observed shortcomings  within the industry. A new supervisory statement
SS1/23, incorporating these revised expectations  was  a lso issued, however the final  pol icy appl ies  only to banks  adopting
the internal  ratings  model  approach to capital . Therefore the Group is  not directly impacted by the changes. The PRA is
proposing the development of speci fic requirements  for SDDT fi rms, which are expected to adopt a  more proportionate
approach.

During June 2023, the PRA issued CP10/23 'Solvent exi t planning for non-systemic banks  and bui lding societies '. This
proposes  a  new requirement for non-systemic banks, such as  Secure Trust Bank, to develop solvent exi t planning
documentation as  an additional  approach that could potentia l ly be used as  an al ternative to resolution. The proposed
implementation date is  July 2025.

The UK Countercycl ical  Capital  Buffer ('CCyB') rate increased from 1% to 2% on 5 July 2023, as  previous ly announced by the
Financial  Pol icy Committee ('FPC'). The FPC has  stated that i t wi l l  continue to monitor the CCyB rate due to the current
uncertainty around the economic outlook.

Conduct regulation

The FCA's  new Consumer Duty came into force on 31 July 2023. In the run up to the deadl ine, the regulator publ ished Dear
CEO portfol io letters  and podcasts , setting out i ts  expectations  and approach to supervis ion, and findings  from i ts  reviews
of fa i r value frameworks. The Group's  preparations  included a comprehensive review of Consumer Finance and Savings
products  and customer experience.

At the end of July 2023, the FCA set out a  14-point action plan on cash savings  to ensure banks  are pass ing on interest rate
rises  to savers  appropriately, communicating with customers  much more effectively and offering them better savings  rate
deals .

During the year, the FCA has  continued to focus  on supporting consumers, who are struggl ing with the cost of l iving. In May
2023, i t publ ished a consultation on protections  for borrowers  in financial  di fficulty, proposing how they intend to
incorporate aspects  of the Tai lored Support Guidance into the FCA's  sourcebooks. In June, the FCA joined other regulators
to cal l  on fi rms to help struggl ing customers.



to cal l  on fi rms to help struggl ing customers.

The FCA and PRA released proposals  in September 2023 to promote divers i ty and inclus ion in regulated financial  services
fi rms, a imed at cultivating healthier work environments  and tapping into a  wider ta lent pool .

In December 2023, the Payment Services  Regulator publ ished i ts  final  pol icy statement and direction on fighting authorised
push payment scams, including al l  accounts  capable of receiving faster payments  within the scope.

During June 2023, the International  Sustainabi l i ty Standards  Board ('ISSB') i ssued the fi rst two Sustainabi l i ty Disclosure
Standards, S1 and S2 (IFRS S1 and S2). They set requirements  for the disclosure of sustainabi l i ty-related financial
information and cl imate-related disclosures , respectively. The proposals  are sti l l  to be incorporated into FCA guidance and
the current expectation is  that the adoption date is  l ikely to be 2025. As  a  l i s ted enti ty, the Group already fa l ls  within scope
of the current Task Force on Cl imate-related Financial  Disclosures  ('TCFD') requirements , the proposed new standards  bui ld
on what has  a lready been developed.

In January 2024, the FCA announced i t was  to undertake a review of discretionary commiss ion arrangements  in the motor
finance market. Vehicle Finance sometimes operated these arrangements  unti l  June 2017, ahead of the FCA banning their
use in January 2021. We bel ieve that the overal l  proportion of loans  where we used discretionary commiss ion
arrangements  was  smal l  and for a  shorter period, relative to the industry in general . The FCA plans  to set out i ts  next steps
in Q3 2024, when the impl ications  for the industry should become clearer.

Government and monetary policy

Fol lowing a consultation on the optimal  structure for UK financial  services  post-Brexit, the Financial  Services  and Markets
Act 2023 (the 'FSMA') received royal  assent during June 2023, with the aim of implementing the outcomes of the
Government's  future regulatory framework review and to make changes  to update the UK regulatory regime. This  a l lows for
sector-wide regulation of financial  services  and markets , involving the revocation of EU law and i ts  replacement with rules-
based regulation primari ly administered by regulators , subject to the overs ight of Parl iament, which is  expected to a l low
for faster responses  to changing conditions.

The Bank of England MPC announced five consecutive increases  in the UK Bank Base Rate over the course of 2023, taking
rates  up from 3.5% at the end of December 2022 to 5.25% at 31 December 2023. Rates  have been held s ince August 2023.

Principal risks and uncertainties
Risk management

The effective management of risk i s  a  key part of the Group's  strategy and is  underpinned by i ts  Risk Aware value. This  helps
to protect the Group's  customers  and generate sustainable returns  for shareholders . The Group is  focused on maintaining
sufficient levels  of capital , l iquidity and operational  control , and acting in a  responsible way.

The Group's  Chief Risk Officer i s  responsible for leading the Group's  Risk function, which is  independent from the Group's
operational  and commercial  teams. The Risk function is  responsible for des igning and overseeing the embedding of
appropriate risk management frameworks, processes  and controls , to enable key risks  to be identi fied, assessed,
monitored and accepted or mitigated in l ine with the Group's  risk appeti te. The Group's  risk management practices  are
regularly reviewed and enhanced to reflect changes  in i ts  operating environment. The Chief Risk Officer i s  responsible for
reporting to the Board on the Group's  principal  risks  and how they are being managed against agreed risk appeti te.

Risk appetite

The Group has  identi fied the risk drivers  and major risk categories  relevant to the bus iness , which has  enabled i t to agree a
suite of risk appeti te statements  and metrics  to underpin the strategy of the Group. The Board approves  the Group's  risk
appeti te statements  annual ly and these define the level  and type of risk that the Group is  prepared to accept in the
achievement of i ts  strategic objectives .

Risk culture

A strong risk-aware culture is  integral  to the successful  del ivery of the Group's  strategy and the effective management of
risk.

The Group's  risk culture is  shaped by a  range of factors  including risk appeti te, risk frameworks  and pol icies , values  and
behaviours , as  wel l  as  a  clear tone from the top.

The Group looks  to continual ly enhance i ts  risk culture, and in 2023, performed an assessment of i ts  risk culture against
standards  based on industry best practice and guidance from the Insti tute of Risk Management.

Risk governance

The Group's  approach to managing risk i s  defined within i ts  Enterprise-Wide Risk Management Framework. This  provides  a
clear risk taxonomy and provides  an overarching framework for risk management supported by frameworks  and pol icies
for individual  risk discipl ines . These frameworks  set the standards  for risk identi fication, assessment, mitigation,
monitoring and reporting.

The Group's  risk management frameworks, pol icies  and procedures  are regularly reviewed and updated to reflect the
evolving risks  that the Group faces  in i ts  bus iness  activi ties . They support decis ion-making across  the Group and are
des igned to ensure that risks  are appropriately managed and reported via  risk-speci fic committees.

Establ ished risk committees  are in place at Board, Group and individual  bus iness  unit level  to enable clear overs ight of
risk management, including robust risk identi fication and mitigation across  the Group.

An Executive Risk Committee, chaired by the Chief Risk Officer, reviews key risk management information from across  a l l
ri sk discipl ines , with materia l  i ssues  escalated to the Executive Committee and/or the Risk Committee of the Board, as
required.

The Group operates  a  'Three Lines  of Defence' model  for the management of i ts  risks . The Three Lines  of Defence, when taken
together, control  and manage risks  in l ine with the Group's  risk appeti te. The three l ines  are:

·       First l ine: a l l  employees  within the bus iness  units  and associated support functions, including Operations, Finance,
Treasury, Human Resources  and Legal . The fi rst l ine has  ownership of and primary responsibi l i ty for their risks .

·       Second l ine: specia l is t risk management and compl iance teams reporting directly into the Chief Risk Officer, covering
Credit risk, Operational  risk, Information Securi ty, Prudentia l  ri sk, Compl iance and Conduct risk and Financial  Crime
risk. The second l ine are responsible for developing frameworks  to ass ist the fi rst l ine in the management of their
risks  and providing overs ight and chal lenge des igned to ensure they are managed within appeti te; and



·       Third l ine: i s  the Internal  Audit function that provides  independent assurance on the effectiveness  of risk management
across  the Group.

Board and Board Committees

·  See Corporate Governance section in the Annual  Report and Accounts

 

Group Executive Committee

Chair: Chief Executive Officer

·       P rovides  an execu�ve overs ight of the ongoing safe and profitable opera�on of the Group. I t reports  to the Board
through the Chief Executive Officer.

·       Responsible for the execution of the strategy of the Group at the direction of the Chief Executive Officer.

 

Executive Risk Committee

Chair: Chief Risk Officer

 Assets and Liabilities Committee ('ALCO')

Chair: Chief Financial  Officer

 

·  Responsible for overseeing the Group's  risk profi le,
i ts  adherence to regulatory compl iance and

monitoring these against the risk appeti te set by the
Board.

·  Monitors  the effective implementation of the risk
management framework across  the Group.

·  Responsible for implementing and control l ing the
l iquidity, and asset and l iabi l i ty management risk
appeti te of the Group, providing high level  control

over the Group's  balance sheet and associated risks .

·  Sets  and controls  capital  deployment, treasury
strategy guidel ines  and l imits , and focuses  on the
effects  of future plans  and strategy on the Group's

assets  and l iabi l i ties .

 

Credit
Committees

Model
Governance Committee

Other
Committees

Responsible for making decis ions
about lending, inclus ive of overs ight of

credit scorecards  and model l ing.

Responsible for understanding,
chal lenging and assess ing risk

and appropriateness  of statistical  and
financial  models  and to chal lenge

model  assumptions  and suitable model
val idation.

The activi ties  of the Executive Risk
Committee and ALCO are a lso

supported by various  specia l is t sub-
committees  and working groups,

covering: Liquidity, Financial  Crime,
Compl iance and Regulation,

Operational  Risk, Assumptions  and
Cl imate Change.

Principal risks

Executive management performs ongoing monitoring and assessment of the principal  risks  facing the Group, including
those that would threaten i ts  bus iness  model , future performance, solvency or l iquidity.

Further detai ls  of the principal  risks  and the changes  to risk profi le seen during the 2023 financial  year are set out below.

The Group also regularly reviews strategic and emerging risks  and analys is  has  been included to detai l  output of these
reviews for 2023. Notes  37 to 40 to the Financial  Statements  provide further analys is  of credit, l iquidity, market and capital
risks . Emerging risks  are identi fied in l ine with the Group's  Enterprise-Wide Risk Management Framework, uti l i s ing a  'top-
down' approach with Group Executive workshops and a 'bottom-up' approach through the bus iness  unit risk and control
sel f assessment process .

Further detai ls  of the Group's  risk management framework, including risk appeti te, can be found on the Group's  website:
www.securetrustbank.com/riskmanagement.

Credit risk

Description

·       The risk of loss  to the Group from the fa i lure of cl ients , customers  or counterparties  to honour ful ly their obl igations
to the fi rm, including the whole and timely payment of principal , interest, col lateral  or other receivables .

Mitigation

·       The Group has  a  defined Credit risk framework, which sets  out how Credit risk i s  managed and mitigated across  the
Group.

·       Risk appeti te is  cautious  with the Group focus ing on sectors  and products  where i t has  deep experience.

·       Special is t Credit teams are in place within each bus iness  area to enable new lending to be originated in l ine with the
Group's  risk appeti te.

·       For Bus iness  Finance, lending is  secured against assets , with Real  Estate Finance lending, the majori ty of which is  at
fixed rates , secured by property at conservative loan-to-value ratios . Short dated Commercial  Finance lending is
secured across  a  range of assets , including debtors , s tock and plant and machinery.

·       For Consumer Finance, securi ty i s  taken for Vehicle Finance lending and Retai l  Finance is  unsecured, however
positioned towards  lower risk sectors . The vast majori ty of Retai l  Finance lending is  interest free for consumers, with
remaining consumer lending at fixed rates , which mitigates  the direct impact of ris ing interest rates  on affordabi l i ty.



Consumer Credit risk i s  assessed through a combination of risk scorecards, credit and affordabi l i ty pol icy rules .

·       Portfol io performance is  tracked closely and reported via  specia l is t management review meetings  into the Executive
and Board Risk Committees, with the abi l i ty to make changes  to pol icy, affordabi l i ty assessments  or scorecards  on a
dynamic bas is .

·       Management monitors  and assesses  concentration risk for a l l  lending against control  l imits . The divers i fication of
lending activi ties  and secured nature of larger exposures  mitigates  the exposure of the Group to concentration risk.

Change during the year Heightened

During 2023, economic conditions  continued to be chal lenging in the UK, with high levels  of inflation and cost of l iving
pressures  for consumers. In addition, both consumers  and bus inesses  were impacted by ris ing interest rates  throughout the
period.

The Group's  lending portfol ios  performed satis factori ly in 2023. Retai l  Finance arrears  continue to be low by historical
comparison fol lowing a move into lower risk sectors  over the last few years . Vehicle Finance has  witnessed good qual i ty
new business  acquis i tion as  the Group tightened i ts  cri teria  in l ight of the increased cost of l iving. However, Vehicle Finance
col lections  performance in the year was  impacted as  the Group undertook a review of i ts  col lections  pol icies , procedures
and forbearance options  to ensure they del iver good outcomes for customers.

The Real  Estate Finance and Commercial  Finance bus inesses  performed satis factori ly at a  portfol io level , with key risk
metrics  remaining within appeti te. Some customers  have been impacted by the ris ing interest rate environment; however,
they have been managed closely with low levels  of customer defaults  leading to increased provis ions.

One materia l  loss  was  recorded in the fi rst hal f of the year, within Commercial  Finance, in relation to a  long-running
problem debt case. The ci rcumstances  around the particular case were unique, with a  lessons  learned exercise confi rming
no s imi lar concerns  across  the portfol io. In addition, within Real  Estate Finance, impairment charges  increased, which were
primari ly attributable to a  higher provis ion on one development loan.

The overal l  rating for the year is  driven by the continuing uncertainty in the external  economic environment.

 

Liquidity and Funding risk

Description

Liquidity risk i s  the risk that the Group is  unable to meet i ts  l iquidity obl igations  as  they fa l l  due or can only do so at
excess ive cost. Funding risk i s  the risk that the Group is  unable to raise or maintain funds  to support asset growth, or the
risk aris ing from an unstable funding profi le that could result in higher funding costs .

Mitigation

Liquidity and Funding risk i s  managed in l ine with the Group's  Prudentia l  Risk Management Framework. The Group has  a
defined set of l iquidity and funding risk appeti te measures  that are monitored and reported, as  appropriate.

The Group manages  i ts  l iquidity and funding in l ine with internal  and regulatory requirements , and at least annual ly
assesses  i ts  exposure to l iquidity risks  and adequacy of i ts  l iquidity resources  as  part of the Group's  Internal  Liquidity
Adequacy Assessment Process .

In l ine with the Prudentia l  Regulation Authori ty's  ('PRA') sel f-sufficiency rule, the Group always  seeks  to maintain l iquid
resources  that are adequate, both as  to amount and qual i ty, and managed to ensure that there is  no s igni ficant risk that i ts
l iabi l i ties  cannot be met as  they fa l l  due under stressed conditions. The Group defines  l iquidity adequacy as  the:

·       ongoing abi l i ty to accommodate the refinancing of l iabi l i ties  upon maturi ty and other means of deposit withdrawal  at
acceptable cost;

·       abi l i ty to fund asset growth; and

·       otherwise, capacity to meet contractual  obl igations  through unconstrained access  to funding at reasonable market
rates .

The Group conducts  regular and comprehensive l iquidity stress  tes�ng to iden�fy sources  of poten�al  l iquidity strain and
to check that the Group's  l iquidity pos i�on remains  within the Board's  risk appe�te and pruden�al  regulatory
requirements .

Contingency funding plans

The Group maintains  a  Recovery Plan that sets  out how the Group would maintain sufficient l iquidity to remain viable
during a  severe l iquidity stress  event. The Group also maintains  access  to the Bank of England l iquidity schemes, including
the Discount Window Faci l i ty.

Change during the year Stable  

The Group has  maintained al l  l iquidity and funding ratios  in excess  of Board and regulatory requirements  throughout the
year. A s igni ficant level  of high qual i ty l iquid assets , predominately held as  cash at the Bank of England, continue to be
maintained to ensure that obl igations  are met as  they fa l l  due. The Group's  funding base has  a  very high proportion of retai l
depositors  covered by the Financial  Services  Compensation Scheme protection.

 

Capital risk

Description

Capital  ri sk i s  the risk that the Group wi l l  have insufficient capital  resources  to meet minimum regulatory requirements  and
to support planned levels  of growth.

The Group adopts  a  conservative approach to managing i ts  capital . It annual ly assesses  the adequacy of the amount and
qual i ty of capital  held under stress  as  part of the Group's  Internal  Capital  Adequacy Assessment Process  ('ICAAP').



Mitigation

Capital  management is  defined as  the operational  and governance processes  by which capital  requirements  are identi fied
and capital  resources  maintained and al located, such that regulatory requirements  are met whi le optimis ing returns  and
supporting sustainable growth.

The Group manages  i ts  capital  requirements  on a forward-looking bas is  against minimum regulatory requirements  and the
Board's  risk appeti te to ensure capital  resources  are sufficient to support planned levels  of growth. The Group wi l l  take
opportunities  to increase overal l  levels  of capital  and to optimise i ts  capital  s tack as  and when appropriate. In addition to
the ICAAP, the Group performs regular budgeting and reforecasting exercises  that cons ider a  five-year time horizon. These
forecasts  are used to plan for future lending growth at a  rate that both increases  year-on-year profi ts  and maintains  a
healthy capital  surplus , taking into cons ideration the impact of known and anticipated future regulatory changes. The
Group also models  various  stressed scenarios  looking over a  five-year time horizon, which cons ider a  range of growth rates
over those years  as  part of the viabi l i ty and going concern assessments .

Further information on the Group's  capital  requirement is  contained within the Pi l lar 3 disclosures , which are publ ished as
a separate document on our website (www.securetrustbank.com/pi l lar3).

Change during the year Stable  

The Group continues  to meet i ts  capital  ratio measures, taking into cons ideration the increased requirements  driven by
planned growth and any change in regulatory requirements , and continues  to operate within i ts  risk appeti te. In February
2023, the Group issued £90.0 mi l l ion of 10.5 year, 13.0% Fixed Rate Cal lable Subordinated Notes, which also qual i fy as  Tier
2 regulatory capital  (subject to a  cap of 25% of Pi l lar 1 and 2A requirements). The Group is  actively cons idering regulatory
changes  proposed through Basel  3.1 and the Interim Capital  Regime as  part of the Smal l  Domestic Deposit Takers  Regime.
Detai ls  of the common equity tier 1 ratio, total  capital  ratio and leverage ratio are included in the Financial  review.

The 2023 ICAAP showed that the Group can continue to meet i ts  minimum regulatory capital  requirements , even under
extreme stress  scenarios .

 

Market risk

Description

Market risk i s  the risk to the Group's  earnings  and/or value from unfavourable market movements , such as  interest rates
and foreign exchange rates . The Group's  market risk primari ly arises  from interest rate risk. Interest rate risk refers  to the
exposure of the Group's  financial  pos ition, balance sheet and earnings  to movements  in interest rates .

The Group's  balance sheet is  predominantly denominated in GBP, a l though a smal l  number of transactions  are completed
in US Dol lars , Euros  and other currencies  in support of Commercial  Finance customers.

Mitigation

The Group's  principal  exposure comes from the term structure of interest rate sens itive i tems and the sens itivi ty of the
Group's  current and future earnings  and economic value to movements  in market interest rates . The Group does  not take
s igni ficant unmatched pos itions  through the appl ication of hedging strategies  and does  not operate a  trading book. The
main contributors  to interest rate risk are:

·       the mismatch, or duration, between repricing dates  of assets  and l iabi l i ties ; and

·       customer optional i ty, for example, early repayment of loans  in advance of contractual  maturi ty dates .

The Group uses  an interest rate sens itivi ty gap analys is  that informs the Group of any s igni ficant mismatched interest rate
risk pos itions  that require hedging. This  takes  into cons ideration the behavioural  assumptions  for optional i ty as  approved
by ALCO. Risk pos itions  are managed through the structural  matching of assets  and l iabi l i ties  with s imi lar tenors  and the
use of vani l la  interest rate derivative instruments  to hedge the res idual  unmatched pos ition and minimise the Group's
exposure to interest rate risk.

The Group has  a  defined set of market risk appeti te measures  that are monitored monthly. Interest rate risk in the banking
book is  measured from an internal  management and regulatory perspective, taking into cons ideration both an economic
value and earnings-based approach.

The Group monitors  i ts  exposure to bas is  risk and any res idual  non-GBP pos itions. Processes  are in place to review and
react to movements  to the Bank of England Base Rate.

The Group has  no s igni ficant exposures  to foreign currencies  and hedges  any res idual  currency risks  to Sterl ing.

Al l  such exposures  are maintained within the risk appeti te set by the Board and are monitored by ALCO.

Change during the year Stable  

Despite continued increases  in the Bank of England Base Rate during 2023, the Group remained within risk appeti te in
relation to interest rate risk and market risk throughout the year.

Operational risk

Description

Operational  risk i s  the risk that the Group may be exposed to direct or indirect loss  aris ing from inadequate or fa i led
internal  processes , personnel  and success ion, technology/ infrastructure, or from external  factors .

The scope of Operational  risk i s  broad and includes  bus iness  process , operational  res i l ience, third party risk, Change
management, Human Resources, Information Securi ty and IT risk, including Cyber risk.

Mitigation

The Group has  an Operational  Risk Framework des igned in accordance with the 'Principles  for the Sound Management of
Operational  Risk' i ssued by the Basel  Committee on Banking Supervis ion. This  framework defines  and faci l i tates  a  range of
activi ties , including:



·       a risk and control  sel f-assessment process  to identi fy, assess  and mitigate risks  across  a l l  bus iness  units  through
improvements  to the control  environment;

·       the governance arrangements  for managing and reporting these risks ;

·       risk appeti te statements  and associated thresholds  and metrics ; and

·       an incident management process  that defines  how incidents  should be managed and associated remediation,
reporting and root-cause analys is .

The framework is  des igned to ensure appropriate governance is  in place to provide adequate and effective overs ight of the
Group's  operational  risks . The governance framework includes  the Group Operational  Risk, Executive Risk and Board Risk
Committees.

The Group has  a  defined set of qual i tative and quanti tative operational  risk appeti te measures. These measures  cover a l l
categories  of operational  risk and are reported and monitored monthly.

In addition to the del ivery of framework requirements , the Group has  focused on various  thematic areas  of operational  risk
in 2023, including suppl ier management, operational  res i l ience, bus iness  processes  and data management.

Change during the year Stable  

The Group uses  the 'The Standardised Approach' for assess ing i ts  operational  risk capital , in recognition of the
enhancements  made to i ts  framework and embedding i t across  the Group. The Group continues  to invest in resource,
expertise and systems to support the effective management of operational  risk. In 2023, the Group has  continued to
enhance these standards  and has  introduced several  improvements  to the control  frameworks  in place across  i ts
operational  risks . Overal l , the assessment is  that the level  of risk has  remained stable.

 

Model risk

Description

Model  risk i s  the potentia l  for adverse consequences  from model  errors  or the inappropriate use of model led outputs  to
inform business  decis ions.

The Group has  multiple models  that are used, amongst other things , to support pricing, strategic planning, budgeting,
forecasting, regulatory reporting, credit risk management and provis ioning.

Model  risk has  been elevated to a  principal  risk fol lowing a review of the Group's  Enterprise-Wide Risk Management
Framework.

Mitigation

The Group has  a  Model  Risk Management pol icy that governs  i ts  approach to model  risk and sets  out:

·       model  risk appeti te;

·       model  and model  risk defini tions; and

·       roles  and responsibi l i ties  for model  risk management.

As  required within i ts  pol icy, the Group maintains  a  model  inventory and a risk register incorporating speci fic model-
related risks .

Change during the year Stable  

The Group has  del ivered s igni ficant improvements  to i ts  Model  Governance Framework in 2023. Whi lst the Group is  not
within the scope of the PRA's  Supervisory Statement 1/23, i t has  a l igned i ts  model  risk management practices  to this
standard. Working with a  third party expert in the field of model  governance, the model  risk management framework
including pol icies , procedures, model  development standards  and model  val idation requirements  have al l  been rewritten
and trained out to senior management and model  users . A team has  been created to oversee model  risk management and to
undertake independent val idations  of the Group's  high risk models .

 

Compliance and Conduct risk

Description

The risk that the Group's  products  and services , and the way they are del ivered, or the Group's  fa i lure to be compl iant with
al l  relevant regulatory requirements , result in poor outcomes for customers  or markets  in which we operate, or cause harm
to the Group. This  could be as  a  direct result of poor or inappropriate execution of our bus iness  activi ties  or behaviour
from our employees.

Mitigation

The Group manages  this  risk through i ts  Compl iance and Conduct Risk Management Framework. The Group takes  a
principle-based approach, which includes  retai l  and commercial  customers  in our defini tion of 'customer', with coverage
across  a l l  bus iness  units  and both regulated and unregulated activi ties .

Risk management activi ties  fol low the Enterprise-Wide Risk Management Framework, through identi fying, assess ing and
managing risks , governance arrangements  and reporting risks  against Group risk appeti te. Arrangements  include horizon-
scanning of regulatory changes, overs ight of regulatory incidents  and assurance activi ties  conducted by the three l ines  of
defence, including the second l ine Compl iance Monitoring programme.

The Group's  horizon-scanning activi ties  track industry and regulatory developments , including the implementation of the
Basel  3.1 standard and the Smal l  Domestic Deposit Takers  proposal , and the PRA and FCA's  divers i ty and inclus ion
proposals .

Key focus  areas  across  the finance industry in 2023 have been the implementation of the new Consumer Duty, the FCA's  Cost



Key focus  areas  across  the finance industry in 2023 have been the implementation of the new Consumer Duty, the FCA's  Cost
of Living Forbearance review that stemmed from i ts  Borrowers  in Financial  Di fficulty ('BiFD') report in 2022, and the
developments  in model  risk management.

Change during the year Heightened  

The overal l  rating for the year is  driven by the increased regulatory focus  on conduct matters , including the new Consumer
Duty, cost of l iving and forbearance across  the motor finance sector fol lowing the FCA's  BiFD review, and historic
discretionary motor finance commiss ions.

The Group completed the necessary activi ties  to achieve the regulatory timeframe to implement the new Consumer Duty,
including product and value assessments  and consumer understanding testing. A programme of activi ties  continues  to
embed further the Duty across  the consumer bus inesses.

During H2 2023, the Group engaged in formal  discuss ions  with the FCA about i ts  col lections  processes , procedures  and
pol icies  in Vehicle Finance and engaged external  support to ass ist. Where necessary, we are enhancing further our
approach to enable good outcomes to be del ivered in l ine with the Group's  purpose and values.

In January 2024, the FCA announced i t was  undertaking a  review of discretionary commiss ion arrangements  in the motor
finance market. Vehicle Finance sometimes operated these arrangements  unti l  June 2017, ahead of the FCA banning their
use in January 2021. We bel ieve that the overal l  proportion of loans  where we used discretionary commiss ion
arrangements  was  smal l  and for a  shorter period, relative to the industry in general . The Group is  tracking developments  in
order to respond, when the impl ications  for the industry become clearer.

 

Financial Crime risk

Description

The risk that the Group's  products  and services  wi l l  be used to faci l i tate financial  crime, resulting in harm to i ts  customers,
the Group or third parties , and the Group fa i ls  to protect them by not having effective systems and controls . Financial  Crime
includes  anti -money laundering, terrorist financing, prol i feration financing, sanctions  restrictions, modern s lavery, human
trafficking, fraud and the faci l i tation of tax evas ion. The Group may incur s igni ficant remediation costs  to recti fy i ssues,
reimburse losses  incurred by customers  and address  regulatory censure and penalties .

Mitigation

We operate in a  constantly developing financial  crime environment and are exposed to financial  crime risks  of varying
degrees  across  a l l  areas  of the Group. The Group is  focused on maintaining effective systems and controls , a longs ide
vigi lance against a l l  forms of financial  crime and meeting our regulatory obl igations.

The Group has  a  Financial  Crime Framework des igned to meet regulatory and legis lative obl igations, which includes:

·       Mandatory annual  col league training and awareness  ini tiatives .

·       Regular reviews of our suite of financial  crime pol icies , s tandards  and procedures, checking they remain up to date
and address  any legis lative/regulatory change and emerging risks .

·       Detection, transaction monitoring and screening technologies .

·       Extens ive recruitment pol icy to screen potentia l  employees.

·       Horizon-scanning and regular management information production and analys is  conducted to identi fy emerging
threats , trends  and typologies , as  wel l  as  preparing for new legis lation and regulation.

·       Financial  crime-focused governance with risk committees  providing senior management overs ight, chal lenge and risk
escalation.

·       Intel l igence shared through participating in key industry events  such as  those hosted by UK Finance and other
networks.

Change during the year Stable  

Enhancements  to the Group's  financial  crime control  environment have continued with a  focus  on financial  crime
capabi l i ties  and systems and controls . We are closely monitoring changes  to fraud and financial  crime regulation and
guidance and responding to them.

 

Climate Change risk

Description

Cl imate change, and society's  response to i t, present risks  to the UK financial  services  sector, with some of these only ful ly
crystal l i s ing over an extended period. The Group is  exposed to phys ical  and trans ition risks  aris ing from cl imate change.

Mitigation

The Group has  establ ished processes  to monitor our risk exposure to both the potentia l  'phys ical ' effects  of cl imate change
and the 'trans itional ' ri sks  from the UK's  adjustment towards  a  carbon neutral  economy. The Group has  developed a new
role to support the deployment of i ts  Cl imate Strategy and enable pivotal  change and development across  the Group. The
activi ties  remain a  core element of our Environmental , Socia l  and Governance approach.

Stress  testing work has  been enhanced for 2023, for our Vehicle Finance and Real  Estate Finance bus inesses  to test the
res i l ience of our portfol ios  and strategies  to manage the risks  and opportunities  of cl imate change. Further detai l  i s
provided within the Cl imate-related financial  disclosures  section of the Annual  Report and Accounts .

Change during the year Stable  

The Group's  direct exposure to the phys ical  impacts  of cl imate change remains  relatively l imited, given i ts  footprint and



The Group's  direct exposure to the phys ical  impacts  of cl imate change remains  relatively l imited, given i ts  footprint and
areas  of operation. However, i t has  establ ished robust controls  des igned to manage the associated risks  and wi l l  continue
to develop i ts  bus iness  plans  in the future as  the risks  evolve. Disclosures  are made within the Cl imate-related financial
disclosures  section of the Annual  Report and Accounts  in l ine with the guidance from the 'Task Force on Cl imate-Related
Financial  Disclosures. Speci fic detai l  on each of the key risks  identi fied and mitigation are covered within the Strategy
section of the Annual  Report and Accounts . The Group continues  to monitor the evolving cl imate disclosure landscape and
regulatory requirements  and expectations, including trans ition planning.

 

Strategic and emerging risks

In addition to the principal  risks  disclosed above, the Board and Executive Committee regularly cons ider strategic and
emerging risks , including key factors , trends  and uncertainties  that could impact the performance of the Group.

The key strategic risk identi fied by the Executive and reported through to the Board Risk Committee was the macroeconomic
environment in the UK. The Group operates  exclus ively within the UK and therefore i ts  performance is  influenced by the
performance of the UK economy. Weaknesses  in economic pos ition or outlook can impact the demand for the Group's
products , returns  that can be achieved and the level  of impairments .

2023 saw rapid increases  in inflation, driven principal ly by increases  in energy costs  and other supply chain and labour
market issues. The Bank of England response to higher inflation has  been to increase interest rates , with continued upward
pressure throughout 2023, creating uncertainty for consumers  and bus inesses.

The Group has  taken proactive action to reflect these changes  in lending parameters  to continue to operate within i ts  credit
risk appeti te and maintain support for i ts  customers.

Whi lst materia l  di rect impacts  have not yet been seen, the Group continues  to monitor closely the macroeconomic
environment to assess  the impact of these changes  on i ts  customers  and financial  performance.

 

Director's responsibility statement
The Directors  are responsible for preparing the Annual  Report and the Financial  Statements  in accordance with appl icable
law and regulations.

Company law requires  the Directors  to prepare Financial  Statements  for each financial  year. Under that law the Directors
are required to prepare the Group Financial  s tatements  in accordance with United Kingdom adopted international
accounting standards. The Financial  Statements  a lso comply with International  Financial  Reporting Standards  (IFRSs) as
issued by the IASB. The Directors  have also chosen to prepare the parent Company Financial  Statements  under United
Kingdom adopted international  accounting standards. Under company law the Directors  must not approve the Financial
Statements  unless  they are satis fied that they give a  true and fa ir view of the state of affa irs  of the Company and of the
profi t or loss  of the Company for that period.

In preparing these Financial  Statements , International  Accounting Standard 1 requires  that Directors :

·       properly select and apply accounting pol icies ;

·       present information, including accounting pol icies , in a  manner that provides  relevant, rel iable, comparable and
understandable information;

·       provide additional  disclosures  when compl iance with the speci fic requirements  of the financial  reporting framework
are insufficient to enable users  to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events  and conditions  on
the enti ty's  financial  pos ition and financial  performance; and

·       make an assessment of the company's  abi l i ty to continue as  a  going concern.

The Directors  are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records  that are sufficient to show and explain the
Company's  transactions  and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial  pos ition of the Company and
enable them to ensure that the Financial  Statements  comply with the Companies  Act 2006. They are a lso responsible for
safeguarding the assets  of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps  for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other i rregulari ties .

The Directors  are responsible for the maintenance and integri ty of the corporate and financial  information included on the
Company's  website. Legis lation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial  s tatements
may di ffer from legis lation in other jurisdictions.

Responsibility statement

Each of the Directors  who are in office at the date of this  report and whose names and roles  are l i s ted in the Annual  Report
and Accounts  (pages  66 to 68) confi rm that to the best of our knowledge:

·       the Financial  Statements , prepared in accordance with the relevant financial  reporting framework, give a  true and fa ir
view of the assets , l iabi l i ties , financial  pos ition and profi t or loss  of the Company and the undertakings  included in
the consol idation taken as  a  whole;

·       the Strategic Report includes  a  fa i r review of the development and performance of the bus iness  and the pos ition of the
Company and the undertakings  included in the consol idation taken as  a  whole, together with a  description of the
principal  risks  and uncertainties  that they face; and

·       the Annual  Report and Financial  Statements , taken as  a  whole, are fa i r, balanced and understandable and provide the
information necessary for shareholders  to assess  the Company's  pos ition and performance, bus iness  model  and
strategy.

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December

Note
2023

£million

Restated¹
2022

£mil l ion



Note £million £mil l ion
Income statement

Continuing operations

Interest income and s imi lar income 4.1 304.0 203.0

Interest expense and s imi lar charges 4.1 (136.5) (50.4)

Net interest income 4.1 167.5 152.6

Fee and commiss ion income 4.2 17.3 17.4

Fee and commiss ion expense 4.2 (0.1) (0.4)

Net fee and commission income 4.2 17.2 17.0

Operating income 184.7 169.6

Net impairment charge on loans  and advances  to customers 16 (43.2) (38.2)

Gains  on modification of financial  assets 0.3 1.1

Fair value and other gains/(losses) on financial  instruments 5 0.5 (0.3)

Operating expenses 6 (99.7) (93.2)

Profit before income tax from continuing operations before exceptional items 42.6 39.0

Exceptional  i tems 8 (6.5) -

Profit before income tax from continuing operations 36.1 39.0

Income tax expense 9 (9.7) (9.4)

Profit for the year from continuing operations 26.4 29.6

Discontinued operations

(Loss)/profit before income tax from discontinued operations 10 (2.7) 5.0

Income tax credit/(expense) 10 0.6 (0.9)

(Loss)/profit for the year from discontinued operations 10 (2.1) 4.1

Profit for the year 24.3 33.7

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified to the income statement

Cash flow hedge reserve movements - (0.8)

Reclass i fication to the income statement 0.6 0.1

Taxation (0.1) 0.2

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, net of income tax 0.5 (0.5)

Total other comprehensive income 24.8 33.2

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company 24.3 33.7

Total comprehensive income attributable to equity holders of the Company 24.8 33.2

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company during the
year (pence per share)

Basic earnings per ordinary share 11.1 129.6 180.5

Diluted earnings per ordinary share 11.2 126.1 174.7

Basic earnings per ordinary share - continuing operations 140.8 158.5

Diluted earnings per ordinary share - continuing operations 137.0 153.4
1. Restated to reflect a change in accounting policy relating to land and buildings, which are now presented at historical cost. See Note 1.3 for
further details.

Consolidated statement of financial position
As at 31 December

Note
2023

£million

Restated¹
2022

£mil l ion

Restated¹
2021

£mil l ion
ASSETS

Cash and Bank of England reserve account 351.6 370.1 235.7

Loans and advances  to banks 13 53.7 50.5 50.3

Debt securi ties - - 25.0

Loans and advances  to customers 14, 15 3,315.3 2,919.5 2,530.6

Fair value adjustment for portfol io hedged risk 17 (3.9) (32.0) (3.5)

Derivative financial  instruments 17 25.5 34.9 3.8

Assets  held for sale - - 1.3

Investment property 18 - - 4.7

Property, plant and equipment 19 10.8 9.7 8.8

Right-of-use assets 20 1.8 1.5 2.2

Intangible assets 21 5.9 6.6 6.9

Current tax assets 0.1 - 0.8

Deferred tax assets 23 4.3 5.6 7.2

Other assets 24 12.9 13.4 11.9

Total assets 3,778.0 3,379.8 2,885.7



LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Liabilities

Due to banks 25 402.0 400.5 390.8

Deposits  from customers 26 2,871.8 2,514.6 2,103.2

Fair value adjustment for portfol io hedged risk 17 (1.4) (23.0) (5.3)

Derivative financial  instruments 17 22.0 26.7 6.2

Liabi l i ties  directly associated with assets  held for sale - - 2.0

Current tax l iabi l i ties - 0.8 -

Lease l iabi l i ties 27 2.3 2.1 3.1

Other l iabi l i ties 28 37.7 78.1 31.3

Provis ions  for l iabi l i ties  and charges 29 6.0 2.5 1.3

Subordinated l iabi l i ties 30 93.1 51.1 50.9

Total liabilities 3,433.5 3,053.4 2,583.5

Equity attributable to owners of the parent

Share capital 32 7.6 7.5 7.5

Share premium 83.8 82.2 82.2

Other reserves 33 (1.7) (1.1) (0.3)

Retained earnings 254.8 237.8 212.8

Total equity 344.5 326.4 302.2

Total liabilities and equity 3,778.0 3,379.8 2,885.7
1. Restated to reflect a change in accounting policy relating to land and buildings, which are now presented at historical cost. See Note 1.3 for
further details.

Company statement of financial position
As at 31 December

Note
2023

£million

Restated¹
2022

£mil l ion

Restated¹
2021

£mil l ion
ASSETS

Cash and Bank of England reserve account 351.6 370.1 235.7

Loans and advances  to banks 13 53.0 48.9 47.4

Debt securi ties - - 25.0

Loans and advances  to customers 14, 15 3,315.3 2,919.5 2,450.3

Fair value adjustment for portfol io hedged risk 17 (3.9) (32.0) (3.5)

Derivative financial  instruments 17 25.5 34.9 3.8

Investment property 18 0.9 1.0 5.7

Property, plant and equipment 19 6.3 4.9 3.9

Right-of-use assets 20 1.6 1.3 1.5

Intangible assets 21 3.5 4.4 5.4

Investments  in group undertakings 22 5.9 5.7 4.3

Current tax assets - - 1.5

Deferred tax assets 23 4.3 5.3 6.9

Other assets 24 14.4 15.1 99.8

Total assets 3,778.4 3,379.1 2,887.7

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Liabilities

Due to banks 25 402.0 400.5 390.8

Deposits  from customers 26 2,871.8 2,514.6 2,103.2

Fair value adjustment for portfol io hedged risk 17 (1.4) (23.0) (5.3)

Derivative financial  instruments 17 22.0 26.7 6.2

Current tax l iabi l i ties 0.3 0.6 -

Lease l iabi l i ties 27 2.1 1.9 2.3

Other l iabi l i ties 28 44.7 85.9 43.8

Provis ions  for l iabi l i ties  and charges 29 5.6 2.0 1.3

Subordinated l iabi l i ties 30 93.1 51.1 50.9

Total liabilities 3,440.2 3,060.3 2,593.2

Equity attributable to owners of the parent

Share capital 32 7.6 7.5 7.5

Share premium 83.8 82.2 82.2

Other reserves 33 (1.7) (1.1) (0.3)

Retained earnings 248.5 230.2 205.1

Total equity 338.2 318.8 294.5

Total liabilities and equity 3,778.4 3,379.1 2,887.7
1. Restated to reflect a change in accounting policy relating to land and buildings, which are now presented at historical cost. See Note 1.3 for



further details.

The Company has  elected to take the exemption under section 408 of the Companies  Act 2006 not present the parent
company income statement. The profi t for the parent company for the year of £25.6 mi l l ion is  presented in the Company
statement of changes  in equity.

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Share
capital

£million

Share
premium

£million

Other
reserves     

 

Cash flow
hedge

reserve
£million

Revaluation
reserve
£million

Own
shares

£million

Retained
earnings
£million

Total
£million

Balance at 1 January 2022 7.5 82.2 (0.3) 1.3 - 211.7 302.4

Land and bui ldings  prior year restatement
net of tax (see Note 1.3) - - - (1.3) - 1.1 (0.2)

Balance at 1 January 2022 (restated) 7.5 82.2 (0.3) - - 212.8 302.2

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profi t for 2022 - - - - - 33.7 33.7

Total  other comprehensive income, net of income tax

Cash flow hedge reserve movements - - (0.7) - - - (0.7)

Tax on cash flow hedge reserve movements - - 0.2 - - - 0.2

Total other comprehensive loss - - (0.5) - - - (0.5)

Total comprehensive income for the year - - (0.5) - - 33.7 33.2

Transactions  with owners , recorded directly in equity

Contributions by and distributions to owners

Purchase of own shares - - - - (0.3) - (0.3)

Dividends paid - - - - - (10.7) (10.7)

Share-based payments - - - - - 2.0 2.0

Total contributions by and distributions to owners - - - - (0.3) (8.7) (9.0)

Balance at 31 December 2022 7.5 82.2 (0.8) - (0.3) 237.8 326.4

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profi t for 2023 - - - - - 24.3 24.3

Total  other comprehensive income, net of income tax

Cash flow hedge reserve movements - - 0.6 - - - 0.6

Tax on cash flow hedge reserve movements - - (0.1) - - - (0.1)

Total other comprehensive income - - 0.5 - - - 0.5

Total comprehensive income for the year - - 0.5 - - 24.3 24.8

Transactions  with owners , recorded directly in equity

Contributions by and distributions to owners

Purchase of own shares - - - - (1.2) - (1.2)

Sale of own shares - - - - 0.1 - 0.1

Issue of shares 0.1 1.6 - - - - 1.7

Dividends paid - - - - - (8.4) (8.4)

Share-based payments - - - - - 1.1 1.1

Total contributions by and distributions to owners 0.1 1.6 - - (1.1) (7.3) (6.7)

Balance at 31 December 2023 7.6 83.8 (0.3) - (1.4) 254.8 344.5

Company statement of changes in equity
Other reserves

Share
capital

£million

Share
premium

£million

Cash flow
hedge

reserve
£million

Revaluation
reserve
£million

Own
shares

£million

Retained
earnings
£million

Total
£million

Balance at 1 January 2022 7.5 82.2 (0.3) 0.7 - 204.1 294.2

Land and bui ldings  prior year restatement
net of tax (see Note 1.3) - - - (0.7) - 1.0 0.3

Balance at 1 January 2022 (restated) 7.5 82.2 (0.3) - - 205.1 294.5

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profi t for 2022 - - - - - 33.8 33.8

Total  other comprehensive income, net of income tax



Cash flow hedge reserve movements - - (0.7) - - - (0.7)

Tax on cash flow hedges  reserve movements - - 0.2 - - - 0.2

Total other comprehensive loss - - (0.5) - - - (0.5)

Total comprehensive income for the year - - (0.5) - - 33.8 33.3

Transactions  with owners , recorded directly in equity

Contributions by and distributions to owners

Own shares - - - - (0.3) - (0.3)

Dividends paid - - - - - (10.7) (10.7)

Share-based payments - - - - - 2.0 2.0

Total contributions by and distributions to owners - - - - (0.3) (8.7) (9.0)

Balance at 31 December 2022 7.5 82.2 (0.8) - (0.3) 230.2 318.8

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profi t for 2023 - - - - - 25.6 25.6

Total other comprehensive income, net of income
tax

Cash flow hedge reserve movements - - 0.6 - - - 0.6

Tax on cash flow hedge reserve movements - - (0.1) - - - (0.1)

Total other comprehensive income - - 0.5 - - - 0.5

Total comprehensive income for the year - - 0.5 - - 25.6 26.1

Transactions  with owners , recorded directly in equity

Contributions by and distributions to owners

Purchase of own shares - - - - (1.2) - (1.2)

Sale of own shares - - - - 0.1 - 0.1

Issue of shares 0.1 1.6 - - - - 1.7

Dividends paid - - - - - (8.4) (8.4)

Share-based payments - - - - - 1.1 1.1

Total contributions by and distributions to owners 0.1 1.6 - - (1.1) (7.3) (6.7)

Balance at 31 December 2023 7.6 83.8 (0.3) - (1.4) 248.5 338.2

Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December

Note
2023

£million
2022

£mil l ion
Cash flows from operating activities

Profi t for the year 24.3 33.7

Adjustments  for:

Income tax expense 9 9.1 10.3

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 19 0.9 1.2

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 20 0.7 0.7

Amortisation of intangible assets 21 1.2 1.4

Loss  on disposal  of property, plant and equipment, right of use assets  and intangible assets 0.2 1.4

Impairment charge on loans  and advances  to customers 43.2 39.0

Share-based compensation 34 1.1 2.0

Gain on disposal  of loan books 10 - (8.9)

Provis ions  for l iabi l i ties  and charges 29 8.5 -

Other non-cash i tems included in profi t before tax (0.8) 1.0

Cash flows from operating profits before changes in operating assets and liabilities  88.4 81.8

Changes  in operating assets  and l iabi l i ties :

- loans  and advances  to customers (439.0) (497.1)

- loans  and advances  to banks (1.3) 0.6

- other assets 0.4 (1.5)

- deposits  from customers 357.2 411.4

- provis ions  for l iabi l i ties  and charges  uti l i sation (4.7) (1.1)

- other l iabi l i ties (37.8) 45.6

Income tax paid (8.6) (7.0)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities (45.4) 32.7

Cash flows from investing activities

Consideration on sale of loan books 10 - 81.9

Sale of investment property 18 - 3.3



Maturity and sales  of debt securi ties - 80.0

Purchase of debt securi ties - (80.0)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 20, 21 (2.7) (2.7)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities (2.7) 82.5

Cash flows from financing activities

Issue of subordinated debt 30 70.0 -

Redemption of subordinated debt 30 (28.8) -

(Repayment)/drawdown of amounts  due to banks (0.9) 7.0

Purchase of own shares (1.2) (0.3)

Issue of shares 1.7 -

Dividends paid 12 (8.4) (10.7)

Repayment of lease l iabi l i ties 21 (0.9) (1.0)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities 31.5 (5.0)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (16.6) 110.2

Cash and cash equivalents  at 1 January 416.9 306.7

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 35 400.3 416.9

Company statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December

Note
2023

£million
2022

£mil l ion
Cash flows from operating activities

Profi t for the year 25.6 33.8

Adjustments  for:

Income tax expense 9 6.7 6.9

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 19 0.6 0.7

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 20 0.6 0.4

Amortisation of intangible assets 21 1.0 1.1

Loss  on disposal  of property, plant and equipment 0.1 -

Impairment charge on loans  and advances  to customers 43.2 37.8

Share-based compensation 34 0.9 1.6

Dividends received from subs idiaries (10.2) (14.0)

Provis ions  for l iabi l i ties  and charges 29 7.2 1.4

Other non-cash i tems included in profi t before tax 1.4 (0.3)

Cash flows from operating profits before changes in operating assets and liabilities  77.1 69.4

Changes  in operating assets  and l iabi l i ties :

- loans  and advances  to customers (439.0) (505.7)

- loans  and advances  to banks (1.3) 0.6

- other assets 8.7 98.7

- deposits  from customers 357.2 411.4

- provis ions  for l iabi l i ties  and charges  uti l i sation (3.3) (1.1)

- other l iabi l i ties (38.6) 44.0

Income tax paid (5.9) (3.0)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities (45.1) 114.3

Cash flows from investing activities

Sale of investment property 18 - 3.3

Purchase of subs idiary undertaking 22 - (1.0)

Maturi ty and sales  of debt securi ties - 80.0

Purchase of debt securi ties - (80.0)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 20, 21 (2.2) (0.4)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities (2.2) 1.9

Cash flows from financing activities

Issue of subordinated debt 30 70.0 -

Redemption of subordinated debt 30 (28.8) -

(Repayment)/drawdown of amounts  due to banks (0.9) 7.0

Purchase of own shares 33 (1.2) (0.3)

Issue of shares 32 1.7 -

Dividends paid 12 (8.4) (10.7)

Repayment of lease l iabi l i ties 21 (0.8) (0.7)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities 31.6 (4.7)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (15.7) 111.5

Cash and cash equivalents  at 1 January 415.3 303.8

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 35 399.6 415.3



Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1. Accounting policies

The principal  accounting pol icies  appl ied in the preparation of these consol idated financial  s tatements  are set out below,
and i f appl icable, directly under the relevant note to the consol idated financial  s tatements . These pol icies  have been
consistently appl ied to a l l  of the years  presented, unless  otherwise stated.

1.1. Reporting entity

Secure Trust Bank PLC is  a  publ ic l imited company incorporated in England and Wales  in the United Kingdom (referred to
as
'the Company') and is  l imited by shares. The Company is  registered in England and Wales  and has  the registered number
00541132. The registered address  of the Company is  Yorke House, Arleston Way, Sol ihul l , B90 4LH. The consol idated
financial  s tatements  of the Company as  at and for the year ended 31 December 2023 comprise Secure Trust Bank PLC and
its  subs idiaries  (together referred to as  'the Group' and individual ly as  'subs idiaries '). The Group is  primari ly involved in
the provis ion of banking and financial  services .

1.2. Basis of presentation

The figures  shown for the year ended 31 December 2023 are not statutory accounts  within the meaning of section 435 of the
Companies  Act 2006. The statutory accounts  for the year ended 31 December 2023 on which the auditors  have given an
unqual i fied audit report and did not contain an adverse statement under section 498(2) or 498(3) of the Companies  Act
2006 wi l l  be del ivered to the Registrar of Companies  after the Annual  General  Meeting. The figures  shown for the year
ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 are not statutory accounts . A copy of the statutory accounts  has  been
del ivered to the Registrar of Companies , which contained an unqual i fied audit report and did not contain an adverse
statement under section 498(2) or 498(3) of the Companies  Act 2006. This  announcement has  been agreed with the
Company's  auditors  for release.

1.3. Property, plant and equipment prior year adjustment

IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment offers  a  choice of two methods of measuring the carrying amount of land and
bui ldings:

·  The historical  model  or;

·  The revaluation model .

The Group's  previous  accounting pol icy was  to hold land and bui ldings  at i ts  revalued amount, being i ts  fa i r value at the
date of valuation less  any subsequent accumulated depreciation. Revaluations  were carried out annual ly at the reporting
date, and movements  were recognised in Other Comprehensive Income, net of any appl icable deferred tax. External
valuations  were performed on a triennial  bas is .

Fol lowing a review, the Directors  have concluded that the historical  cost model  i s  a  more appropriate and relevant
approach due to the nature of the Group's  bus iness  which is  that of an owner occupier of property. This  wi l l  reduce
volati l i ty in the income statement and revaluation reserve, a l lowing for a  more appropriate presentation of the Group's
financial  performance. Furthermore, the historical  model  approach is  adopted by the majori ty of our peer group, which
wi l l  a l low for better comparabi l i ty.

Therefore, under IAS 8.14(b) Accounting Pol icies , Changes  in Accounting Estimates  and Errors , the Group is  changing i ts
accounting pol icy to measure land and bui ldings  at historical  cost less  depreciation, less  any impairment, and to adjust
the depreciation charge accordingly. The Group's  pol icy to depreciate bui ldings  over 50 years  remains  unchanged. This  has
also resulted in the removal  of the Group's  revaluation reserve and associated deferred tax.

Due to the change in accounting pol icy, the Group is  required to restate i ts  comparatives  in accordance with IAS 8.28. A
summary of the impact on the primary statements  is  as  fol lows:

Statement of financial  pos ition

As
original ly

stated
1 January

2022
Group

£mil l ion

Prior year
adjustment

1 January
2022

Group
£mil l ion

Restated
1 January

2022
Group

£mil l ion

As
original ly

stated
1 January

2022
Company
£mil l ion

Prior year
adjustment

1 January
2022

Company
£mil l ion

Restated
1 January

2022
Company
£mil l ion

Property, plant and equipment 9.3 (0.5) 8.8 3.7 0.2 3.9

Deferred tax assets 6.9 0.3 7.2 6.8 0.1 6.9

Other assets 2,869.7 - 2,869.7 2,876.9 - 2,876.9

Total assets 2,885.9 (0.2) 2,885.7 2,887.4 0.3 2,887.7

Total liabilities 2,583.5 - 2,583.5 2,593.2 - 2,593.2

Retained earnings 211.7 1.1 212.8 204.1 1.0 205.1

Revaluation reserve 1.3 (1.3) - 0.7 (0.7) -

Other equity/reserves 89.4 - 89.4 89.4 - 89.4

Total equity 302.4 (0.2) 302.2 294.2 0.3 294.5

Total liabilities and equities 2,885.9 (0.2) 2,885.7 2,887.4 0.3 2,887.7
 

Statement of financial  pos ition

As
original ly

stated
1 January

2023
Group

£mil l ion

Prior year
adjustment

1 January
2023

Group
£mil l ion

Restated
1 January

2023
Group

£mil l ion

As
original ly

stated
1 January

2023
Company
£mil l ion

Prior year
adjustment

1 January
2023

Company
£mil l ion

Restated
1 January

2023
Company
£mil l ion

Property, plant and equipment 10.3 (0.6) 9.7 4.7 0.2 4.9

Deferred tax assets 5.5 0.1 5.6 5.3 - 5.3

Other assets 3,364.5 - 3,364.5 3,368.9 - 3,368.9

Total assets 3,380.3 (0.5) 3,379.8 3,378.9 0.2 3,379.1

Total liabilities 3,053.4 - 3,053.4 3,060.3 - 3,060.3



Retained earnings 237.5 0.3 237.8 230.0 0.2 230.2

Revaluation reserve 0.8 (0.8) - - - -

Other equity/reserves 88.6 - 88.6 88.6 - 88.6

Total equity 326.9 (0.5) 326.4 318.6 0.2 318.8

Total liabilities and equities 3,380.3 (0.5) 3,379.8 3,378.9 0.2 3,379.1

There is  negl igible impact on the income statement and cash flow statement for the year ended 31 December 2022.

1.4. Consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries  are a l l  investees  control led by the Group. The Group controls  an investee when i t i s  exposed, or has  rights , to
variable returns  from i ts  involvement with the investee, and has  the abi l i ty to affect those returns  through i ts  power over
the investee. Subs idiaries  are ful ly consol idated from the date on which control  i s  transferred to the Group.

The acquis i tion method of accounting is  used to account for the acquis i tion of subs idiaries  by the Group. The cost of an
acquis i tion is  measured as  the fa ir value of the assets  given, equity instruments  issued and l iabi l i ties  incurred or assumed
at the date of exchange, plus  costs  directly attributable to the acquis i tion. Identi fiable assets  acquired and l iabi l i ties  and
contingent l iabi l i ties  assumed in a  bus iness  combination are measured ini tia l ly at their fa i r values  at the acquis i tion date,
i rrespective of the extent of any non-control l ing interest. The excess  of the cost of acquis i tion, excluding directly
attributable costs , over the fa ir value of the Group's  share of the identi fiable net assets  acquired is  recorded as  goodwi l l . If
the cost of acquis i tion is  less  than the fa ir value of the net assets  of the subs idiary acquired, the di fference is  recognised
directly in the income statement.

The parent company's  investments  in subs idiaries  are recorded at cost less , where appropriate, provis ion for impairment.
The fa ir value of the underlying bus iness  of the Company's  only materia l  investment was  s igni ficantly higher than carrying
value, and therefore no impairment was  required.

Intercompany transactions, balances  and unreal ised gains  and losses  on transactions  between Group companies  are
el iminated.

Accounting pol icies  of subs idiaries  have been changed, where necessary, to ensure cons istency with the pol icies  adopted
by the Group.

Subsidiaries  are de-consol idated from the date that control  ceases.

Discontinued operations

Discontinued operations  are a  component of an enti ty that has  been disposed of and represents  a  major l ine of bus iness
and/or is  part of a  s ingle co-ordinated disposal  plan.

1.5. Financial assets and financial liabilities accounting policy

Financial assets (with the exception of derivative financial instruments) accounting policy

The Group class i fies  i ts  financial  assets  at inception into three measurement categories ; 'amortised cost', 'Fair Value
Through Other Comprehensive Income' ('FVOCI') and 'Fair Value Through Profi t or Loss ' ('FVTPL'). A financial  asset i s
measured at amortised cost i f both the fol lowing conditions  are met and i t has  not been des ignated as  at FVTPL:

·       the asset i s  held within a  bus iness  model  whose objective is  to hold the asset to col lect i ts  contractual  cash flows;
and

·       the contractual  terms of the financial  asset give rise to cash flows on speci fied dates  that are Solely Payments  of
Principal  and Interest ('SPPI').

The Group's  current bus iness  model  for a l l  financial  assets , with the exception of derivative financial  instruments , i s  to
hold to col lect contractual  cash flows, and al l  assets  held give rise to cash flows on speci fied dates  that represent SPPI on
the outstanding principal  amount. Al l  of the Group's  financial  assets  are therefore currently class i fied as  amortised cost,
except for derivative financial  instruments . Loans  are recognised when funds are advanced to customers  and are carried at
amortised cost us ing the Effective Interest Rate ('EIR') method.

A debt instrument would be measured at FVOCI only i f both the below conditions  are met and i t has  not been des ignated as
FVTPL:

·       the asset i s  held within a  bus iness  model  whose objective is  achieved by both col lecting i ts  contractual  cash flows
and sel l ing the financial  asset; and

·       the contractual  terms of the financial  asset give rise to cash flows on speci fied dates  that represent SPPI on the
outstanding principal  amount.

The Group currently has  no financial  instruments  class i fied as  FVOCI.

See below for further detai ls  of the bus iness  model  assessment and the SPPI test.

On ini tia l  recognition of an equity investment that i s  not held for trading, the Group may i rrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes  in fa i r value in other comprehensive income. This  election would be made on an investment-by-
investment bas is . The Group currently holds  no such investments .

Al l  other assets  are class i fied as  FVTPL.

Financial  assets  are not reclass i fied subsequent to their ini tia l  recognition, except in the period after the Group changes  i ts
bus iness  model  for managing financial  assets . The Group has  not reclass i fied any financial  assets  during the reporting
period.

Assessment whether contractual cash flows are SPPI

For the purposes  of this  assessment, 'principal ' i s  defined as  the fa ir value of the financial  asset on ini tia l  recognition.
'Interest' i s  defined as  cons ideration for the cost of funds  and for the credit risk associated with the principal  amount
outstanding during a  particular period of time and for other bas ic lending risks  and costs  (e.g. administrative costs), as
wel l  as  profi t margin.

In assess ing whether the contractual  cash flows are SPPI, the Group cons iders  the contractual  terms of the instrument. This
includes  assess ing whether the financial  asset contains  a  contractual  term that could change the timing or amount of



contractual  cash flows such that i t would not meet the condition.

In making the assessment, the Group cons iders :

·       Contingent events  that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;

·       Prepayments  and extens ion terms;

·       Terms that l imit the Group's  cla im to cash flows from speci fic assets  (e.g. non-recourse asset arrangements); and

·       Features  that modify cons ideration of the time value of money (e.g. periodical  reset of interest rate).

Business model assessment

The Group makes  an assessment of the objective of a  bus iness  model  in which an asset i s  held at a  portfol io level  because
this  best reflects  the way the bus iness  is  managed and information is  provided to management. The information cons idered
includes:

·       The stated pol icies  and objectives  for the portfol io and the operation of those pol icies  in practice. In particular,
whether management's  strategy focuses  on managing the portfol io in order to col lect contractual  cash flows or
whether i t i s  managed in order to trade to real ise fa i r value changes;

·       How the performance of the portfol io is  evaluated and reports  to management;

·       The risks  that affect the performance of the bus iness  model  (and the financial  assets  held within that bus iness  model)
and how those risks  are managed; and

·       The frequency, volume and timing of sales  in prior periods, the reasons  for such sales  and i ts  expectations  about
future sales  activi ty. However, information about sales  activi ty i s  not cons idered in isolation, but as  part of an overal l
assessment of how the Bank's  stated objective for managing the financial  assets  i s  achieved and how cash flows are
real ised.

Financial  assets  that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is  evaluated on a fa i r value bas is  are
class i fied as  FVTPL because they are neither held to col lect contractual  cash flows nor held both to col lect contractual
cash flows and to sel l  financial  assets .

The Group currently has  no financial  instruments  class i fied as  FVTPL.

Amortised cost measurement

The amortised cost of a  financial  asset or financial  l iabi l i ty i s  the amount at which the financial  asset or financial  l iabi l i ty
is  measured at ini tia l  recognition, plus  or minus  the cumulative amortisation us ing the EIR, which is  the rate that exactly
discounts  estimated future cash payments  or receipts  through the expected l i fe of the financial  instrument, minus  any
reduction for impairment.

Derecognition of financial assets

Financial  assets  are derecognised when the rights  to receive cash flows from the financial  assets  have expired or where the
Group has  transferred substantia l ly a l l  of the risks  and rewards  of ownership or in the event of a  substantia l  modification.
There have not been any instances  where assets  have only been partia l ly derecognised.

Modification of loans

A customer's  account may be modified to ass ist customers, who are in or have recently overcome financial  di fficulties , and
have demonstrated both the abi l i ty and wi l l ingness  to meet the current or modified loan contractual  payments . Substantia l
loan modifications  result in the derecognition of the existing loan, and the recognition of a  new loan at the new origination
EIR based on the expected future cash flows at origination. Determination of the origination Probabi l i ty of Default ('PD') for
the new loan is  required, based on the PD as  at the date of the modification, which is  used for the calculation of the
impairment provis ion against the new loan. Any deferred fees  or deferred interest, and any di fference between the carrying
value of the derecognised loan and the new loan, i s  wri tten off to the income statement on recognition of the new loan.

Where the modification is  not cons idered to be substantia l , neither the origination EIR nor the origination probabi l i ty of
default for the modified loan changes. The net present value of changes  to the future contractual  cash flows adjusts  the
carrying amount of the original  asset with the di fference immediately being recognised in profi t or loss . The adjusted
carrying amount is  then amortised over the remaining term of the modified loan us ing the original  EIR.

Financial liabilities (with the exception of derivative financial instruments)

The Group class i fies  i ts  financial  l iabi l i ties  as  measured at amortised cost. Such financial  l iabi l i ties  are recognised when
cash is  received from depositors  and carried at amortised cost us ing the EIR method. Financial  l iabi l i ties  are derecognised
when they are extinguished (i .e. when the obl igation speci fied in the contract i s  discharged, cancel led or expires).

Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial  assets  and financial  l iabi l i ties  are not offset in the consol idated financial  s tatements  unless  the Group has  both
a legal ly enforceable right and intention to offset.

1.6. Foreign currencies

Transactions  in foreign currencies  are ini tia l ly recorded at the rates  of exchange prevai l ing on the dates  of the
transactions. Monetary assets  and l iabi l i ties  denominated in foreign currencies  are retrans lated into the Company's
functional  currency at the rates  prevai l ing on the consol idated statement of financial  pos ition date. Exchange di fferences
aris ing on the settlement of monetary i tems, and on the retrans lation of monetary i tems, are included in the income
statement for the period.

2. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

2.1. Judgements

Critical  judgements  are disclosed in

·       Note 16.2.

·       Note 31.1.2.

2.2. Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Estimations  that could have a materia l  impact on the Group's  financial  results , and are therefore cons idered to be key



Estimations  that could have a materia l  impact on the Group's  financial  results , and are therefore cons idered to be key
sources  of estimation uncertainty. Key sources  of estimation can be found in:

·       Note 16.1. Al lowances  for impairment of loans  and advances  to customers

·       Note 29. Provis ions  for l iabi l i ties  and charges

3. Operating segments

The Group is  organised into four operating segments , which cons ist of the di fferent products  avai lable, as  disclosed below.

Continuing operations

Consumer Finance

·       Retai l  Finance: a  market leading onl ine e-commerce service to retai lers , providing unsecured lending products  to
prime UK customers  to faci l i tate the purchase of a  wide range of consumer products , including bicycles , musical
instruments  and equipment, furniture, outdoor/leisure, electronics , dental , jewel lery, home improvements  and
footbal l  season tickets .

·       Vehicle Finance: hire purchase lending for used cars  to prime and near-prime customers  and Personal  Contract
Purchase lending into the consumer prime credit market, both secured against the vehicle financed. In addition, a
Stocking Funding product is  a lso offered, whereby funds  are advanced and secured against dealer forecourt used car
stock; sourced from auctions, part exchanges  or trade sources.

Business Finance

·       Real  Estate Finance: lending secured against property assets  to a  maximum 70% loan-to-value ratio, on fixed or
variable rates  over a  term of up to five years .

·       Commercial  Finance: lending is  predominantly against receivables , typical ly releas ing 90% of qual i fying invoices
under invoice discounting faci l i ties . Other assets  can also be funded either long or short-term and for a  range of loan-
to-value ratios  a longs ide these services . Additional  lending to existing customers  through the Government-guaranteed
Coronavirus  Bus iness  Interruption Loan Scheme, Coronavirus  Large Bus iness  Interruption Loan Scheme and Recovery
Loan Scheme is  a lso provided.

Other

·       This  principal ly includes  interest receivable from central  banks, interest receivable and payable on derivatives  and
interest payable on deposits  from customers, amounts  due to banks  and subordinated l iabi l i ties  which are not
recharged to the operating segments .

The Group's  chief operating decis ion-maker, the Group Chief Executive Officer, regularly reviews these segments  by looking
at the operating income, s ize of the loan books  and impairments .

Interest expense is  charged to the operating segments  in accordance with the  Group's  internal  funds  transfer pricing
pol icy.

Operating expenses  are not a l igned to operating segments  for the day-to-day management of the bus iness , so they cannot
be al located on a rel iable bas is . Additional ly, no balance sheet i tems are a l located to segments  other than loans  and
advances  to customers.

Discontinued operations

Debt Management: a  credit management services  bus iness  that primari ly invested in purchased debt portfol ios  from third
parties , as  wel l  as  fel low group undertakings. The Debt Management loan book was sold during 2022 and the res idual
operations  wound down.

Interest
income

and similar
income

£million

Interest
expense

and similar
charges

£million

Net
interest
income

£million

Net fee and
commission

income
£million

Operating
income

from
external

customers
£million

Net
impairment

charge on
loans and

advances to
customers

£million

Loans and
advances

to
customers

£million
31 December 2023

 Retai l  Finance  106.5 (33.4) 73.1  3.2 76.3  15.9  1,223.2

 Vehicle Finance  59.1 (15.0) 44.1  1.8 45.9  14.8  467.2

Consumer Finance  165.6 (48.4) 117.2  5.0 122.2  30.7  1,690.4

 Real  Estate Finance  74.4 (44.7) 29.7  0.9 30.6  4.5  1,243.8

 Commercial  Finance  27.2 (14.0) 13.2  11.3 24.5  8.0  381.1

Business  Finance  101.6 (58.7) 42.9  12.2 55.1  12.5  1,624.9

Other  36.8 (29.4) 7.4 - 7.4  -  -

 304.0 (136.5) 167.5  17.2 184.7  43.2  3,315.3
 

Interest
income and

simi lar
income

£mil l ion

Interest
expense

and s imi lar
charges

£mi l l ion

Net interest
income

£mil l ion

Net fee and
commiss ion

income
£mil l ion

Operating
income

from
external

customers
£mi l l ion

Net
impairment

charge on
loans  and
advances

to
customers

£mi l l ion

Loans and
advances

to
customers

£mi l l ion
31 December 2022

 Retai l  Finance 74.4 (13.2) 61.2 3.6 64.8 14.8 1,054.5

 Vehicle Finance 46.6 (7.7) 38.9 1.4 40.3 21.3 373.1

 Debt Management 5.3 (0.8) 4.5 4.1 8.6 0.8 -

Consumer Finance 126.3 (21.7) 104.6 9.1 113.7 36.9 1,427.6

 Real  Estate Finance 57.4 (27.7) 29.7 0.2 29.9 1.3 1,115.5

 Commercial  Finance 17.5 (6.1) 11.4 11.6 23.0 0.8 376.4

Business  Finance 74.9 (33.8) 41.1 11.8 52.9 2.1 1,491.9



Business  Finance 74.9 (33.8) 41.1 11.8 52.9 2.1 1,491.9

Other 7.1 4.3 11.4 0.2 11.6 - -

208.3 (51.2) 157.1 21.1 178.2 39.0 2,919.5

Of which:

 Continuing 203.0 (50.4) 152.6 17.0 169.6 38.2 2,919.5

 Discontinued (Note 10) 5.3 (0.8) 4.5 4.1 8.6 0.8 -

Al l  of the Group's  operations  are conducted whol ly within the United Kingdom and geographical  information is  therefore
not presented.

4. Operating income

Al l  i tems below arise from financial  instruments  measured at amortised cost unless  otherwise stated.

4.1 Net interest income

2023
£million

2022
£mil l ion

Loans and advances  to customers 267.0 201.1

Cash and Bank of England reserve account 17.5 4.6

Debt securi ties - 0.1

284.5 205.8

Income on financial  instruments  hedging assets 19.5 2.5

Interest income and similar income 304.0 208.3

Of which:

 Continuing 304.0 203.0

 Discontinued (Note 10) - 5.3

Deposits  from customers (88.2) (38.4)

Due to banks (18.7) (5.7)

Subordinated l iabi l i ties (10.7) (3.4)

Other (0.1) (0.1)

(117.7) (47.6)

Expense on financial  instruments  hedging l iabi l i ties (18.8) (3.6)

Interest expense and similar charges (136.5) (51.2)

Of which:

 Continuing (136.5) (50.4)

 Discontinued (Note 10) - (0.8)

Interest income and expense accounting policy

For a l l  financial  instruments  measured at amortised cost, the EIR method is  used to measure the carrying value and
al locate interest income or expense. The EIR is  the rate that exactly discounts  estimated future cash payments  or receipts
through the expected l i fe of the financial  instrument to:

·       the gross  carrying amount of the financial  asset; or

·       the amortised cost of the financial  l iabi l i ty.

In calculating the EIR for financial  instruments , other than assets  that were credit-impaired on ini tia l  recognition, the
Group estimates  cash flows cons idering a l l  contractual  terms of the financial  instrument (for example, early redemption
penalty charges  and broker commiss ions) and anticipated customer behaviour but does  not cons ider future credit losses .

The calculation of the EIR includes  a l l  fees  received and paid that are an integral  part of the loan, transaction costs  and al l
other premiums or discounts . Transaction costs  include incremental  costs  that are directly attributable to the acquis i tion
or issue of a  financial  instrument.

For financial  assets  that are not cons idered to be credit-impaired ('Stage 1' and 'Stage 2' assets), interest income is
recognised by applying the EIR to the gross  carrying amount of the financial  asset. For financial  assets  that become credit-
impaired subsequent to ini tia l  recognition ('Stage 3' assets), from the next reporting period onwards  interest income is
recognised by applying the EIR to the amortised cost of the financial  asset. The credit risk of financial  assets  that become
credit-impaired are not expected to improve such that they are no longer cons idered credit-impaired, however, i f this  were
to occur the calculation of interest income would revert back to the gross  bas is . The Group's  defini tion of Stage 1, Stage 2
and Stage 3 assets  i s  set out in Note 16.

For financial  assets  that were credit-impaired on ini tia l  recognition ('POCI' assets), income is  calculated by applying the
credit adjusted EIR to the amortised cost of the asset. Col lection activi ty costs  are not included in the amortised cost of the
assets , but are included in operating expenses  in the income statement, and are recognised as  incurred, in common with
other bus inesses  in the sector. For such financial  assets  the calculation of interest income wi l l  never revert to a  gross
bas is , even i f the credit risk of the asset improves.

Further detai ls  regarding when an asset becomes credit-impaired subsequent to ini tia l  recognition is  provided within Note
16.

4.2 Net fee and commission income

2023
£million

2022
£mil l ion

Fee and disbursement income 16.4 19.8

Commiss ion income 0.9 1.4

Other income - 0.3

Fee and commission income 17.3 21.5



Fee and commission income 17.3 21.5

Of which:

 Continuing 17.3 17.4

 Discontinued (Note 10) - 4.1

Other expenses (0.1) (0.4)

Fee and commission expense - Continuing (0.1) (0.4)

Fees  and commiss ion income is  a l l  recognised under IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts  to customers  and cons ists  principal ly
of the fol lowing:

·       Commercial  Finance - discounting, service and arrangement fees.

·       Retai l  Finance - principal ly comprises  of account management fees  received from customers  and referral  fees  received
from third parties .

·       Vehicle Finance - primari ly relates  to vehicle col lection and damage charges  made to customers  and loan
administration fees  charged to dealers  in respect of the Stock Funding product.

Fee and commission accounting policy

Fees  and commiss ion income that is  not cons idered an integral  part of the EIR of a  financial  instrument are recognised
under IFRS 15 when the Group satis fies  performance obl igations  by transferring promised services  to customers  and
presented in the income statement as  fee and commiss ion income. Al l  of the Group's  fees  and commiss ions  relate to
performance obl igations  that are recognised at a  point in time.

Fees  and commiss ion income and expenses  that are an integral  part of the EIR of a  financial  instrument are included in the
EIR and presented in the income statement as  interest income or expense.

No s igni ficant judgements  are made in evaluating when a customer obtains  control  of promised goods or services .

5. Fair value and other gains/(losses) on financial instruments

2023
£million

2022
£mil l ion

Fair value movement during the year - Interest rate derivatives (6.1) 10.6

Fair value movement during the year - Hedged i tems 6.2 (10.9)

Hedge ineffectiveness  recognised in the income statement 0.1 (0.3)

Losses  recognised on derivatives  not in hedge relationships (0.8) -

Extinguishment gain on redemption of subordinated debt 1.2 -

0.5 (0.3)

The extinguishment gain on redemption of subordinated debt relates  to the redemption during the year at a  discount to par
of the £50 mi l l ion 6.75% Fixed Rate Reset Cal lable Subordinated Notes  due in 2028.

As  a  part of i ts  risk management strategy, the Group uses  derivatives  to economical ly hedge financial  assets  and l iabi l i ties .
For further information on the Group's  risk management strategy for market risk see the Group's  Strategic Report.

Hedge accounting is  employed by the Group to minimise the accounting volati l i ty associated with the change in fa i r value
of derivative financial  instruments . This  volati l i ty does  not reflect the economic real i ty of the Group's  hedging strategy, the
Group only uses  derivatives  for the hedging of risks .

5.1 Fair value gain/(loss) recognised in other comprehensive income
2023

£million
2022

£mil l ion
Cash flow hedges

Fair value movement in year - Interest rate derivatives - (0.8)

Interest reclass i fied to the income statement during the year 0.6 0.1

Fair value gain/(loss) recognised in other comprehensive income 0.6 (0.7)

Although the Group uses  interest rate derivatives  exclus ively to hedge interest rate risk exposures, income statement
volati l i ty can sti l l  arise due to hedge accounting ineffectiveness  or because hedge accounting is  not achievable. Where
such volati l i ty arises  i t wi l l  net to zero over the l i fe of the hedging relationship. Al l  derivatives  held by the Group have been
highly effective in the year, resulting in minimal  hedge accounting ineffectiveness  recognised in the income statement.
Future ineffectiveness  may arise as  a  result of:

·       differences  between the expected and actual  volume of prepayments , as  the Group hedges  to the expected repayment
date taking into account expected prepayments  based on past experience; or

·       differences  in the timing of cash flows for the hedged i tem and the hedging instrument.

How fair value and cash flow hedge accounting affect the consol idated financial  s tatements  and the main sources  of the
res idual  hedge ineffectiveness  remaining in the income statement are set out below. Further information on the current
derivative portfol io and the al location to hedge accounting types  is  included in Note 17.

Derivative financial instruments accounting policy

The Group enters  into derivatives  to manage exposures  to fluctuations  in interest rates . Derivatives  are not used for
speculative purposes. Derivatives  are carried at fa i r value, with movements  in fa i r value recognised in the income
statement or other comprehensive income. Derivatives  are valued by discounted cash flow models  us ing yield curves  based
on Overnight Indexed Swap ('OIS') rates . Al l  derivatives  are carried as  assets  where fa ir value is  pos itive and as  l iabi l i ties
when fair value is  negative. Derivatives  are not offset in the consol idated financial  s tatements  unless  the Group has  both a
legal ly enforceable right and intention to offset. The Group does  not hold contracts  containing embedded derivatives .

Where cash col lateral  i s  received, to mitigate the risk inherent in the amounts  due to the Group, i t i s  included as  a  l iabi l i ty
within the due to banks  l ine within the statement of financial  pos ition. Where cash col lateral  i s  given, to mitigate the risk
inherent in amounts  due from the Group, i t i s  included as  an asset in the loans  and advances  to banks  l ine within the



inherent in amounts  due from the Group, i t i s  included as  an asset in the loans  and advances  to banks  l ine within the
statement of financial  pos ition.

Hedge accounting

Fol lowing the implementation of IFRS 9, the Group elected to apply IAS 39 for a l l  of i ts  hedge accounting requirements .
When transactions  meet speci fied cri teria  the Group can apply two types  of hedge accounting:

·       Hedges of the fa ir value of recognised assets  or l iabi l i ties  or fi rm commitments  (fa i r value hedges).

·       Hedges of highly probable future cash flows attributable to a  recognised asset or l iabi l i ty (cash flow hedges).

The Group does  not have hedges  of net investments .

At inception of a  hedge, the Group formal ly documents  the relationship between the hedged i tems and hedging instruments ,
as  wel l  as  i ts  risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various  hedge transactions. The Group also
documents  i ts  assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing bas is , of whether the derivatives  that are used in
hedging transactions  are highly effective in offsetting changes  in fa i r values  of the hedged i tems (i .e. the fa ir value offset
between the hedged i tem and hedging instrument is  within the 80% -125% range).

When the European Union adopted IAS 39 in 2004, i t removed certain hedge accounting requirements , commonly referred
to as  the EU carve-out. The relaxed requirements  under the carve-out a l low the Group to apply the 'bottom up' method
when calculating macro-hedge ineffectiveness . This  option is  not a l lowed under ful l  IFRS. The Group has  appl ied the EU
carve-out accordingly.

Fair value hedge accounting

Fair value hedge accounting results  in the carrying value of the hedged i tem being adjusted to reflect changes  in fa i r value
attributable to the hedged risk, thereby offsetting the effect of the related movement in the fa ir value of the derivative.
Changes  in the fa ir value of derivatives  and hedged i tems that are des ignated and qual i fy as  fa i r value hedges  are recorded
in the income statement.

In a  one-to-one hedging relationship, in which a s ingle derivative hedges  a  s ingle hedged i tem, the carrying value of the
underlying asset or l iabi l i ty (the hedged i tem) is  adjusted for the hedged risk to offset the fa ir value movement of the
related derivative. In the case of a  portfol io hedge, an adjustment is  included in the fa ir value adjustments  for portfol io
hedged risk l ine in the statement of financial  pos ition to offset the fa ir value movements  in the related derivative. The
Group currently only des ignates  portfol io hedges.

If the hedge no longer meets  the cri teria  for hedge accounting, expires  or i s  terminated, the cumulative fa ir value
adjustment to the carrying amount of a  hedged i tem is  amortised to the income statement over the period to maturi ty of the
previous ly des ignated hedge relationship and recorded as  net interest income. If the underlying i tem is  sold or repaid, the
unamortised fa ir value adjustment is  immediately recognised in the income statement.

Cash flow hedge accounting

The effective portion of changes  in the fa ir value of derivatives  that are des ignated and qual i fy as  cash flow hedges  are
recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the cash flow hedge reserve in equity. Any ineffective portion
of changes  in the fa ir value of the derivative is  recognised immediately in the income statement. Amounts  recognised in the
cash flow hedge reserve are subsequently reclass i fied to the income statement when the underlying asset or l iabi l i ty being
hedged impacts  the income statement, for example, when interest payments  are recognised, and are recorded in the same
income statement l ine in which the income or expense associated with the related hedged i tem is  reported.

When a hedging instrument expires  or i s  sold, or when a hedge no longer meets  the cri teria  for hedge accounting, any
cumulative gain or loss  existing in equity at that time remains  in equity and is  recognised in the periods  when the hedged
item affects  the income statement. When a forecast transaction is  no longer expected to occur (for example, the recognised
hedged i tem is  disposed of), the cumulative gain or loss  previous ly recognised in other comprehensive income is
immediately reclass i fied to the income statement.

The cash flow hedge reserve represents  the cumulative amount of gains  and losses  on hedging instruments  deemed
effective in cash flow hedges. The cumulative deferred gain or loss  on the hedging instrument is  recognised in profi t or loss
only when the hedged transaction impacts  the profi t or loss  or i s  included directly in the ini tia l  cost or other carrying
amount of the hedged non-financial  i tems (bas is  adjustment).

6. Operating expenses

2023
£million

2022
£mil l ion

Employee costs , including those of Directors :

 Wages and salaries 49.5 47.9

 Social  securi ty costs 5.6 5.7

 Pension costs 1.8 2.1

 Share-based payment transactions 1.1 1.8

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 19) 0.9 1.2

Depreciation of lease right-of-use assets  (Note 20) 0.7 0.7

Amortisation of intangible assets  (Note 21) 1.2 1.4

Operating lease rentals 0.7 0.7

Other administrative expenses 40.9 40.6

Total operating expenses 102.4 102.1

Of which:

 Continuing 99.7 93.2

 Discontinued (Note 10) 2.7 8.9

As described in Note 3, operating expenses  are not a l igned to operating segments  for the day-to-day management of the
business , so they cannot be al located on a rel iable bas is .

Post-retirement obligations accounting policy

The Group contributes  to defined contribution schemes for the benefi t of certain employees. The schemes are funded
through payments  to insurance companies  or trustee-administered funds  at the contribution rates  agreed with individual



through payments  to insurance companies  or trustee-administered funds  at the contribution rates  agreed with individual
employees. The Group has  no further payment obl igations  once the contributions  have been paid. The contributions  are
recognised as  an employee benefi t expense when they are due. There are no post-reti rement benefi ts  other than pensions.

Remuneration of the Auditor and i ts  associates , excluding VAT, was  as  fol lows:

2023
£million

2022
£mil l ion

Fees  payable to the Company's  Auditor for the audit of the Company's  annual  accounts 1.0 0.8

Fees  payable to the Company's  Auditor for other services:

 Other assurance services 0.2 0.1

1.2 0.9

Other assurance services  related to the Interim independent review report and profi t certi fication and a comfort letter in
relation to the Tier 2 capital  i ssuance (2022: Interim independent review report and profi t certi fication).

7. Average number of employees

2023
Number

2022
Number

Directors 7 8

Other senior management 23 28

Other employees 849 904

879 940

8. Exceptional items

Borrowers in financial difficulty ('BiFD') Vehicle Finance collections review

Fol lowing the Financial  Conduct Authori ty's  review of BiFD across  the industry, and in response to the speci fic feedback we
received on our own col lection activi ties , we have engaged external  support to ass ist us  and, where necessary, are
enhancing our approach, which includes  offering a  wider range of forbearance options  to our customers. We have incurred
or provided for costs  of £4.7 mi l l ion (compris ing £2.7 mi l l ion costs  and £2.0 mi l l ion potentia l  redress/goodwi l l ) (2022:
£ni l ) relating to processes , procedures  and pol icies  in our Vehicle Finance col lections  operations. Costs  associated with
these activi ties  are outs ide the normal  course of bus iness  and are treated as  exceptional . We expect the review to be
completed in H2 2024.

Corporate activity

Corporate activi ties  undertaken outs ide the normal  course of bus iness  and amounted to £1.8 mi l l ion (2022: £ni l ).

Income tax on exceptional items

Income tax on exceptional  i tems amount to £0.6 mi l l ion credit (2022: £ni l ).

Exceptional items accounting policy

Exceptional  i tems are expenses  that do not relate to the Group's  core activi ties , which are materia l  in the context of the
Group's  performance.

9. Income tax expense

2023
£million

2022
£mil l ion

Current taxation

Corporation Tax charge - current year 8.0 8.4

Corporation Tax (credit)/charge - adjustments  in respect of prior years (0.1) 0.1

7.9 8.5

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax charge - current year 1.3 1.9

Deferred tax credit - adjustments  in respect of prior years (0.1) (0.1)

1.2 1.8

Income tax expense 9.1 10.3

Of which:

 Continuing 9.7 9.4

 Discontinued (Note 10) (0.6) 0.9

Tax reconci l iation

Profi t before tax 33.4 44.0

Tax at 23.50% (2022: 19.00%) 7.8 8.4

Permanent di fferences  on exceptional  i tems 0.9 -

Other permanent di fferences 0.3 0.4

Rate change on deferred tax assets 0.1 1.2

Other adjustments  including prior year adjustments - 0.3

Income tax expense for the year 9.1 10.3

The Corporation Tax rate increased from 19% to 25%, with effect from 1 Apri l  2023, giving a  rate of 23.5% for the year to 31
December 2023. At the same time, the banking surcharge reduced from 8% to 3% and the surcharge al lowance avai lable to
a banking group increased from £25 mi l l ion to £100 mi l l ion. These changes  were enacted prior to the start of 2023, and so
opening and clos ing 2023 deferred asset values  have been calculated from expected future tax rel ief based on these
enacted rates . There was a  deferred tax charge in 2022, aris ing from the changes  to the banking surcharge enacted in 2022.
The main component of the deferred tax asset i s  deferred tax on the IFRS 9 trans ition adjustment, which reverses  on a
straight-l ine bas is  over 10 years  commencing in 2018.



straight-l ine bas is  over 10 years  commencing in 2018.

Income tax accounting policy

Current income tax, which is  payable on taxable profi ts , i s  recognised as  an expense in the period in which the profi ts
arise.

Deferred tax is  provided in ful l  on temporary di fferences  aris ing between the tax bases  of assets  and l iabi l i ties  and their
carrying amounts  in the consol idated financial  s tatements . Deferred tax is  determined us ing tax rates  and laws that have
been enacted or substantia l ly enacted by the statement of financial  pos ition date and are expected to apply when the
related deferred tax asset i s  real ised or the deferred tax l iabi l i ty i s  settled.

10. Discontinued operations

The Group sold Debt Managers  (Services) Limited's  ('DMS') portfol io of loans  during 2022. As  the Group has  exi ted this
market, the results  of the Debt Management bus iness  have presented as  discontinued operations.

Income statement
2023

£million
2022

£mil l ion
Interest income and s imi lar income - 5.3

Interest expense and s imi lar charges - (0.8)

Net interest income - 4.5

Fee and commiss ion income - 4.1

Net fee and commission income - 4.1

Operating income - 8.6

Net impairment charge on loans  and advances  to customers - (0.8)

Overal l  profi t on disposal  of loan portfol ios  (see below) - 6.1

Operating expenses (2.7) (8.9)

(Loss)/profit before income tax from discontinued operations (2.7) 5.0

Income tax credit/(charge) 0.6 (0.9)

(Loss)/profit for the year from discontinued operations (2.1) 4.1

Basic earnings per ordinary share - discontinued operations (11.2) 22.0

Diluted earnings per ordinary share - discontinued operations (10.9) 21.3
2023 operating expenses  relate to the costs  of winding down the bus iness .

2022
£mil l ion

Consideration received 81.9

Carrying value of loan books  disposed (71.8)

Sel l ing costs (1.2)

Profit on disposal of loan book (including selling costs) 8.9

Other closure costs (2.8)

Overall profit on disposal of loan portfolio 6.1

 

Net cash flows
2023

£million
2022

£mil l ion
Operating (2.7) (82.6)

Investing - 81.9

Financing - (0.1)

Net cash outflow (2.7) (0.8)

11. Earnings per ordinary share

11.1 Basic

Basic earnings  per ordinary share are calculated by dividing the profi t attributable to equity holders  of the parent by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares  as  fol lows:

2023 2022
Profi t attributable to equity holders  of the parent (£mi l l ion) 24.3 33.7

Weighted average number of ordinary shares  (number) 18,751,059 18,672,650

Earnings per share (pence) 129.6 180.5

11.2 Diluted

Di luted earnings  per ordinary share are calculated by dividing the profi t attributable to equity holders  of the parent by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares  in issue during the year, as  noted above, as  wel l  as  the number of di lutive
share options  in issue during the year, as  fol lows:

2023 2022
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 18,751,059 18,672,650

Number of di lutive shares  in issue at the year-end 515,782 617,340

Fully diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares 19,266,841 19,289,990

Di lutive shares  being based on:

Number of options  outstanding at the year-end 1,210,544 1,206,639

Weighted average exercise price (pence) 225 304

Average share price during the year (pence) 719 1,040

Diluted earnings per share (pence) 126.1 174.7



12. Dividends
2023

£million
2022

£mil l ion
2023 interim dividend - 16.0 pence per share (paid September 2023) 3.0 -

2022 final  dividend - 29.1 pence per share (paid May 2023) 5.4 -

2022 interim dividend - 16.0 pence per share (paid September 2022) - 3.0

2021 final  dividend - 41.1 pence per share (paid May 2022) - 7.7

8.4 10.7

The Directors  recommend the payment of a  final  dividend of 16.2 pence per share (2022: 29.1 pence per share). The final
dividend, i f approved by members  at the Annual  General  Meeting, wi l l  be paid on 23 May 2024, with an associated record
date of 26 Apri l  2024.

Dividends accounting policy

Final  dividends on ordinary shares  are recognised in equity in the period in which they are approved by shareholders .
Interim dividends on ordinary shares  are recognised in equity in the period in which they are paid.

13. Loans and advances to banks

Moody's  long-term ratings  are as  fol lows:

Group
2023

£million

Group
2022

£mil l ion

Company
2023

£million

Company
2022

£mil l ion
Aaa - Aa3 4.8 3.7 4.8 3.7

A1 48.9 41.6 48.2 40.0

Arbuthnot Latham & Co. Limited - Unrated - 5.2 - 5.2

53.7 50.5 53.0 48.9

None of the loans  and advances  to banks  are ei ther past due or impaired. Loans  and advances  to banks  includes  £5.0
mi l l ion (2022: £3.7 mi l l ion), which the Group and Company does  not have access  to, and are therefore excluded from cash
and cash equivalents . See Note 35.1 for a  reconci l iation to cash and cash equivalents .

14. Loans and advances to customers

Group and Company

2023
£million

2022
£mil l ion

Gross  loans  and advances 3,403.4 2,997.5

Less: a l lowances  for impairment of loans  and advances  (Note 16) (88.1) (78.0)

3,315.3 2,919.5

The fa ir value of loans  and advances  to customers  is  shown in Note 41. Loans  and advances  to customers  includes  finance
lease receivables  of £450.3 mi l l ion (2022: £371.2 mi l l ion). See Note 15 for further detai ls .

Retai l  Finance assets  of £1,004.9 mi l l ion (2022: £810.6 mi l l ion) were pre-pos itioned under the Bank of England's  l iquidity
support operations  and Term Funding Scheme with additional  incentives  for SMEs and are avai lable for use as  col lateral
within the schemes.

The Real  Estate Finance loan book of £1,243.8 mi l l ion (2022: £1,115.5 mi l l ion) i s  secured upon real  estate, which had a
loan-to-value of 57% at 31 December 2023 (2022: 58%).

Under i ts  credit pol icy, the Real  Estate Finance bus iness  lends  to a  maximum loan-to-value of:

·       70% for investment loans;

·       60% for res identia l  development loans*;

·       65% for certain res identia l  higher leveraged development loans*, which is  subject to an overal l  cap on such lending
agreed by management according to risk appeti te; and

·       65% for commercial  development loans*.

* based on gross  development value.

Al l  property valuations  at loan inception, and the majori ty of development stage valuations, are performed by independent
Chartered Surveyors , who perform their work in accordance with the Royal  Insti tution of Chartered Surveyors  Valuation -
Profess ional  Standards.

£1.7 mi l l ion of cash col lateral  has  been received as  at 31 December 2023 in respect of certain loans  and advances  (2022:
£6.8 mi l l ion).

The accounting pol icy for loans  and advances  to customers  is  included in Note 1.5 Financial  assets  and financial
l iabi l i ties  accounting pol icy.

15. Finance lease receivables

Group and Company

Loans  and advances  to customers  include finance lease receivables  as  fol lows:

2023
£million

2022
£mil l ion

Gross  investment in finance lease receivables:

- Not more than one year 186.2 157.6

- Later than one year and no later than five years 446.1 365.6

632.3 523.2

Unearned future finance income on finance leases (182.0) (152.0)



Unearned future finance income on finance leases (182.0) (152.0)

Net investment in finance leases 450.3 371.2

The net investment in finance leases  may be analysed as  fol lows:

- Not more than one year 113.3 93.7

- Later than one year and no later than five years 337.0 277.5

450.3 371.2

Finance lease receivables  include Vehicle Finance loans  to consumers.

Lessor accounting policy

The present value of the lease payments  on assets  leased to customers  under agreements  that transfer substantia l ly a l l  the
risks  and rewards  of ownership, with or without ul timate legal  ti tle, are recognised as  a  receivable. The di fference between
the gross  receivable and the present value of the receivable is  recognised as  unearned finance income. Lease income is
recognised over the term of the lease us ing the net investment method, which reflects  a  constant periodic rate of return.

16. Allowances for impairment of loans and advances

Group and Company

Not credit-impaired
Credit-

impaired
Stage 1:

Subject to
12-month

ECL
£million

Stage 2:
Subject to

lifetime ECL
£million

Stage 3:
Subject to

lifetime ECL
£million

Total
provision

£million

Gross loans
and

advances to
customers

£million

Provision
coverage

%
31 December 2023

Consumer Finance:

 Retai l  Finance 12.0 11.8 8.3 32.1 1,255.3 2.6%

 Vehicle Finance:

 Voluntary termination provis ion  6.7 - -  6.7

 Other impairment  10.0  5.6  23.6  39.2

 16.7  5.6  23.6  45.9 513.1 8.9%

Business  Finance:

 Real  Estate Finance  0.3  0.7  7.0  8.0 1,251.8 0.6%

 Commercial  Finance  0.5  0.1  1.5  2.1 383.2 0.5%

 29.5  18.2  40.4  88.1 3,403.4 2.6%

 

Not credit-impaired
Credit-

impaired

Stage 1:
Subject to
12-month

ECL
£mil l ion

Stage 2:
Subject to

l i fetime ECL
£mil l ion

Stage 3:
Subject to

l i fetime ECL
£mil l ion

Total
provis ion

£mil l ion

Gross
loans  and
advances

to
customers

£mi l l ion

Provis ion
coverage

%
31 December 2022

Consumer Finance:

 Retai l  Finance 12.7 9.8 5.7 28.2 1,082.7 2.6%

 Vehicle Finance:

 Voluntary termination provis ion 3.7 - - 3.7

 Other impairment 7.3 16.4 17.0 40.7

11.0 16.4 17.0 44.4 417.5 10.6%

Business  Finance:

 Real  Estate Finance 0.3 1.1 2.0 3.4 1,118.9 0.3%

 Commercial  Finance 0.3 1.3 0.4 2.0 378.4 0.5%

24.3 28.6 25.1 78.0 2,997.5 2.6%

The impairment charge disclosed in the income statement can be analysed as  fol lows:

2023
£million

2022
£mil l ion

Expected credit losses: impairment charge 37.3 38.9

(Credit)/charge in respect of off balance sheet loan commitments  (Note 29) (0.3) 0.2

Loans  written off/(recovered) directly to the income statement¹ 6.2 (0.1)

43.2 39.0

Of which:

 Continuing 43.2 38.2

 Discontinued (Note 10) - 0.8
1. The impairment charge for 2023 includes a £7.2 million charge relating to a single long-running debt case, of which £6.3 million was written off

directly to the income statement.

Total  provis ions  above include expert credit judgements  as  fol lows:

2023
£million

2022
£mil l ion

Speci fic overlays  held against credit-impaired secured assets  held within the Bus iness  Finance
portfol io (1.0) 0.7

Management judgement in respect of:

- Consumer Finance affordabi l i ty - 2.5



- Consumer Finance affordabi l i ty - 2.5

- Vehicle Finance used car valuations - 1.3

- Vehicle Finance LGD on Stage 3 balances (2.1) -

Other 1.9 (1.6)

Expert credit judgements  over the IFRS 9 model  results (1.2) 2.9

The speci fic overlays  for Bus iness  Finance have been estimated on an individual  bas is  by assess ing the recoverabi l i ty and
condition of the secured asset, a long with any other recoveries  that may be made.

For further detai ls  on Vehicle Finance used car valuations  and Consumer Finance affordabi l i ty, see Notes  16.1.4 and
16.2.1, respectively.

Reconci l iations  of the opening to clos ing a l lowance for impairment of loans  and advances  are presented below:

Not credit-impaired
Credit-

impaired
Stage 1:

Subject to
12-month

ECL
£million

Stage 2:
Subject to

lifetime ECL
£million

Stage 3:
Subject to

lifetime ECL
£million

Total
£million

At 1 January 2023 24.3 28.6 25.1 78.0

(Decrease)/increase due to change in credit risk

- Transfer to Stage 2 (10.4) 56.1 - 45.7

- Transfer to Stage 3 (0.1) (30.6) 41.9 11.2

- Transfer to Stage 1 10.2 (35.3) - (25.1)

Passage of time (9.1) 3.5 3.7 (1.9)

New loans  originated 20.5 - - 20.5

Matured and derecognised loans (2.3) (4.6) (4.7) (11.6)

Changes  to credit risk parameters (5.3) 0.5 0.3 (4.5)

Other adjustments 3.0 - - 3.0

Charge/(credit) to income statement 6.5 (10.4) 41.2 37.3

Al lowance uti l i sed in respect of write-offs (1.3) - (25.9) (27.2)

31 December 2023 29.5 18.2 40.4 88.1

Group

Not credit-impaired
Credit-

impaired
Stage 1:

Subject to
12-month

ECL
£mil l ion

Stage 2:
Subject to

l i fetime ECL
£mil l ion

Stage 3:
Subject to

l i fetime ECL
£mil l ion

Total
£mi l l ion

At 1 January 2022 18.5 20.0 29.0 67.5

(Decrease)/increase due to change in credit risk

- Transfer to Stage 2 (8.8) 46.3 - 37.5

- Transfer to Stage 3 (0.4) (21.4) 29.5 7.7

- Transfer to Stage 1 2.3 (4.6) - (2.3)

Passage of time (6.3) (0.7) (2.5) (9.5)

New loans  originated 23.2 - - 23.2

Matured and derecognised loans (2.9) (3.8) (5.2) (11.9)

Changes  to credit risk parameters (2.9) (7.2) 1.9 (8.2)

Other adjustments 2.4 - - 2.4

Charge to income statement 6.6 8.6 23.7 38.9

Al lowance uti l i sed in respect of write-offs (0.8) - (27.6) (28.4)

31 December 2022 24.3 28.6 25.1 78.0

 

During the prior year, £8.1 mi l l ion was uti l i sed in respect of the DMS book sale.

The tables  above have been prepared based on monthly movements  in the ECL.

Passage of time represents  the impact of accounts  maturing through their contractual  l i fe, the associated reduction in PDs
and the unwind of the discount appl ied in calculating the ECL.

Changes  to credit risk parameters  represent movements  that have occurred due to the Group updating model  inputs . This
would include the impact of, for example, updating the macroeconomic scenarios  appl ied to the models .

Other adjustments  represents  the movement in the Vehicle Finance voluntary termination provis ion.

Stage 1 write-offs  arise on Vehicle Finance accounts  where borrowers  have exercised their right to voluntari ly terminate
their agreements .

A breakdown of the gross  receivable by internal  credit risk rating is  shown below:

Group and Company

2023 2022
Stage 1

£million
Stage 2

£million
Stage 3

£million
Total

£million
Stage 1

£mi l l ion
Stage 2

£mi l l ion
Stage 3

£mi l l ion
Total

£mi l l ion
Business  Finance:



Strong 57.9 - - 57.9 127.5 - - 127.5

Good 1,087.8 4.5  - 1,092.3 962.4 28.5 - 990.9

Satis factory 236.5 82.0 28.8 347.3 195.7 125.7 1.8 323.2

Weak - 59.3 78.2 137.5 - 40.2 15.5 55.7

1,382.2 145.8 107.0 1,635.0 1,285.6 194.4 17.3 1,497.3
 

Consumer Finance:

Good 706.0 58.9 10.1 775.0 601.5 77.6 6.0 685.1

Satis factory 596.5 54.4 18.4 669.3 495.3 60.5 9.3 565.1

Weak 266.8 38.7 18.6 324.1 197.4 38.2 14.4 250.0

1,569.3 152.0 47.1 1,768.4 1,294.2 176.3 29.7 1,500.2

Internal  credit risk rating is  based on the most recent credit risk score of a  customer.

Company

Al l  Company al lowances  for impairment of loans  and advances  are the same as  Group, except for the table below. For the
Company disclosure, see the Group tables  above and Note 24.

Not credit-impaired
Credit-

impaired
Stage 1:

Subject to
12-month

ECL
£mil l ion

Stage 2:
Subject to

l i fetime ECL
£mil l ion

Stage 3:
Subject to

l i fetime ECL
£mil l ion

Total
£mi l l ion

At 1 January 2022 18.6 20.3 22.0 60.9

(Decrease)/increase due to change in credit risk

- Transfer to Stage 2 (8.8) 46.3 - 37.5

- Transfer to Stage 3 (0.4) (21.4) 29.5 7.7

- Transfer to Stage 1 2.3 (4.6) - (2.3)

Passage of time (6.4) (1.0) (1.8) (9.2)

New loans  originated 23.2 - - 23.2

Matured and derecognised loans (2.9) (3.8) (5.2) (11.9)

Changes  to credit risk parameters (2.9) (7.2) 1.0 (9.1)

Other adjustments 2.4 - (0.2) 2.2

Charge to income statement 6.5 8.3 23.3 38.1

Al lowance uti l i sed in respect of write-offs (0.8) - (20.2) (21.0)

31 December 2022 24.3 28.6 25.1 78.0

The tables  above have been prepared based on monthly movements  in the ECL.

Passage of time represent the impact of accounts  maturing through their contractual  l i fe, the associated reduction in PDs
and the unwind of the discount appl ied in calculating the ECL.

Changes  to credit risk parameters  represent movements  that have occurred due to the Group updating model  inputs . This
would include the impact of, for example, updating the macroeconomic scenarios  appl ied to the models .

Other adjustments  represents  the movement in the Vehicle Finance voluntary termination provis ion.

Stage 1 write-offs  arise on Vehicle Finance accounts  that have exercised their right to voluntari ly terminate their
agreements .

Impairment of financial assets and loan commitments accounting policy

The Group recognises  loss  a l lowances  for Expected Credit Losses  ('ECL') on al l  financial  assets  carried at amortised cost,
including lease receivables  and loan commitments . Credit loss  a l lowances  on Stage 1 assets  are measured as  an amount
equal  to 12-month ECL and credit loss  a l lowances  on Stage 2 and Stage 3 assets  are measured as  an amount equal  to
l i fetime ECL.

Stage 1 assets

 Stage 1 assets  comprise of the fol lowing:

·       Financial  assets  determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.

·       Financial  assets  that have not experienced a s igni ficant increase in credit risk s ince their ini tia l  recognition.

·       Financial  assets  that have experienced a s igni ficant increase in credit risk s ince their ini tia l  recognition, but have
subsequently met the Group's  cure pol icy, as  set out below.

A low credit risk asset i s  cons idered to have low credit risk when i ts  credit risk rating is  equivalent to the widely
understood defini tion of 'investment grade' assets . This  i s  not appl icable to loans  and advances  to customers, but the
Group has  assessed al l  i ts  debt securi ties , which represents  UK Treasury bi l l s , to be low credit risk.

Stage 2 assets

Loans  and advances  to customers  that have experienced a s igni ficant increase in credit risk s ince their ini tia l  recognition
and have not subsequently met the Group's  cure pol icy are class i fied as  Stage 2 assets  and are reclass i fied from stage 1 to
stage 2.

The Group's  defini tions  of a  s igni ficant increase in credit risk and default are set out below.

For Consumer Finance, the credit risk of a  financial  asset i s  cons idered to have experienced a s igni ficant increase in credit
risk s ince ini tia l  recognition where there has  been a s igni ficant increase in the remaining l i fetime probabi l i ty of default of
the asset. The Group may also use i ts  expert credit judgement, and where poss ible, relevant historical  and current
performance data, including bureau data, to determine that an exposure has  undergone a s igni ficant increase in credit



performance data, including bureau data, to determine that an exposure has  undergone a s igni ficant increase in credit
risk.

For Bus iness  Finance, the credit risk of a  financial  asset i s  cons idered to have experienced a s igni ficant increase in credit
risk where certain early warning indicators  apply. These indicators  may include noti fication of county court judgements  or,
speci fical ly for the Real  Estate Finance portfol io, cost over-runs  and timing delays  experienced by borrowers .

As  a  backstop, the Group cons iders  that a  s igni ficant increase in credit risk occurs  no later than when an asset i s  more
than 30 days  past due for a l l  portfol ios .

Stage 3 assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses  whether financial  assets  carried at amortised cost are credit-impaired or
defaulted (Stage 3). A financial  asset i s  cons idered to be credit-impaired when an event or events  that have a detrimental
impact on estimated future cash flows have occurred, or have other speci fic unl ikel iness  to pay indicators . Evidence that a
financial  asset i s  credit-impaired includes  the fol lowing observable data:

·       Ini tiation of bankruptcy proceedings.

·       Noti fication of bereavement.

·       Identi fication of loan meeting debt sale cri teria.

·       Ini tiation of repossess ion proceedings.

·       A materia l  covenant breach that has  remained unremedied for more than 90 days.

In addition, a  loan that i s  90 days  or more past due is  cons idered credit-impaired for a l l  portfol ios . The credit risk of
financial  assets  that become credit-impaired are not expected to improve so they remain credit-impaired.

For Commercial  Finance faci l i ties  that do not have a fixed term or repayment structure, evidence that a  financial  asset i s
credit-impaired includes:

·       the cl ient ceas ing to trade; or

·       unpaid debtor balances  that are dated at least s ix months  past their normal  recourse period.

Cure policy

The credit risk of a  financial  asset may improve such that i t i s  no longer cons idered to have experienced a s igni ficant
increase in credit risk i f i t meets  the Group's  cure pol icy. The Group's  cure pol icy for a l l  portfol ios  requires  sufficient
payments  to be made to bring an account back within less  than 30 days  past due and for such payments  to be maintained
for s ix consecutive months  in Vehicle Finance and three months  in Retai l  Finance.

For Consumer Finance loans, the Group has  determined Stage 3 to be an absorbing state. Once a loan is  in default i t i s  not
therefore expected to cure back to Stage 1 or 2.

Calculation of expected credit loss ('ECL')

ECL are probabi l i ty weighted estimates  of credit losses  that are measured as  the present value of a l l  cash shortfal ls .
Speci fical ly, this  i s  the di fference between the contractual  cash flows due and the cash flows expected to be received,
discounted at the original  effective interest rate. For undrawn loan commitments  ECL is  measured as  the di fference between
the contractual  cash flows due i f the commitment is  drawn and the cash flows expected to be received.

Li fetime ECL is  the ECL that results  from al l  poss ible default events  over the expected l i fe of a  financial  asset.

12-month ECL is  the portion of l i fetime ECL that results  from default events  on a financial  asset that are poss ible within 12
months  after the reporting date.

ECL are calculated by multiplying three main components: the Probabi l i ty of Default ('PD'), Exposure At Default ('EAD') and
Loss  Given Default ('LGD') discounted at the original  effective interest rate of an asset. These variables  are derived from
internal ly developed statistical  models  and historical  data, adjusted to reflect forward-looking information and are
discussed in turn further below. Management adjustments  are made to model led output to account for s i tuations, where
known, or expected risk factors  that have not been reflected in the model led outcome.

Probability of Default ('PD') and credit risk grades

Credit risk grades  are a  primary input into the determination of the PD for exposures. The Group al locates  each exposure to
a credit risk grade at origination and at each reporting period to predict the risk of default. Credit risk grades  are
determined us ing qual i tative and quanti tative factors  that are indicative of the risk of default e.g. arrears  status  and loan
appl ications  scores. These factors  vary for each loan portfol io. Exposures  are subject to ongoing monitoring, which may
result in an exposure being moved to a  di fferent credit risk grade. In monitoring exposures  information, such as  payment
records, request for forbearance strategies  and forecast changes  in economic conditions  are cons idered for Consumer
Finance. Additional ly, for Bus iness  Finance portfol ios  information obtained during periodic cl ient reviews, for example,
audited financial  s tatements , management accounts , budgets  and projections  are cons idered, with particular focus  on key
ratios , compl iance with covenants  and changes  in senior management teams.

Emergence curves  model l ing is  used in the production of forward-looking l i fetime PDs. This  method defines  the way that
debt emerges  for di ffering qual i ty accounts  and their time on the books  creating a  clean relationship to best demonstrate
the movement in default rates  as  macroeconomic variables  are changed. These models  are extrapolated to provide PD
estimates  for the future, based on forecasted economic scenarios .

Exposure at Default ('EAD')

EAD represents  the expected exposure in the event of a  default. EAD is  derived from the current exposure and potentia l
changes  to the current amount a l lowed under the terms of the contract, including amortisation overpayments  and early
terminations. The EAD of a  financial  asset i s  i ts  gross  carrying amount. For loan commitments  the EAD includes  the amount
drawn, as  wel l  as  potentia l  future amounts  that may be drawn under the terms of the contract, estimated based on
historical  observations  and forward-looking forecasts .

For Commercial  Finance faci l i ties  that have no speci fic term, an assumption is  made that accounts  close 36 months  after
the reporting date for the purposes  of measuring l i fetime ECL. This  assumption is  based on industry experience of average
cl ient l i fe. These faci l i ties  do not have a fixed term or repayment structure, but are revolving and increase or decrease to
reflect the value of the col lateral  i .e. receivables  or inventory. The Group can cancel  the faci l i ties  with immediate effect,
a l though this  contractual  right i s  not enforced in the normal  day-to-day management of the faci l i ty. Typical ly, demand
would only be made on the fa i lure of a  cl ient bus iness  or in the event of a  materia l  event of default, such as  a  fraud. In the



would only be made on the fa i lure of a  cl ient bus iness  or in the event of a  materia l  event of default, such as  a  fraud. In the
normal  course of events , the Group's  exposure is  recovered through receipt of remittances  from the cl ient's  debtors  rather
than from the cl ient i tsel f.

The ECL for such faci l i ties  i s  estimated taking into account the credit risk management actions  that the Group expects  to
take to mitigate against losses . These include a reduction in advance rate and faci l i ty l imits  or appl ication of reserves
against a  faci l i ty to improve the l ikel ihood of ful l  recovery of exposure from the debtors .

Alternative recovery routes  mitigating ECL would include refinancing by another funding provider, taking securi ty over
other asset classes  or secured personal  guarantees  from the cl ient's  principals .

Loss Given Default ('LGD')

LGD is  the magnitude of the l ikely loss  in the event of default. This  takes  into account recoveries  ei ther through curing or,
where appl icable, through the auction sale of repossessed col lateral  and debt sale of the res idual  shortfal l  amount. For
loans  secured by real  estate property, loan-to-value ratios  are key parameters  in determining LGD. LGDs are calculated on a
discounted cash flow bas is  us ing the financial  instrument's  origination effective interest rate as  the discount factor.

Incorporation of forward-looking data

The Group incorporates  forward-looking information into both i ts  assessment of whether the credit risk of a  financial  asset
has  increased s igni ficantly s ince ini tia l  recognition and i ts  measurement of ECL. This  i s  achieved by developing a  number
of potentia l  economic scenarios  and model l ing ECLs  for each scenario. To ensure materia l  non-l inear relationships
between economic factors  and credit losses  are reflected in the calculation of ECL, a  severe stress  scenario is  used as  one
of these scenarios . The outputs  from each scenario are combined us ing the estimated l ikel ihood of each scenario occurring
to derive a  probabi l i ty weighted expected credit loss . The four scenarios  adopted and probabi l i ty weighting appl ied are set
out below.

The Group cons iders  that the key drivers  of credit risk and credit losses  included in the macroeconomic scenarios  are
annual  unemployment rate growth and annual  house price index growth. Base case assumptions  appl ied for each of these
variables  have been sourced from external  consensus  or Bank of England forecasts . Further detai ls  of the assumptions
appl ied to other scenarios  are presented below.

Expert credit judgements

The impairment charge comprises  model led ECLs  and expert credit judgements . Where the ECL model led output does  not
reflect the level  of credit risk, judgement is  used to calculate expert credit judgements , which are overla id on to the output
from the models .

Presentation of loss allowance

Loss  a l lowances  for ECLs  and expert credit judgements  are presented in the statement of financial  pos ition as  fol lows with
the loss  recognised in the income statement:

·       Financial  assets  measured at amortised cost: as  a  deduction from the gross  carrying amount of the assets .

·       Other loan commitments: general ly, as  a  provis ion.

For the Real  Estate Finance and Commercial  Finance portfol ios , where a loan faci l i ty i s  agreed that includes  both drawn
and undrawn elements  and the Group cannot identi fy the ECL on the loan commitment separately, a  combined loss
al lowance for both drawn and undrawn components  of the loan is  presented as  a  deduction from the gross  carrying
amount of the drawn component, with any excess  of the loss  a l lowance over the gross  drawn amount presented as  a
provis ion.

When a loan is  uncol lectible, i t i s  wri tten off against the related ECL a l lowance. Such loans  are written off after a l l
necessary procedures  have been completed and the amount of the loss  has  been determined.

Vehicle Finance voluntary termination provision

In addition to recognis ing a l lowances  for ECLs , the Group holds  a  provis ion for Voluntary Terminations  ('VT') for a l l  Vehicle
Finance financial  assets . VT is  a  legal  right provided to customers  who take out hire purchase agreements . The provis ion is
calculated by multiplying the probabi l i ty of VT of an asset by the expected shortfal l  on VT discounted back at the original
effective interest rate of the asset. VT al lowances  are not held against loans  in default (Stage 3 loans).

The VT provis ion is  presented in the statement of financial  pos ition as  a  deduction from the gross  carrying amount of
Vehicle Finance assets  with the loss  recognised in the income statement.

Write off

Loans  and advances  to customers  are written off partia l ly or in ful l  when the Group has  exhausted al l  viable recovery
options. The majori ty of write-offs  arise from Debt Rel ief Orders , insolvencies , Individual  Voluntary Arrangements ,
deceased customers  where there is  no estate and vulnerable customers  in certain ci rcumstances. Amounts  subsequently
recovered on assets  previous ly written off are recognised in the impairment charge in the income statement.

Intercompany receivables

The parent company's  expected credit loss  on amounts  due from related companies  is  calculated by applying probabi l i ty of
default and loss  given default to the amount outstanding at the year-end. See Note 24 for further detai ls .

16.1. Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Estimations  that could have a materia l  impact on the Group's  financial  results  and are therefore cons idered to be key
sources  of estimation uncertainty a l l  relate to the impairment charge on loans  and advances  to customers  and are
therefore set out below. The potentia l  impact of the current macroeconomic environment has  been cons idered in
determining reasonably poss ible changes  in key sources  of estimation uncertainty that may occur in the next 12 months.
The determination of both the PD and LGD require estimation, which is  discussed further below.

16.1.1. Incorporation of forward-looking data

The Group incorporates  forward-looking information into both i ts  assessment of whether the credit risk of a  financial  asset
has  increased s igni ficantly s ince ini tia l  recognition and i ts  measurement of expected credit loss  by developing a  number of
potentia l  economic scenarios  and model l ing expected credit losses  for each scenario. Further detai l  on this  process  is
provided below. The macroeconomic scenarios  used were provided by external  economic advisers . The scenarios  and
weightings  appl ied are summarised below:

 



 

December
2023 UK unemployment rate - Annual Average UK HPI - movement from December 2023

Scenario Weightings
2024

%
2025

%
2026

%

5 Yr
Average

%
2024

%
2025

%
2026

%

5 Yr
Average

%

Upside 20% 4.2 3.9 3.8 3.9 (0.7) 2.4 9.4 3.7

Base 50% 4.5 4.4 4.1 4.1 (4.3) (3.3) 0.9 2.1

Downside 25% 5.4 6.5 7.1 6.5 (10.4) (13.8) (14.3) (0.9)

Severe 5% 5.7 7.0 7.6 7.0 (15.1) (21.8) (26.0) (3.5)
 

December
2022 UK unemployment rate - Annual  Average UK HPI - movement from December 2022

Scenario Weightings
2023

%
2024

%
2025

%

5 Yr
Average

%
2023

%
2024

%
2025

%

5 Yr
Average

%
Upside 20% 4.1 4.0 3.8 3.8 (5.2) (6.3) (2.0) 1.9

Base 50% 4.4 4.4 4.0 4.1 (8.4) (11.4) (9.2) 0.4

Downside 25% 5.4 6.5 7.1 6.5 (14.6) (21.3) (23.5) (2.6)

Severe 5% 5.6 7.0 7.6 6.9 (19.2) (28.8) (34.3) (5.2)

The sens itivi ty of the ECL a l lowance to reasonably poss ible changes  in scenario weighting (an increase in downside case
weighting from the ups ide case and an increase in severe stress  case weighting from the base case) has  been assessed by
the Group and computed as  not materia l .

The Group recognised a total  impairment charge of £43.2 mi l l ion (2022: £39.0 mi l l ion). Were each of the scenarios  to be
appl ied at 100%, rather than us ing the weightings  set out above, the increase/(decrease) in ECL provis ions  would be as
fol lows:

2023 2022

Scenario

Vehicle
Finance

£million

Retail
Finance

£million

Business
Finance

£million

Total
Group

£million

Vehicle
Finance

£mil l ion

Retai l
Finance

£mil l ion

Business
Finance

£mil l ion
Total  Group

£mil l ion
Upside (0.4) (1.2) (0.3) (1.9) (1.9) (0.3) (0.7) (2.9)

Base (0.2) (0.5) (0.2) (0.9) (1.5) 0.4 (0.4) (1.5)

Downside 0.5 1.5 0.4 2.4 0.9 3.0 0.9 4.8

Severe 0.6 2.2 1.1 3.9 1.6 3.8 1.7 7.1
 

16.1.2. ECL modelled output: Estimation of PDs

Sensitivi ty to reasonably poss ible changes  in PD could potentia l ly result in materia l  changes  in the ECL a l lowance for
Vehicle Finance and Retai l  Finance.

A 15% change in the PD for Vehicle Finance would immediately impact the ECL a l lowance by £2.5 mi l l ion (2022: a  15%
change impacted the ECL a l lowance by £3.1 mi l l ion).

A 15% change in the PD for Retai l  Finance would immediately impact the ECL a l lowance by £4.4 mi l l ion (2022: a  15% change
impacted the ECL a l lowance by £2.5 mi l l ion).

The above sens itivi ties  reflect the levels  of defaults  observed during the year.

Due to the relatively low levels  of provis ions  on the Bus iness  Finance books, sens itivi ty to reasonably poss ible changes  in
PD are not cons idered materia l .

16.1.3. ECL modelled output: Vehicle Finance recovery rates

With the exception of the Vehicle Finance portfol io, the sens itivi ty of the ECL a l lowance to reasonably poss ible changes  in
the LGD is  not cons idered materia l . The Vehicle Finance portfol io is  particularly sens itive to changes  in LGD due to the range
of outcomes that could crystal l i se, depending on whether the Group is  able to recover the vehicle as  securi ty. For the
Vehicle Finance portfol io, a  20% (2022: 20%) change in the LGD is  cons idered reasonably poss ible due to delays  in the
vehicle col lection process . A 20% (2022: 20%) reduction in the vehicle recovery rate assumption element of the LGD for
Vehicle Finance would increase the ECL by £0.9 mi l l ion (2022: £1.9 mi l l ion). There has  been no change in the vehicle
recovery rate assumption in the ECL model  in ei ther the current or prior year.

16.1.4. ECJ: Vehicle Finance used car values

At 31 December 2022, an overlay for lower recoveries  impacted the ECL by £1.0 mi l l ion. At 31 December 2023, observed
used car values  have now adjusted to expected levels  fol lowing an ini tia l  increase in used car prices  s ince the COVID-19
pandemic in March 2021. As  a  result, a  sens itivi ty i s  no longer appl icable.

16.1.5. Climate-risk impact

The Group has  cons idered the impact of cl imate-related risks  on the consol idated financial  s tatements , in particular
cl imate change negatively impacting the value of the Group's  Real  Estate Finance bus iness ' securi ty due to the increased
risk of flood associated with cl imate change.

Whi le the effects  of cl imate change represent a  source of uncertainty (in respect of potentia l  trans itional  risks , such as
those that may arise from changes  in future Government pol icy), the impact of a l l  of the cl imate change risks  i s  cons idered
to be low. Accordingly, the Group does  not cons ider there to be a materia l  impact on i ts  judgements  and estimates  from the
phys ical , trans ition and other cl imate-related risks  in the short-term on the Real  Estate Finance loan book.

16.2. Critical judgments

16.2.1. ECJ: Consumer Finance customer affordability

At 31 December 2023, the ECL model  now captures  the impact of inflation on our Consumer Bus inesses. The resulting expert
credit judgement relating to Consumer Finance affordabi l i ty was  released. As  a  result, at 31 December 2023 a sens itivi ty
was no longer appl icable.



was no longer appl icable.

17. Derivative financial instruments

Group and Company

Interest rate derivatives  are held for risk mitigation purposes. The table below provides  an analys is  of the notional  amount
and fa ir value of derivatives  by hedge accounting relationship. The amount of ineffectiveness  recognised for each hedge
type is  shown in Note 5. Notional  amount is  the amount on which payment flows are derived and does  not represent
amounts  at risk.

Notional
2023

£million

Assets
2023

£million

Liabilities
2023

£million

Notional
2022

£mil l ion

Assets
2022

£mil l ion

Liabi l i ties
2022

£mil l ion
Interest rate derivatives designated in fair value
hedges

In less  than one year 783.7 6.9 (3.0) 689.8 3.9 (6.0)

More than one year but less  than three years 859.4 13.2 (9.0) 718.5 15.4 (16.1)

More than three years  but less  than five years 494.0 5.3 (9.3) 274.9 15.5 (3.3)

More than five years - - - 7.5 - -

2,137.1 25.4 (21.3) 1,690.7 34.8 (25.4)

Interest rate derivatives designated in cash flow
hedges

In less  than one year 4.7 - (0.2) - - -

More than one year but less  than three years 9.4 - (0.4) 14.1 - (1.1)

More than three years  but less  than five years 2.4 0.1 - 2.4 0.1 -

16.5 0.1 (0.6) 16.5 0.1 (1.1)

Foreign exchange derivatives

In less  than one year 28.0 - (0.1) 16.7 - (0.2)

2,181.6 25.5 (22.0) 1,723.9 34.9 (26.7)

In order to manage interest rate risk aris ing from fixed rate financial  instruments , the Group monitors  i ts  interest rate
mismatch regularly throughout each month, seeking to 'match' assets  and l iabi l i ties  in the fi rst instance and hedging
res idual  risk us ing interest rate derivatives  to maintain adherence to risk appeti tes . Some res idual  risk remains  due to
timing di fferences. The exposure from the portfol io frequently changes  due to the origination of new instruments ,
contractual  repayments  and early prepayments  made in each period. As  a  result, the Group adopts  a  dynamic hedging
strategy (sometimes referred to as  'macro' or 'portfol io' hedge) to hedge i ts  exposure profi le by clos ing and entering into
new interest rate derivative agreements . The Group establ ishes  the hedging ratio by matching the derivatives  with the
principal  of the portfol io being hedged.

The fol lowing table sets  out detai ls  of the hedged exposures  covered by the Group's  hedging strategies :

Carry amount of
hedged item

Asset/(liability)
2023

£million

Accumulated
amount

of fair value
adjustments

in the hedged items
(Liability)/asset

2023
£million

Carry amount of
hedged i tem

Asset/(l iabi l i ty)
2022

£mil l ion

Accumulated
amount

of fa i r value
adjustments

in the hedged i tems
(Liabi l i ty)/asset

2022
£mil l ion

ASSETS

Interest rate fair value hedges

Loans and advances to customers

Fixed rate Real  Estate Finance loans 565.5 (3.5) 430.7 (22.3)

Fixed rate Vehicle Finance loans 130.5 (0.3) 110.5 (4.0)

Fixed rate Retai l  Finance loans 393.0 (0.1) 249.2 (5.7)

1,089.0 (3.9) 790.4 (32.0)

Interest rate cash flow hedges

Cash and Bank of England reserve
account

Bank of England reserve 16.5 N/A 16.5 N/A

1,105.5 (3.9) 806.9 (32.0)

LIABILITIES

Interest rate fair value hedges

Deposits from customers

Fixed rate customer deposits (957.6) 3.6 (900.3) 23.0

Subordinated liabilities

Fixed rate Tier 2 regulatory capital (90.0) (2.2) - -

(1,047.6) 1.4 (900.3) 23.0

The accumulated amount of fa i r value hedge adjustments  remaining in the statement of financial  pos ition for hedged i tems
that have ceased to be adjusted for hedging gains  and losses  is  £ni l  (2022: £0.2 mi l l ion).

The fol lowing table shows the impact of financial  assets  and financial  l iabi l i ties  relating to transactions  where:

·       there is  an enforceable master netting agreement in place, but the offset cri teria  are not otherwise satis fied, and

·       financial  col lateral  i s  paid and received.

Gross
amount

reported Master
Net

amounts



reported
on balance

sheet
£million

Master
netting

arrangements
£million

Financial
collateral

£million

amounts
after

offsetting
£million

31 December 2023

Derivative financial assets

Interest rate derivatives 25.5 (21.9) (3.5) 0.1

25.5 (21.9) (3.5) 0.1

Derivative financial liabilities

Interest rate derivatives (21.9) 21.9 - -

Foreign exchange derivatives (0.1) - 0.2 0.1

(22.0) 21.9 0.2 0.1

 

Gross
amount

reported on
balance

sheet
£mi l l ion

Master
netting

arrangements
£mi l l ion

Financial
col lateral

£mi l l ion

Net
amounts

 after
offsetting
£mi l l ion

31 December 2022

Derivative financial assets

Interest rate derivatives 34.9 (26.5) (7.7) 0.7

34.9 (26.5) (7.7) 0.7

Derivative financial liabilities

Interest rate derivatives (26.5) 26.5 - -

Foreign exchange derivatives (0.2) - - (0.2)

(26.7) 26.5 - (0.2)

Master netting arrangements  do not meet the cri teria  for offsetting in the statement of financial  pos ition. This  i s  because
the arrangement creates  an agreement for a  right of set-off of recognised amounts , which is  enforceable only fol lowing an
event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or counterparties . Furthermore, the Group and i ts  counterparties  do
not intend to settle on a net bas is  or real ise the assets  and settle the l iabi l i ties  s imultaneously.

Financial  col lateral  cons ists  of cash settled, typical ly dai ly or weekly, to mitigate the credit risk on the fa ir value of
derivatives .

18. Investment property

Group
£million

Company
£million

1 January 2022 4.7 5.7

Disposal (3.3) (3.3)

Transfer to property, plant and equipment (1.4) (1.4)

At 31 December 2022 - 1.0

Revaluation - (0.1)

At 31 December 2023 - 0.9

The Company's  investment property comprises  25 and 26 Neptune Court, Vanguard Way, Cardi ff CF24 5PJ, which is
occupied by one of the Company's  subs idiaries .

The transfer to Property, plant and equipment during 2022 related to a  property that was  previous ly let to a  third party,
which became vacant and was subsequently occupied by the Company.

The Company's  investment property was  stated at fa i r value as  at 31 December 2023. The Directors  have assessed the value
of the investment property at the year-end through comparison to current rental  yields  on s imi lar properties  in the same
area. This  has  resulted in a  reduction in the carrying amount of £0.1 mi l l ion s ince 31 December 2022. Movements  in the
fair value of investment property are recognised as  operating expenses  in the income statement.

Investment property accounting policy

Investment property, which is  property held to earn rentals  and for capital  appreciation, i s  measured ini tia l ly at cost,
including transaction costs . Subsequent to ini tia l  recognition, investment property is  measured at fa i r value. External
valuations  are performed on a triennial  bas is . Gains  or losses  aris ing from changes  in the fa ir value of investment
property are included in the income statement in the period in which they arise.

An investment property is  derecognised upon disposal  or when the investment property is  permanently withdrawn from use
and no future economic benefi ts  are expected from the disposal . Any gain or loss  aris ing on derecognition of the property
(calculated as  the di fference between the net disposal  proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) i s  included in the
income statement in the period in which the property is  derecognised.

19. Property, plant and equipment

Group

Freehold
land
and

buildings
£million

Leasehold
 property

£million

Computer
and other

equipment
£million

Total
£million

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2022 6.9 0.1 9.3 16.3

Land and bui ldings  prior year restatement
(see Note 1.3) 1.8 - - 1.8

At 1 January 2022 (as  restated) 8.7 0.1 9.3 18.1

Additions - - 1.0 1.0



Additions - - 1.0 1.0

Disposals - (0.1) (3.4) (3.5)

Transfer from investment properties 1.4 - - 1.4

At 31 December 2022 10.1 - 6.9 17.0

Additions - - 2.2 2.2

Disposals - - (1.4) (1.4)

At 31 December 2023 10.1 - 7.7 17.8

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2022 - - (7.0) (7.0)

Land and bui ldings  prior year restatement
(see Note 1.3) (2.3) - - (2.3)

At 1 January 2022 (as  restated) (2.3) - (7.0) (9.3)

Depreciation charge (0.1) - (1.1) (1.2)

Disposals - - 3.2 3.2

At 31 December 2022 (2.4) - (4.9) (7.3)

Depreciation charge (0.1) - (0.8) (0.9)

Disposals - - 1.2 1.2

At 31 December 2023 (2.5) - (4.5) (7.0)

Net book amount

At 31 December 2022 7.7 - 2.0 9.7

At 31 December 2023 7.6 - 3.2 10.8

The Group's  freehold properties , which are occupied by the Group, comprise:

·       the Registered Office of the Company;

·       One Arleston Way, Sol ihul l , B90 4LH; and

·       25 and 26 Neptune Court, Vanguard Way, Cardi ff CF24 5PJ.

Company

Freehold
property
£million

Computer
and other

equipment
£million

Total
£million

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2022 2.1 6.4 8.5

Land and bui ldings  prior year restatement
(see Note 1.3) 0.3 - 0.3

At 1 January 2022 (as  restated) 2.4 6.4 8.8

Additions - 0.3 0.3

Disposals - (0.5) (0.5)

Transfer from investment properties 1.4 - 1.4

At 31 December 2022 3.8 6.2 10.0

Additions - 2.1 2.1

Disposals - (1.2) (1.2)

At 31 December 2023 3.8 7.1 10.9

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2022 - (4.8) (4.8)

Land and bui ldings  prior year restatement
(see Note 1.3) (0.1) - (0.1)

At 1 January 2022 (as  restated) (0.1) (4.8) (4.9)

Depreciation charge - (0.7) (0.7)

Disposals - 0.5 0.5

At 31 December 2022 (0.1) (5.0) (5.1)

Depreciation charge (0.1) (0.5) (0.6)

Disposals - 1.1 1.1

At 31 December 2023 (0.2) (4.4) (4.6)

Net book amount

At 31 December 2022 3.7 1.2 4.9

At 31 December 2023 3.6 2.7 6.3

The Company's  freehold property comprises  the Registered Office of the Company.

During the year, the accounting pol icy has  been changed from carrying freehold properties  at fa i r value to historic cost.
Further detai ls  are given in Note 1.3.

The carrying value of freehold land, which is  included in the total  carrying value of freehold land and bui ldings , and which
is  not depreciated at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 was £1.5 mi l l ion for the Group and £0.8 mi l l ion for the



i s  not depreciated at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 was £1.5 mi l l ion for the Group and £0.8 mi l l ion for the
Company.

Property, plant and equipment accounting policy

Property, plant and equipment is  s tated at historical  cost less  any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses . Historical  cost includes  expenditure that i s  directly attributable to the acquis i tion of the i tems. Pre-
instal led computer software l icences  are capital ised as  part of the computer hardware i t i s  instal led on. Depreciation is
calculated us ing the straight-l ine method to a l locate their cost to their res idual  values  over their estimated useful  l ives ,
which are subject to regular review:

Land Not depreciated
Freehold bui ldings 50 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of l i fe of lease or seven years
Computer equipment Three to five years
Other equipment Five to ten years

The above useful  economic l ives  have not changed s ince the prior year.

Gains  and losses  on disposals  are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amounts . These are included in the
income statement.

The Group appl ies  IAS 36 to determine whether property, plant and equipment is  impaired.

20. Right-of-use assets
Group Company

Leasehold
property
£million

Leased
motor

vehicles
£million

Total
£million

Leasehold
property
£million

Leased
motor

vehicles
£million

Total
£million

Cost

At 1 January 2022 4.4 0.3 4.7 3.1 0.2 3.3

Additions - 0.5 0.5 - 0.2 0.2

Disposals (1.3) (0.2) (1.5) - (0.2) (0.2)

At 31 December 2022 3.1 0.6 3.7 3.1 0.2 3.3

Additions 0.8 0.2 1.0 0.8 0.1 0.9

At 31 December 2023 3.9 0.8 4.7 3.9 0.3 4.2

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2022 (2.2) (0.3) (2.5) (1.6) (0.2) (1.8)

Depreciation charge (0.6) (0.1) (0.7) (0.4) - (0.4)

Disposals 0.8 0.2 1.0 - 0.2 0.2

At 31 December 2022 (2.0) (0.2) (2.2) (2.0) - (2.0)

Depreciation charge (0.5) (0.2) (0.7) (0.5) (0.1) (0.6)

At 31 December 2023 (2.5) (0.4) (2.9) (2.5) (0.1) (2.6)

Net book amount

At 31 December 2022 1.1 0.4 1.5 1.1 0.2 1.3

At 31 December 2023 1.4 0.4 1.8 1.4 0.2 1.6

Lessee accounting policy

The Group assesses  whether a  contract i s  or contains  a  lease at inception of the contract. The Group recognises  a  right-of-
use asset and a corresponding lease l iabi l i ty with respect to a l l  lease arrangements  in which i t i s  the lessee, except for
short-term leases  (defined as  leases  with a  lease term of 12 months  or less) and leases  of low value assets . For these
leases, the Group recognises  the lease payments  as  an operating expense on a straight-l ine bas is  over the term of the lease
unless  another systematic bas is  i s  more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefi ts  from the leased
assets  are consumed.

The lease l iabi l i ty i s  ini tia l ly measured at the present value of the future lease payments , discounted by us ing the rate
impl ici t in the lease. If this  rate cannot be readi ly determined, the Group uses  i ts  incremental  borrowing rate. It i s
subsequently measured by increas ing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease l iabi l i ty (us ing the effective
interest rate method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments  made, and is  presented as  a
separate l ine in the consol idated statement of financial  pos ition.

The right-of-use assets  comprise the ini tia l  measurement of the corresponding lease l iabi l i ty, lease payments  made at or
before the commencement day, less  any lease incentives  received and any ini tia l  di rect costs . They are subsequently
measured at cost less  accumulated depreciation and impairment charges  and are depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and useful  l i fe of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts  at the commencement date of the lease. The right-of-use
assets  are presented as  a  separate l ine in the consol idated statement of financial  pos ition. The Group appl ies  IAS 36 to
determine whether a  right-of-use asset i s  impaired and accounts  for any identi fied impairment loss  as  described in the
'Property, plant and equipment' pol icy.

Rentals  made under operating leases  for less  than 12 months  in duration, and operating leases  on low value i tems, are
recognised in the income statement on a straight-l ine bas is  over the term of the lease.

21. Intangible assets

Group

Goodwill
£million

Computer
software
£million

Other
intangible

assets
£million

Total
£million

Cost or valuation



Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2022 1.0 17.3 2.2 20.5

Additions - 1.7 - 1.7

Disposals - (1.8) - (1.8)

At 31 December 2022 1.0 17.2 2.2 20.4

Additions - 0.5 - 0.5

At 31 December 2023 1.0 17.7 2.2 20.9

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 January 2022 - (11.6) (2.0) (13.6)

Amortisation charge - (1.2) (0.2) (1.4)

Disposals - 1.2 - 1.2

At 31 December 2022 - (11.6) (2.2) (13.8)

Amortisation charge - (1.2) - (1.2)

At 31 December 2023 - (12.8) (2.2) (15.0)

Net book amount

At 31 December 2022 1.0 5.6 - 6.6

At 31 December 2023 1.0 4.9 - 5.9

Goodwi l l  above relates  to the V12 cash generating unit, which is  part of the Retai l  Finance operating segment.

The recoverable amount of these cash generating units  are determined on a value in use calculation, which uses  cash flow
projections  based on financial  forecasts  covering a  three-year period, and a discount rate of 8% (2022: 8%). Cash flow
projections  during the forecast period are based on the expected rate of new bus iness . A zero growth based scenario is  a lso
considered. The Directors  bel ieve that any reasonably poss ible change in the key assumptions  on which recoverable
amount is  based would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit. Hence no impairment has  been recognised.

Other intangible assets  were recognised as  part of the V12 Finance Group acquis i tion, which are now ful ly amortised.

Company

Goodwill
£million

Computer
software
£million

Total
£million

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2022 0.3 12.4 12.7

Additions - 0.1 0.1

At 31 December 2022 0.3 12.5 12.8

Additions - 0.1 0.1

At 31 December 2023 0.3 12.6 12.9

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 January 2022 - (7.3) (7.3)

Amortisation charge - (1.1) (1.1)

At 31 December 2022 - (8.4) (8.4)

Amortisation charge - (1.0) (1.0)

At 31 December 2023 - (9.4) (9.4)

Net book amount

At 31 December 2022 0.3 4.1 4.4

At 31 December 2023 0.3 3.2 3.5

Goodwi l l  above relates  to the Retai l  Finance operating segment. The recoverable amount is  determined on the same bas is
as  for the Group.

Intangible assets accounting policy

(a) Goodwill

Goodwi l l  represents  the excess  of the cost of the acquis i tion over the fa ir value of the Group's  share of the net identi fiable
assets  acquired at the date of acquis i tion. Goodwi l l  i s  held at cost less  accumulated impairment charge and is  deemed to
have an infini te l i fe.

The Group reviews the goodwi l l  for impairment at least annual ly or when events  or changes  in economic ci rcumstances
indicate that impairment may have taken place. An impairment charge is  recognised in the income statement i f the carrying
amount exceeds the recoverable amounts .

(b) Computer software

Acquired computer software l icences  are capital ised on the bas is  of the costs  incurred to acquire and bring to use the
speci fic software.

Costs  associated with developing or maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as  an expense as  incurred
unless  the technical  feas ibi l i ty of the development has  been demonstrated, and i t i s  probable that the expenditure wi l l
enable the asset to generate future economic benefi ts  in excess  of i ts  original ly assessed standard of performance, in
which case they are capital ised.

These costs  are amortised on a straight-l ine bas is  over their expected useful  l ives , which are between three to 10 years .



These costs  are amortised on a straight-l ine bas is  over their expected useful  l ives , which are between three to 10 years .

(c) Other intangibles

The acquis i tion of subs idiaries  has  been accounted for in accordance with IFRS 3 'Bus iness  Combinations ', which requires
the recognition of the identi fiable assets  acquired and l iabi l i ties  assumed at their acquis i tion date fa ir values. As  part of
this  process ,
i t was  necessary to recognise certain intangible assets  that are separately identi fiable and are not included on the
acquiree's  balance sheet, which are amortised over their expected useful  l ives , as  set out above.

The Group appl ies  IAS 36 to determine whether an intangible asset i s  impaired.

22. Investments in group undertakings

Company

Cost and net book value 2023
£million

2022
£mil l ion

At 1 January 5.7 4.3

Addition - Investment in AppToPay Ltd - 1.0

Equity contributions  to subs idiaries  in respect of share options 0.2 0.4

At 31 December 5.9 5.7

During the prior year, the Group completed the acquis i tion of 100% of the issued share capital  of AppToPay Ltd for £1.0
mi l l ion. AppToPay Ltd was the owner of a  proprietary technology platform.

The Group elected to use the optional  practical  expedient within IFRS 3 Bus iness  Combinations, which al lows a s impl i fied
assessment that a  purchase is  accounted for as  an asset purchase as  opposed to a  bus iness  combination i f substantia l ly
al l  the fa ir value of the gross  assets  acquired is  concentrated in a  s ingle identi fiable asset. AppToPay Ltd's  principal  asset
was a  software development intangible asset. Since acquis i tion, the assets  and l iabi l i ties  have been transferred across  to
V12 Retai l  Finance Limited.

Shares  in subs idiary undertakings  of Secure Trust Bank PLC are stated at cost less  any provis ion for impairment. Al l
subs idiary undertakings  are unl isted and none are banking insti tutions. The share capital  of the subs idiary undertakings
comprises  solely of ordinary shares  and al l  are 100% owned by the Company. The subs idiary undertakings  were al l
incorporated in the UK and whol ly owned via  ordinary shares. Al l  subs idiary undertakings  are included in the consol idated
financial  s tatements  and have an accounting reference date of 31 December.

Detai ls  are as  fol lows:

Company number Principal activity
Owned directly

 AppToPay Ltd 11204449 Non-trading

 Debt Managers  (Services) Limited 08092808 Debt management

 Secure Homes Services  Limited 01404439 Property rental

 STB Leas ing Limited 01648384 Non-trading

 V12 Finance Group Limited 07498951 Holding company

Owned indirectly via  an intermediate holding
company

 V12 Personal  Finance Limited 05418233 Dormant

 V12 Retai l  Finance Limited 04585692
Sourcing and servicing of unsecured

loans

The registered office of the Company, and al l  subs idiary undertakings , i s  Yorke House, Arleston Way, Sol ihul l , B90 4LH.

AppToPay Ltd, Debt Managers  (Services) Limited, Secure Homes Services  Limited, STB Leas ing Limited, V12 Finance Group
Limited and V12 Personal  Finance Limited are exempt from the requirements  of the Companies  Act 2006 relating to the
audit of individual  accounts  by vi rtue of s479A, and the Company has  given guarantees  accordingly under s479C in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2023.

23. Deferred taxation
Group

2023
£million

Group
2022

£mil l ion

Company
2023

£million

Company
2022

£mil l ion
Deferred tax assets:

Other short-term timing di fferences 4.3 5.6 4.3 5.3

At 31 December 4.3 5.6 4.3 5.3

Deferred tax assets:

At 1 January 5.6 6.9 5.3 6.8

Land and bui ldings  prior year restatement
(see Note 1.3) - 0.3 - 0.1

At 1 January (as  restated) 5.6 7.2 5.3 6.9

Income statement (1.2) (1.8) (0.9) (1.8)

Other comprehensive income (0.1) 0.2 (0.1) 0.2

At 31 December 4.3 5.6 4.3 5.3

Deferred tax accounting policy

Deferred tax assets  and l iabi l i ties  are offset i f there is  a  legal ly enforceable right to offset current tax assets  and l iabi l i ties ,
and they relate to taxes  levied by the same tax authori ty on the same taxable enti ty, or on di fferent tax enti ties , when they
intend to settle current tax l iabi l i ties  and assets  on a net bas is  or their tax assets  and l iabi l i ties  wi l l  be real ised
s imultaneously.



s imultaneously.

Deferred tax assets  are recognised where i t i s  probable that future taxable profi ts  wi l l  be avai lable against which the
temporary di fferences  can be uti l i sed.

24. Other assets
Group

2023
£million

Group
2022

£mil l ion

Company
2023

£million

Company
2022

£mil l ion
Gross  amounts  due from related companies - - 4.8 3.1

less : a l lowances  for impairment of amounts  due from related companies - - (2.1) -

Amounts  due from related companies - - 2.7 3.1

Other receivables 2.4 1.7 2.3 1.5

Cloud software development prepayment 4.4 4.7 4.4 4.7

Other prepayments  and accrued income 6.1 7.0 5.0 5.8

12.9 13.4 14.4 15.1

Cloud software development costs , principal ly relating to the Group's  Motor Transformation Programme, do not meet the
intangible asset recognition cri teria  and are therefore class i fied as  a  prepayment, which is  expensed to the income
statement over the useful  economic l i fe of the software.

25. Due to banks

Group and Company

Group
2023

£million

Group
2022

£mil l ion
Amounts  due under the Bank of England's  l iquidity support operations  (Term Funding Scheme with
additional  incentives  for SMEs ('TFSME')) 390.0 390.0

Amounts  due to other credit insti tutions 6.8 7.7

Accrued interest 5.2 2.8

402.0 400.5

Amounts  due under TFSME bear interest at the Bank of England base rate and are due for repayment during 2025.

The accounting pol icy for amounts  due to banks  is  included in Note 1.5 Financial  assets  and financial  l iabi l i ties
accounting pol icy.

26. Deposits from customers

Group and Company
2023

£million
2022

£mil l ion
Access  accounts 521.3 178.1

Fixed term bonds 1,546.6 1,414.0

Notice accounts 174.3 500.7

ISAs 629.6 421.8

2,871.8 2,514.6

The accounting pol icy for deposits  from customers  is  included in Note 1.5 Financial  assets  and financial  l iabi l i ties
accounting pol icy.

27. Lease liabilities

Group
2023

£million

Group
2022

£mil l ion

Company
2023

£million

Company
2022

£mil l ion
At 1 January 2.1 3.1 1.9 2.3

New leases 1.0 0.5 0.9 0.2

Lease termination - (0.6) - -

Payments (0.9) (1.0) (0.8) (0.7)

Interest expense 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1

At 31 December 2.3 2.1 2.1 1.9

Lease l iabi l i ties  - Gross

- No later than one year 0.9 0.7 0.9 0.7

- Later than one year and no later than five years 1.5 1.5 1.3 1.3

2.4 2.2 2.2 2.0

Less: Future finance expense (0.1) (0.1) (0.1) (0.1)

Lease l iabi l i ties  - Net 2.3 2.1 2.1 1.9

Lease l iabi l i ties  - Gross

- No later than one year 0.9 0.7 0.9 0.7

- Later than one year and no later than five years 1.4 1.4 1.2 1.2

2.3 2.1 2.1 1.9

The accounting pol icy for lease l iabi l i ties  i s  included in Note 20 Lessee accounting pol icy.

28. Other liabilities

Group
2023

£million

Group
2022

£mil l ion

Company
2023

£million

Company
2022

£mil l ion
Other payables 25.9 68.1 23.7 65.0



Other payables 25.9 68.1 23.7 65.0

Amounts  due to related companies - - 10.5 12.4

Accruals  and deferred income 11.8 10.0 10.5 8.5

37.7 78.1 44.7 85.9

29. Provisions for liabilities and charges

Group Company
ECL allowance

on
loan

commitments
£million

 
Other

£million

 
Total

£million

ECL allowance
on loan

commitments
£million

 
Other

£million

 
Total

£million
Balance at 1 January 2022 0.9 0.4 1.3 0.9 0.4 1.3

Charge to income statement 0.2 1.9 2.1 0.2 1.4 1.6

Uti l i sed - (0.9) (0.9) - (0.9) (0.9)

Balance at 31 December 2022 1.1 1.4 2.5 1.1 0.9 2.0

(Credit)/charge to income statement (0.3) 8.5 8.2 (0.3) 7.2 6.9

Uti l i sed - (4.7) (4.7) - (3.3) (3.3)

Balance at 31 December 2023 0.8 5.2 6.0 0.8 4.8 5.6

ECL allowance on loan commitments

In accordance with the requirements  of IFRS 9, the Group holds  an ECL a l lowance against loans  i t has  committed to lend,
but have not yet been drawn. For the Real  Estate Finance and Commercial  Finance portfol ios , where a loan faci l i ty i s  agreed
that includes  both drawn and undrawn elements  and the Group cannot identi fy the ECL on the loan commitment separately,
a  combined loss  a l lowance for both drawn and undrawn components  of the loan is  presented as  a  deduction from the
gross  carrying amount of the drawn component, with any excess  of the loss  a l lowance over the gross  drawn amount
presented as  a  provis ion. At 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, no provis ion was held for losses  in excess  of drawn
amounts .

Other

Other includes:

·       provis ion for fraud, which relates  to cases  where the Group has  reasonable evidence of suspected fraud, but further
investigation is  required before the cases  can be dealt with appropriately;

·       s75 Consumer Credit Act 1974 provis ion;

·       costs  and redress  relating to the BiFD Vehicle Finance col lections  review (see Note 8 for further detai ls  and key
sources  of estimation uncertainty below); and

·       costs  and redress  relating to further customer redress  ini tiatives .

The Directors  expect a l l  provis ions  to be ful ly uti l i sed within the next one to two years .

Provisions for liabilities and charges accounting policy

A provis ion is  recognised where there is  a  present obl igation as  a  result of a  past event, i t i s  probable that the obl igation
wi l l  be settled and i t can be rel iably estimated.

29.1 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Redress/goodwi l l  provis ion amounts  relating to the BiFD Vehicle Finance col lections  review are £2.0 mi l l ion, and are
based on an estimate of customers  potentia l ly impacted over a  number of years . As  at 31 December 2023, the scope of the
review and amounts  of potentia l  redress/goodwi l l  are not yet final ised. Increas ing the impact period by one year
potentia l ly increases  the provis ion by £0.3 mi l l ion. Increas ing redress/goodwi l l  amounts  by 10% would increase the
provis ion by £0.2 mi l l ion.

30. Subordinated liabilities

Group and Company

2023
£million

2022
£mil l ion

Notes  at par value 90.0 50.0

Unamortised issue costs (0.9) (0.1)

Accrued interest 4.0 1.2

93.1 51.1

On 28 February 2023, the Group issued £90.0 mi l l ion 13.0% Fixed Rate Reset Cal lable Subordinated Notes  due August 2033.
The notes  are l i s ted on the International  Securi ties  Market of the London Stock Exchange. This  i ssuance is  in l ine with the
Group's  funding strategy and supports  the Group's  stated medium-term growth ambitions.

·       The notes  are redeemable for cash at their principal  amount on fixed dates .

·       The Company has  a  cal l  option to redeem the notes  early in the event of a  'tax event' or a  'capital  disqual i fication
event', which is  at the ful l  discretion of the Company.

·       Interest payments  are paid at s ix-monthly intervals  and are mandatory.

·       The notes  give the holders ' rights  to the principal  amount on the notes , plus  any unpaid interest, on l iquidation. Any
such cla ims are subordinated to senior creditors , but rank pari  passu with holders  of other subordinated obl igations
and in priori ty to holders  of share capital .

The above features  provide the issuer with a  contractual  obl igation to del iver cash or another financial  asset to the
holders , and therefore the notes  are class i fied as  financial  l iabi l i ties .

Transaction costs  that are directly attributable to the issue of the notes  and are deducted from the financial  l iabi l i ty and
expensed to the income statement on an effective interest rate bas is  over the expected l i fe of the notes.



The notes  are treated as  Tier 2 regulatory capital , which is  used to support the continuing growth of the bus iness  taking
into account increases  in regulatory capital  buffers . The issue of the notes  is  part of an ongoing programme to divers i fy
and expand the capital  base of the Group.

The Group redeemed al l  of i ts  existing 6.75% Fixed Rate Reset Cal lable Subordinated notes  due in 2028, that a lso qual i fied
as  Tier 2 capital , with fi rst cal l  dates  in 2023, in two tranches: £25.0 mi l l ion on 28 February 2023; and £25.0 mi l l ion on 20
March 2023.

The accounting pol icy for subordinated l iabi l i ties  i s  included in Note 1.5 Financial  assets  and financial  l iabi l i ties
accounting pol icy.

31. Contingent liabilities and commitments

31.1 Contingent liabilities

31.1.1 Laws and regulations

As a financial  services  bus iness , the Group must comply with numerous laws and regulations  that s igni ficantly affect the
way i t does  bus iness . Whi lst the Group bel ieves  there are no materia l  unidenti fied areas  of fa i lure to comply with these
laws and regulations, there can be no guarantee that a l l  i ssues  have been identi fied.

In July 2023, the Group was contacted by the FCA in a  fol low up to a  review of forbearance outcomes associated with i ts
Borrowers  in Financial  Di fficulty project. The Group is  responding to requirements  from the FCA to review i ts  practices  in
this  area. In respect of i ts  Vehicle Finance bus iness  see Note 29. In respect of i ts  Retai l  Finance bus iness , i t i s  not poss ible
to estimate or rel iably predict the outcome of this  review and i ts  financial  effect on the Group.

31.1.2 Discretionary motor finance commissions

On 11 January 2024, the FCA announced a review of historical  motor finance commiss ion arrangements . The Group
operated some discretionary commiss ion arrangements  from 2009 unti l  June 2017. Whi le i t i s  poss ible that certain
charges  may be incurred in the future, the Directors  do not cons ider that a  legal  or constructive obl igation exists  that
would require a  provis ion to be recognised at this  stage. There is  a lso s igni ficant uncertainty about the outcome of the
FCA's  review, the timing and scope, and therefore the quantum of any potentia l  financial  impact cannot be rel iably
estimated at present. The FCA plans  to set out i ts  next steps  in Q3 2024, when the impl ications  for the industry should
become clearer.

31.1.2.1 Critical accounting judgement

In determining the appropriate accounting and disclosure for potentia l  cla ims in relation to historical  motor finance
commiss ions, the Directors  have cons idered the cri teria  under IAS 37 for provis ioning, and have judged that the threshold
is  currently not met. However, in the Directors ' judgement, i t i s  poss ible, dependent on future events , that costs  could be
incurred in relation to this  matter and we have therefore disclosed a contingent l iabi l i ty.

31.2 Capital commitments

At 31 December 2023, the Group and Company had capital  commitments  of £ni l  (2022: £1.5 mi l l ion).

31.3 Credit commitments

Group and Company

Commitments  to extend credit to customers  were as  fol lows:

2023
£million

2022
£mil l ion

Consumer Finance

 Retai l  Finance 91.6 97.2

 Vehicle Finance 1.3 1.2

Business  Finance

 Real  Estate Finance 58.9 53.1

 Commercial  Finance 149.5 146.5

301.3 298.0

32. Share capital

Number £million
At 1 January 2022 18,647,805 7.5

Issued during 2022 43,629 -

At 31 December 2022 18,691,434 7.5

Issued during 2023 326,361 0.1

At 31 December 2023 19,017,795 7.6

Share capital  comprises  ordinary shares  with a  par value of 40 pence each.

Equity instruments accounting policy

Equity instruments  issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct i ssuance costs . Any amounts
received over nominal  value are recorded in the share premium account, net of direct i ssuance costs . Costs  associated with
the l i s ting of shares  are expensed immediately.

33. Other reserves
Group

2023
£million

Group
2022

£mil l ion

Company
2023

£million

Company
2022

£mil l ion
Cash flow hedge reserve (0.3) (0.8) (0.3) (0.8)

Own shares (1.4) (0.3) (1.4) (0.3)

(1.7) (1.1) (1.7) (1.1)



(1.7) (1.1) (1.7) (1.1)

33.1 Own shares

Employee Benefi t Trust ('EBT')
2023

Number

Nominal
value
2023

£million
2022

Number

Nominal
value
2022

£mil l ion
At 1 January 37,501 - - -

Shares  acquired 188,835 0.1 37,501 -

Shares  disposed (9,864) - - -

At 31 December 216,472 0.1 37,501 -

Market value (£million) 1.5 0.3

Accounting value (£million) 1.4 0.3

Percentage of called up share capital 1.1% 0.2%

These shares  are held in trust for the benefi t of employees, who wi l l  be exercis ing their options  under the Group's  share
options  schemes. The trustee's  expenses  are included in the operating expenses  of the Group. The maximum number of
shares  held by the EBT during the year was  226,336 (2022: 37,501), which had a nominal  value of £91,000 (2022: £15,000).
Shares  were disposed of during the year for cons ideration of £4,000.

Own shares accounting policy

The EBT qual i fies  for 'look-through' accounting, under which the EBT is  treated as , in substance, an extens ion of the
sponsoring enti ty, which is  Secure Trust Bank PLC. Own shares  represent the shares  of the Parent Company, Secure Trust
Bank PLC, that are held by the EBT. Own shares  are recorded at cost and deducted from equity.

34. Share-based payments

At 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Group had four share-based payment schemes in operation:

·       2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan,

·       2017 Sharesave Plan,

·       2017 Deferred Bonus Plan, and

·       'Phantom' Share Option Scheme.

A summary of the movements  in share options  during the year is  set out below:

Outstanding
at

1 January
2023

Number

Granted
during

the year
Number

Forfeited
lapsed

and
cancelled

during
the year
Number

Exercised
during

the year
Number

Outstanding
at

31
December

2023
Number

Vested
and

exercisable
at 31

December
2023

Number
Vesting

dates

Weighted
 average
 exercise

price of
options

 outstanding
at

31
December

2023
£

Weighted
 average
 exercise

price of
options

 outstanding
at

31
December

2022
£

Equity settled

2017 Long-Term
Incentive Plan 611,353 281,282 (161,233) (13,304) 718,098 12,336

2024-
2028 0.40 0.40

2017 Sharesave
Plan 545,479 303,937 (123,809) (321,694) 403,913 44,843

2024-
2026 5.93 6.24

2017 Deferred
Bonus Plan 49,807 39,953 - (1,227) 88,533 18,389

2024-
2026 0.40 0.40

1,206,639 625,172 (285,042) (336,225) 1,210,544 75,568 2.25 3.04

Weighted average
exercise price 3.04 2.85 3.56 5.10 2.25 3.31

Cash settled

'Phantom'
share option
scheme 78,167 - (40,167) - 38,000 38,000 2019 25.00 25.00
 

Group
2023

£million

Group
2022

£mil l ion

Company
2023

£million

Company
2022

£mil l ion
Expense incurred in relation to share-based payments 1.1 1.8 0.9 1.4
 

34.1. Long-Term Incentive Plan ('LTIP')

The LTIP was  establ ished on 3 May 2017. Two separate awards  to a  number of participants  were made under this  plan
during the year, as  set out below.

34.1.1 LTIP Restricted share award

63,975 (2022: 54,427) options  were awarded during the year that were not subject to any performance conditions. The
awards  wi l l  vest three years  from the date of grant. The original  grant date valuation was determined us ing a  Black-Scholes
model . Measurement inputs  and assumptions  used for the grant date valuation were as  fol lows:

Awarded
during

2023

Awarded
during

2022
Share price at grant date £6.70 £12.40

Exercise price £0.40 £0.40

Expected dividend yield 5.20% 4.39%

Expected stock price volati l i ty 42.93% 47.27%



Expected stock price volati l i ty 42.93% 47.27%

Risk free interest rate 3.44% 1.47%

Average expected l i fe (years) 3.00 3.00

Original grant date valuation £5.37 £10.49

34.1.2 LTIP

217,307 (2022: 176,362) options  were awarded during the year that are subject to four performance conditions, which are
based on:

·       rank of the Total  Shareholder Return ('TSR') over the performance period against the TSR of the comparator group of
peer group companies;

·       increase in Return On Average Equity ('RoAE') over the performance period;

·       increase in Earnings  Per Share ('EPS') over the performance period; and

·       maintaining appropriate risk practices  over the performance period, reflecting the longer-term strategic risk
management of the Group.

The awards  have a performance term of three years . The awards  wi l l  vest on the date on which the Board determines  that
these conditions  have been met. 109,382 options  wi l l  be released to the participants  on the vesting date and 107,925
options  wi l l  be released two years  after the vesting date.

The original  grant date valuation was determined us ing a  Black-Scholes  model  for the RoAE, EPS and risk management
tranches  (modified for probabi l i ty of outturn), and a Monte Carlo model  for the TSR tranche. Measurement inputs  and
assumptions  used for the grant date valuation were as  fol lows:

Awarded
during

2023
No holding

period

Awarded
during

2023
Two year

holding
period

Awarded
during

2022
Share price at grant date £6.70 £6.70 £12.40

Exercise price £0.40 £0.40 £0.40

Expected dividend yield 5.20% 5.20% 4.39%

Expected stock price volati l i ty 40.0% 40.0% 46.87%

Risk free interest rate 3.49% 3.42% 1.50%

Average expected l i fe (years) 3.00 5.00 3.00

Original grant date valuation £2.98 £2.69 £7.43

34.2. Sharesave Plan

The Sharesave Plan was establ ished on 3 May 2017. This  plan al lows al l  employees  to save for three years , subject to a
maximum monthly amount of £250 (2022: £500), with the option to buy shares  in Secure Trust Bank PLC when the plan
matures. Participants  cannot change the amount that they have agreed to save each month, but they can suspend payments
for up to s ix months. Participants  can withdraw their savings  at any time but, i f they do this  before the completion date,
they lose the option to buy shares  at the Option Price, and in most ci rcumstances  i f participants  cease to hold plan-related
employment before the third anniversary of the grant date, then the options  are a lso lost. The options  ordinari ly vest
approximately three years  after grant date and are exercisable for a  period of s ix months  fol lowing vesting.

The original  grant date valuation was determined us ing a  Black-Scholes  model . Measurement inputs  and assumptions  used
were as  fol lows:

Awarded
during

2023

Awarded
during

2022
Share price at grant date £6.30 £9.62

Exercise price £5.43 £8.10

Expected stock price volati l i ty 37.25% 48.47%

Expected dividend yield 5.20% 4.39%

Risk free interest rate 4.52% 3.24%

Average expected l i fe (years) 3.00 3.00

Original grant date valuation £1.63 £3.14

34.3. Deferred Bonus Plan

The Deferred Bonus Plan was establ ished on 3 May 2017. In 2023 and 2022, awards  were granted to certain senior
managers  of the Group. The awards  vest in three equal  tranches  after one, two and three years  fol lowing deferral .
Accordingly, the fol lowing awards  remain outstanding under the plan, enti tl ing the members  of the scheme to purchase
shares  in the Company:

Awards
granted
Vesting

after
one year
Number

Awards
granted
Vesting

after
two years

Number

Awards
granted
Vesting

after
three years

Number

Awards
granted

Total
At 1 January 2022 5,727 6,836 7,123 19,686

Granted 12,779 12,779 12,786 38,344

Exercised (5,727) (2,496) - (8,223)

At 31 December 2022 12,779 17,119 19,909 49,807

Granted 13,315 13,315 13,323 39,953

Exercised (401) - (826) (1,227)

At 31 December 2023 25,693 30,434 32,406 88,533



Vested and exercisable 12,378 4,340 1,671 18,389

The original  grant date valuation was determined us ing a  Black-Scholes  model . Measurement inputs  and assumptions  used
were as  fol lows:

Granted in
2023

Awards
vesting

after one
year

Granted in
2023

Awards
vesting

after two
years

Granted in
2023

Awards
vesting

after three
years

Share price at grant date £6.70 £6.70 £6.70

Exercise price £0.40 £0.40 £0.40

Expected dividend yield 5.20% 5.20% 5.20%

Expected stock price volati l i ty 44.41% 38.77% 42.93%

Risk free interest rate 3.97% 3.40% 3.44%

Average expected l i fe (years) 1.00 2.00 3.00

Original grant date valuation £5.98 £5.66 £5.37

34.3. Deferred Bonus Plan continued
Granted in

2022
Awards
vesting

after one
years

Granted in
2022

Awards
vesting

after two
years

Granted in
2022

Awards
vesting

after three
years

Share price at grant date £12.40 £12.40 £12.40

Exercise price £0.40 £0.40 £0.40

Expected dividend yield 4.39% 4.39% 4.39%

Expected stock price volati l i ty 32.04% 42.03% 47.27%

Risk free interest rate 1.39% 1.46% 1.47%

Average expected l i fe (years) 1.00 2.00 3.00

Original grant date valuation £11.47 £10.97 £10.49

34.4 Cash settled share-based payments

On 16 March 2015, a  four-year 'phantom' share option scheme was establ ished in order to provide effective long-term
incentive to senior management of the Group. Under the scheme, no actual  shares  would be issued by the Company, but
those granted awards  under the scheme would be enti tled to a  cash payment. The amount of the award is  calculated by
reference to the increase in the value of an ordinary share in the Company over an ini tia l  value set at £25 per ordinary
share, being the price at which the shares  resulting from the exercise of the fi rst tranche of share options  under the share
option scheme were sold in the market in November 2014. The options  vested during 2019 and are exercisable for a  period
of 10 years  after grant date.

As  at 31 December 2023, us ing any reasonable range of inputs  and assumptions, the fa ir value of the 'phantom' options  is
£ni l  (2022: £0.04). Accordingly, no l iabi l i ty was  recognised in the consol idated financial  s tatements  at 31 December 2023
or 31 December 2022.

For each award granted during the year, expected volati l i ty was  determined by calculating the historical  volati l i ty of the
Group's  share price over the period equivalent to the expected term of the options  being granted. The expected l i fe used in
the model  has  been adjusted, based on management's  best estimate, for the effects  of non-transferabi l i ty, exercise
restrictions, and behavioural  cons iderations.

Share-based compensation accounting policy

The fa ir value of equity settled share-based payment awards  are calculated at grant date and recognised over the period in
which the employees  become unconditional ly enti tled to the awards  (the vesting period). The amount is  recognised in
operating expenses  in the income statement, with a  corresponding increase in equity. Further detai ls  of the valuation
methodology are set out above.

The fa ir value of cash settled share-based payments  is  recognised in operating expenses  in the income statement with a
corresponding increase in l iabi l i ties  over the vesting period. The l iabi l i ty i s  remeasured at each reporting date and at the
settlement date based on the fa ir value of the options  granted, with a  corresponding adjustment to operating expenses.

35. Cash flow statement

35.1. Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes  of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents  comprise the fol lowing balances  with less  than
three months ' maturi ty from the date of acquis i tion.

Group
2023

£million

Group
2022

£mil l ion

Company
2023

£million

Company
2022

£mil l ion
Cash and Bank of England reserve account 351.6 370.1 351.6 370.1

Loans and advances  to banks  (Note 13) 53.7 50.5 53.0 48.9

Debt securi ties - - - -

Less :

 Cash ratio deposit (4.8) (3.7) (4.8) (3.7)

 Col lateral  margin account (0.2) - (0.2) -

(5.0) (3.7) (5.0) (3.7)

 Cash and cash equivalents 400.3 416.9 399.6 415.3
 



The Group and Company has  no access  to the cash ratio deposit or the col lateral  margin accounts , so these amounts  do
not meet the defini tion of cash and cash equivalents  and accordingly they are excluded from cash and cash equivalents .

35.2. Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Al l  changes  in l iabi l i ties  aris ing from financing activi ties  arise from changes  in cash flows, apart from £0.1 mi l l ion (2022:
£0.1 mi l l ion) of lease l iabi l i ties  interest expense, as  shown in Note 27, and £0.2 mi l l ion (2022: £0.2 mi l l ion) amortisation
of issue costs  on subordinated l iabi l i ties , as  shown in Note 30.

Cash and cash equivalents accounting policy

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents  comprise cash in hand and demand deposits ,
and cash equivalents , being highly l iquid investments , which are convertible into cash with an ins igni ficant risk of changes
in value with a  maturi ty of three months  or less  at the date of acquis i tion, including certain loans  and advances  to banks
and short-term highly l iquid debt securi ties .

36. Financial risk management strategy

By their nature, the Group's  activi ties  are principal ly related to the use of financial  instruments . The Directors  and senior
management of the Group have formal ly adopted a Group risk appeti te statement that sets  out the Board's  atti tude to risk
and internal  controls . Key risks  identi fied by the Directors  are formal ly reviewed and assessed at least once a year by the
Board. In addition key bus iness  risks  are identi fied, evaluated and managed by operating management on an ongoing bas is
by means of procedures, such as  phys ical  controls , credit and other authorisation l imits  and segregation of duties . The
Board also receives  regular reports  on any risk matters  that need to be brought to i ts  attention. Signi ficant risks  identi fied
in connection with the development of new activi ties  are subject to cons ideration by the Board. There are budgeting
procedures  in place and reports  are presented regularly to the Board detai l ing the results  of each principal  bus iness  unit,
variances  against budget and prior year, and other performance data.

A more detai led description of the risk governance structure is  contained in the Principal  risks  and uncertainties  section.

Included within the principal  financial  ri sks  inherent in the Group's  bus iness  are credit risk (Note 37), market risk (Note
38), l iquidity risk (Note 39), and capital  ri sk (Note 40).

37. Credit risk

The Company and Group take on exposure to credit risk, which is  the risk that a  counterparty wi l l  be unable to satis fy their
debt servicing commitments  when due. Counterparties  include the consumers  to whom the Group lends  on a secured and
unsecured bas is  and Smal l  and Medium s ize Enterprises  ('SMEs') to whom the Group primari ly lends  on a secured bas is , as
wel l  as  the market counterparties  with whom the Group deals .

Impairment provis ions  are provided for expected credit losses  at the statement of financial  pos ition date. Signi ficant
changes  in the economy could result in losses  that are di fferent from those provided for at the statement of financial
pos ition date. Management therefore careful ly manages  the Group's  exposures  to credit risk as  i t cons iders  this  to be the
most s igni ficant risk to the bus iness . Disclosures  relating to col lateral  on loans  and advances  to customers  are disclosed
in Note 14.

The Board monitors  the ratings  of the counterparties  in relation to the Group's  loans  and advances  to banks. Disclosures  of
these at the year-end are contained in Note 13. There is  no direct exposure to the Eurozone and peripheral  Eurozone
countries .

See the Principal  risks  and uncertainties  section for further detai ls  on the mitigation and change during the year of credit
risk.

Group and Company

With the exception of loans  and advances  to customers, the carrying amount of financial  assets  represents  the maximum
exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk for loans  and advances  to customers  by portfol io and IFRS 9
stage without taking account of any col lateral  held or other credit enhancements  attached was as  fol lows:

Stage 1
£million

<= 30 days
past due
£million

> 30 days
past due
£million

Stage 2
Total

£million
Stage 3

 £million

Total gross loans
and advances to

customers£million
31 December 2023

Consumer Finance

 Retai l  Finance 1,149.2 92.9 4.4 97.3 8.8 1,255.3

 Vehicle Finance 420.1 34.3 20.4 54.7 38.3 513.1

Business  Finance

 Real  Estate Finance 1,024.9 134.4 1.5 135.9 91.0 1,251.8

 Commercial  Finance 357.3 9.9 - 9.9 16.0 383.2

Total drawn exposure 2,951.5 271.5 26.3 297.8 154.1 3,403.4

Off balance sheet

 Loan commitments 299.1 2.2 - 2.2 - 301.3

Total gross exposure 3,250.6 273.7 26.3 300.0 154.1 3,704.7

Less:

Impairment a l lowance (29.5) (10.5) (7.7) (18.2) (40.4) (88.1)

Provis ion for loan commitments (0.8) - - - - (0.8)

Total net exposure 3,220.3 263.2 18.6 281.8 113.7 3,615.8

£117.8 mi l l ion (2022: £16.1 mi l l ion) of col lateral  in the form of property has  been pledged as  securi ty for Real  Estate
Finance Stage 3 balances  of £84.0 mi l l ion (2022: £14.8 mi l l ion). £21.0 mi l l ion (2022: £11.2 mi l l ion) of col lateral  in the
form of vehicles  has  been pledged as  securi ty for Vehicle Finance Stage 3 balances  of £14.7 mi l l ion (2022: £6.1 mi l l ion).

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total  gross
 loans  and

advances
to

customers
£mi l l ion£mil l ion

<= 30 days
past due
£mil l ion

> 30 days
past due
£mil l ion

Total
£mi l l ion

 Total
£mi l l ion

31 December 2022



31 December 2022

Consumer Finance

 Retai l  Finance  987.4  85.4  3.8  89.2  6.1  1,082.7

 Vehicle Finance  306.8  83.3  3.8  87.1  23.6  417.5

Business  Finance

 Real  Estate Finance  957.9  122.9  21.3  144.2  16.8  1,118.9

 Commercial  Finance  327.7  50.2 -  50.2  0.5  378.4

Total drawn exposure  2,579.8  341.8  28.9  370.7  47.0  2,997.5

Off balance sheet

 Loan commitments  298.0 -  - - -  298.0

Total gross exposure  2,877.8  341.8  28.9  370.7  47.0  3,295.5

Less:

Impairment a l lowance (24.3) (23.9) (4.7) (28.6) (25.1) (78.0)

Provis ion for loan commitments (1.1) - - - - (1.1)

Total net exposure  2,852.4  317.9  24.2  342.1  21.9  3,216.4

A reconci l iation of opening to clos ing a l lowance for impairment of loans  and advances  to customers  is  presented in Note
16.

Company

In addition to the above, counterparties  to the Company include subs idiary undertakings. For the ECL on amounts  due from
related companies , see Note 24.

37.1. Concentration risk

Management assesses  the potentia l  concentration risk from geographic, product and individual  loan concentration. Due to
the nature of the Group's  lending operations, the Directors  cons ider the lending operations  of the Group as  a  whole to be
wel l  divers i fied. Detai ls  of the Group's  loans  and advances  to customers  and loan commitments  by product is  provided in
Notes  3 and 31, respectively.

Geographical concentration

The Group's  Real  Estate Finance loan book is  secured against UK property only. The geographical  concentration of these
business  loans  and advances  to customers, by location of the securi ty, i s  as  fol lows:

Group and Company

£million
2023

£mil l ion
2022

Central  England 99.5 101.9

Greater London 709.5 689.7

Northern England 89.2 68.7

South East England (excl . Greater London) 233.3 189.5

South West England 40.7 20.4

Scotland, Wales  and Northern Ireland 79.6 48.7

Gross  loans  and receivables 1,251.8 1,118.9

Al lowance for impairment (8.0) (3.4)

Total 1,243.8 1,115.5

37.2. Forbearance

Consumer Finance

Throughout the year, the Group did not routinely reschedule contractual  arrangements  where customers  default on their
repayments . In cases  where i t offered the customer the option to reduce or defer payments  for a  short period, in l ine with
our responsibi l i ties  from a conduct perspective, the loans  retained the normal  contractual  payment due dates  and were
treated the same as  any other defaulting cases  for impairment purposes. Arrears  tracking would continue on the account,
with any impairment charge being based on the original  contractual  due dates  for a l l  products .

Al l  forbearance arrangements  are formal ly discussed and agreed with the customer in accordance with regulatory
guidance on the support of customers. By offering customers  in financial  di fficulty the option of forbearance, the Group
potentia l ly exposes  i tsel f to an increased level  of risk through prolonging the period of non-contractual  payment. Al l
forbearance arrangements  are reviewed and monitored regularly to assess  the ongoing potentia l  ri sk, suitabi l i ty and
sustainabi l i ty to the Group. As  at the year end, the Consumer Finance bus iness  approximately had the fol lowing cases  (by
volume) in forbearance:

·       Retai l  Finance 0.15% (2022: 0.15%); and

·       Vehicle Finance: 0.11% (2022: 0.16%).

In respect of Vehicle Finance, where forbearance measures  are not poss ible or are cons idered not to be in the customer's
best interests , or where such measures  have been tried and the customer has  not adhered to the forbearance terms that
have been agreed, the Group wi l l  cons ider real is ing i ts  securi ty and taking possess ion of the vehicle in order to sel l  i t and
clear the outstanding debt. Where the sale of the vehicle does  not cover a l l  of the remaining loan, normal  credit col lection
procedures  may be carried out in order to recover the outstanding debt, or the debt may be sold to a  third party debt
recovery agent, or in certain ci rcumstances, the debt may be written off.

Real Estate Finance

Where cl ients  provided evidence of payment di fficulties , they were supported by the provis ion of extens ions  to loan
maturi ty dates . A smal l  number of cl ients , who experienced di fficulties  in meeting their financial  commitments , were
offered concess ions  (faci l i ty restructures  or amendments) that Real  Estate Finance would not have provided under normal
circumstances. As  at 31 December 2023, 9.6% of accounts  were classed as  forborne (2022: 4.3%). Where forbearance



circumstances. As  at 31 December 2023, 9.6% of accounts  were classed as  forborne (2022: 4.3%). Where forbearance
measures  are not poss ible or are cons idered not to be in the cl ient's  best interests , or where such measures  have been tried
and the customer has  not adhered to the forbearance terms that have been agreed, the Group wi l l  cons ider real is ing i ts
securi ty.

38. Market risk

The Group's  market risk i s  primari ly l inked to interest rate risk. Interest rate risk refers  to the exposure of the Group's
financial  pos ition to adverse movements  in interest rates .

When interest rates  change, the present value and timing of future cash flows change. This , in turn, changes  the underlying
value of the Group's  assets , l iabi l i ties  and off-balance sheet instruments , and hence, i ts  economic value. Changes  in
interest rates  a lso affect the Group's  earnings  by a l tering interest-sens itive income and expenses, affecting i ts  net interest
income.

The principal  currency in which the Group operates  is  Sterl ing, a l though a smal l  number of transactions  are completed in
US dol lars , Euros  and other currencies  in the Commercial  Finance bus iness . The Group has  no s igni ficant exposures  to
foreign currencies  and hedges  any res idual  currency risks  to Sterl ing. The Group does  not operate a  trading book.

See the Principal  risks  and uncertainties  section for further detai ls  on the mitigation and change during the year of market
risk.

Interest rate risk

Group and Company

The Group seeks  to 'match' interest rate risk on ei ther s ide of the statement of financial  pos ition and hedges  res idual
mismatch in accordance with risk appeti tes . However, this  i s  not a  perfect match and interest rate risk i s  present on the
mismatch between fixed rate loans  and savings  products  and variable rate assets  and l iabi l i ties .

The Group monitors  the interest rate mismatch on at least a  monthly bas is , us ing market value sens itivi ty and earnings  at
risk, which were as  fol lows at 31 December:

2023
£million

2022
£mil l ion

Market value sens itivi ty

 +200bp paral lel  shi ft in yield curve 2.5 1.8

 -200bp paral lel  shi ft in yield curve (2.7) (1.9)

Earnings  at risk sens itivi ty

 +100bp paral lel  shi ft in yield curve 1.2 1.2

 -100bp paral lel  shi ft in yield curve (1.2) (1.2)

The Directors  cons ider that 200bps in the case of market value sens itivi ty and 100bps in the case of earnings  at risk are a
reasonable approximation of poss ible changes.

39. Liquidity and funding risk

Liquidity and funding risk i s  the risk that the Group is  unable to meet i ts  obl igations  as  they fa l l  due or can only do so at
excess ive cost. The Group maintains  adequate l iquidity resources  and a prudent, s table funding profi le at a l l  times to cover
l iabi l i ties  as  they fa l l  due in normal  and stressed conditions.

The Group manages  i ts  l iquidity in l ine with internal  and regulatory requirements , and at least annual ly assesses  the
robustness  of the l iquidity requirements  as  part of the Group's  Internal  Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process  ('ILAAP').

See the Principal  risks  and uncertainties  section for further detai ls  on the mitigation and change during the year of
l iquidity and funding risk.

The tables  below analyse the contractual  undiscounted cash flows for financial  l iabi l i ties  into relevant maturi ty
groupings:

Carrying
amount
£million

Gross
nominal
outflow
£million

Not more
than three

months
£million

More than
three

months but
less than
one year
£million

More than
one year

but less
than five

years
£million

More than
five years

£million
At 31 December 2023

Due to banks  402.0  435.9  12.1  15.4  408.4  -

Deposits  from customers  2,871.8  2,949.5  1,532.0  806.7  608.9  1.9

Subordinated l iabi l i ties  93.1  148.5  5.9  5.9  136.7  -

Lease l iabi l i ties  2.3  2.4  0.2  0.7  1.5  -

Other financial  l iabi l i ties  25.9  25.9  25.9  -  -  -

3,395.1 3,562.2 1,576.1 828.7 1,155.5 1.9

Derivative financial  l iabi l i ties 22.0 23.4 2.8 5.6 15.0 -

3,417.1 3,585.6 1,578.9 834.3 1,170.5 1.9

 

Carrying
amount

£mi l l ion

Gross
nominal
outflow

£mil l ion

Not more
than three

months
£mi l l ion

More than
three

months  but
less  than
one year
£mi l l ion

More than
one year
but less

than five
years

£mi l l ion

More than
five years

£mi l l ion
At 31 December 2022

Due to banks 400.5 438.7 10.6 10.2 417.9 -

Deposits  from customers 2,514.6 2,565.0 956.7 1,030.0 577.2 1.1

Subordinated l iabi l i ties 51.1 53.4 0.8 52.6 - -

Lease l iabi l i ties 2.1 2.2 0.2 0.5 1.5 -

Other financial  l iabi l i ties 68.1 68.1 68.1 - - -



3,036.4 3,127.4 1,036.4 1,093.3 996.6 1.1

Derivative financial  l iabi l i ties 26.7 27.5 4.4 12.2 10.9 -

3,063.1 3,154.9 1,040.8 1,105.5 1,007.5 1.1

Company

The contractual  undiscounted cash flows for financial  l iabi l i ties  of the Company are the same as  above except for the
fol lowing:

Carrying
amount
£million

Gross
nominal
outflow
£million

Not more
than three

months
£million

More than
three

months but
less than
one year
£million

More than
one year

but less
than five

years
£million

More than
five years

£million
At 31 December 2023

Lease l iabi l i ties 2.1 2.1 0.2 0.7 1.2 -

Other financial  l iabi l i ties 34.2 34.2 34.2 - - -

Non-derivative financial  l iabi l i ties 3,403.2 3,570.2 1,584.4 828.7 1,155.2 1.9

Total 3,425.2 3,593.6 1,587.2 834.3 1,170.2 1.9
 

Carrying
amount

£mi l l ion

Gross
nominal
outflow

£mil l ion

Not more
than three

 months
£mi l l ion

More than
three

months  but
less  than
one year
£mi l l ion

More than
one year
but less

than five
years

£mi l l ion

More than
five years

£mi l l ion
At 31 December 2022

Lease l iabi l i ties 1.9 2.0 0.2 0.5 1.3 -

Other financial  l iabi l i ties 77.4 77.4 77.4 - - -

Non-derivative financial  l iabi l i ties 3,045.5 3,136.5 1,045.7 1,093.3 996.4 1.1

Total 3,072.2 3,164.0 1,050.1 1,105.5 1,007.3 1.1

40. Capital risk

Capital  ri sk i s  the risk that the Group wi l l  have insufficient capital  resources  to meet minimum regulatory requirements
and to support the bus iness . The Group adopts  a  conservative approach to managing i ts  capital  and at least annual ly
assesses  the robustness  of the capital  requirements  as  part of the Group's  Internal  Capital  Adequacy Assessment Process
('ICAAP'). The Group has  Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital  resources, noting the regulatory adjustments  required in the table below.

The fol lowing table, which is  unaudited and therefore not in scope of the Independent Auditor's  Report, shows the
regulatory capital  resources  for the Group.

2023
£million

(unaudited)

Restated¹
2022

£mil l ion
(unaudited)

CET 1

Share capital 7.6 7.5

Share premium 83.8 82.2

Retained earnings 254.8 237.8

Own shares (1.4) (0.3)

IFRS 9 trans ition adjustments  (See below for further detai ls ) 2.1 11.7

Goodwi l l (1.0) (1.0)

Intangible assets  net of attributable deferred tax (4.9) (5.6)

CET1 capital before foreseeable dividend 341.0 332.3

Foreseeable dividend (3.1) (5.4)

CET1 and Tier 1 capital 337.9 326.9

Tier 2

Subordinated l iabi l i ties 89.1 49.9

Less  inel igible portion (29.4) -

Total  Tier 2 capital2 59.7 49.9

Own funds 397.6 376.8

Reconciliation to total equity:

IFRS 9 trans ition adjustments (2.1) (11.7)

El igible subordinated l iabi l i ties (59.7) (49.9)

Cash flow hedge reserve (0.3) (0.8)

Goodwi l l  and other intangible assets  net of attributable deferred tax 5.9 6.6

Foreseeable dividend 3.1 5.4

Total equity 344.5 326.4

1. Restated to reflect a change in accounting policy relating to land and buildings, which are now presented at historical cost. See Note 1.3 for
further details.

2. Tier 2 capital comprises solely subordinated debt, excluding accrued interest, capped at 25% of the Pillar 1 and 2A requirements as set by the
PRA.

The Group has  elected to adopt the IFRS 9 trans itional  rules . In 2022, this  a l lowed for 25% of the ini tia l  IFRS 9 trans itional



The Group has  elected to adopt the IFRS 9 trans itional  rules . In 2022, this  a l lowed for 25% of the ini tia l  IFRS 9 trans itional
adjustment, net of attributable deferred tax, and for increases  in provis ions  between 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2019,
except where these provis ions  relate to defaulted accounts , to be added back to el igible capital . This  part of the rel ief has
now ended. The rel ief for increases  in provis ions  s ince 1 January 2020. however continues  to apply at 50% in 2023 (2022:
75%). This  rel ief wi l l  taper off by 31 December 2024

The Group's  regulatory capital  i s  divided into:

·       CET 1 capital , which comprises  shareholders ' funds, after adding back the IFRS 9 trans ition adjustment and deducting
qual i fying intangible assets , both of which are net of attributable deferred tax.

·       Tier 2 capital , which is  solely subordinated debt net of unamortised issue costs , capped at 25% of the capital
requirement

The Group operates  the standardised approach to credit risk, whereby risk weightings  are appl ied to the Group's  on and off
balance sheet exposures. The weightings  appl ied are those stipulated in the Capital  Requirements  Regulation.

Further information on capital  i s  included within our Pi l lar 3 disclosures , which can be found on the Group's  website. See
the Principal  risks  and uncertainties  section for further detai ls  on the mitigation and change during the year of capital  ri sk.

The Group is  subject to capital  requirements  imposed by the PRA on al l  financial  services  fi rms. During the year, the Group
compl ied with these requirements .

41. Classification of financial assets and liabilities

Group

Total
carrying
amount
£million

2023

Fair value
£million

2023

 
Fair value
 hierarchy

level
2023

Total
carrying
amount

£mi l l ion
2022

Fair value
£mil l ion

2022

Fair value
hierarchy

level
2022

Cash and Bank of England reserve account 351.6 351.6 Level  1 370.1 370.1 Level  1

Loans  and advances  to banks 53.7 53.7 Level  2 50.5 50.5 Level  2

Loans  and advances  to customers 3,315.3 3,279.7 Level  3 2,919.5 2,895.6 Level  3

Derivative financial  instruments 25.5 25.5 Level  2 34.9 34.9 Level  2

Other financial  assets 2.4 2.4 Level  3 1.7 1.7 Level  3

3,748.5 3,712.9 3,376.7 3,352.8

Due to banks 402.0 402.0 Level  2 400.5 400.5 Level  2

Deposits  from customers 2,871.8 2,850.1 Level  3 2,514.6 2,494.0 Level  3

Derivative financial  instruments 22.0 22.0 Level  2 26.7 26.7 Level  2

Lease l iabi l i ties 2.3 2.3 Level  3 2.1 2.1 Level  3

Other financial  l iabi l i ties 25.9 25.9 Level  3 68.1 68.1 Level  3

Subordinated l iabi l i ties 93.1 94.8 Level  3 51.1 43.5 Level  2

3,417.1 3,397.1 3,063.1 3,034.9

Al l  financial  assets  and l iabi l i ties  at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 were carried at amortised cost, except for
derivative financial  instruments  that are at fa i r value through profi t and loss . Therefore, for these assets  and l iabi l i ties , the
fair value hierarchy noted above relates  to the disclosure in this  note only.

Company
Total

carrying
amount
£million

2023

Fair value
£million

2023

Fair value
hierarchy

level
2023

Total
carrying
amount

£mi l l ion
2022

Fair value
£mil l ion

2022

Fair value
hierarchy

level
2022

At 31 December 2023

Cash and Bank of England reserve account 351.6 351.6 Level  1 370.1 370.1 Level  1

Loans  and advances  to banks 53.0 53.0 Level  2 48.9 48.9 Level  2

Loans  and advances  to customers 3,315.3 3,279.7 Level  3 2,919.5 2,895.6 Level  3

Derivative financial  instruments 25.5 25.5 Level  2 34.9 34.9 Level  2

Other financial  assets 5.0 5.0 Level  3 4.6 4.6 Level  3

3,750.4 3,714.8 3,378.0 3,354.1

Due to banks 402.0 402.0 Level  2 400.5 400.5 Level  2

Deposits  from customers 2,871.8 2,850.1 Level  3 2,514.6 2,494.0 Level  3

Derivative financial  instruments 22.0 22.0 Level  2 26.7 26.7 Level  2

Lease l iabi l i ties 2.1 2.1 Level  3 1.9 1.9 Level  3

Other financial  l iabi l i ties 34.2 34.2 Level  3 77.4 77.4 Level  3

Subordinated l iabi l i ties 93.1 94.8 Level  3 51.1 43.5 Level  2

3,425.2 3,405.2 3,072.2 3,044.0

Al l  financial  assets  and l iabi l i ties  at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 were carried at amortised cost except for
derivative financial  instruments  that are valued at fa i r value through profi t and loss . Therefore, for these assets , the fa ir
value hierarchy noted above relates  to the disclosure in this  note only.

Fair value classification

The tables  above include the fa ir values  and fa ir value hierarchies  of the Group and Company's  financial  assets  and
l iabi l i ties . The Group measures  fa i r value us ing the fol lowing fa ir value hierarchy that reflects  the s igni ficance of the
inputs  used in making measurements:

·       Level  1: Quoted prices  in active markets  for identical  assets  or l iabi l i ties .

·       Level  2: Inputs  other than quoted prices  included within Level  1 that are observable for the asset or l iabi l i ty, ei ther



·       Level  2: Inputs  other than quoted prices  included within Level  1 that are observable for the asset or l iabi l i ty, ei ther
directly
(i .e. as  prices) or indirectly (i .e. derived from prices).

·       Level  3: Inputs  for the asset or l iabi l i ty that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Loans and advances to customers and Deposits from customers

The fa ir value of the financial  assets  and l iabi l i ties  i s  calculated based upon the present value of the expected future
principal  and interest cash flows. The rate used to discount the cash flows was a  market rate of interest at the balance
sheet date. For loans  and advances  to customers, the same assumptions  regarding the risk of default were appl ied as  those
used to derive the carrying value.

Debt securities

The fa ir value of debt securi ties  i s  based on the quoted price where avai lable.

Derivative financial instruments

The fa ir value of derivative financial  instruments  is  calculated based on the present value of the expected future cash flows
of the instruments . The rate used to discount the cash flows was the SONIA forward curve at the balance sheet date.

Subordinated liabilities

The fa ir value of subordinated l iabi l i ties  i s  calculated based on quoted market prices  where avai lable, or where an active
market quote is  not avai lable, i t i s  calculated based on the present value of the expected future cash flows of the
instruments . The rate used to discount the cash flows was the UK Government five year bond plus  the ini tia l  spread on the
instruments .

For a l l  remaining financial  assets  and l iabi l i ties , the fa ir value of financial  assets  and l iabi l i ties  i s  calculated to be
equivalent to their carrying value due to their short maturi ty dates .

42. Related party transactions

Related parties  of the Company and Group include subs idiaries , key management personnel , close fami ly members  of key
management personnel  and enti ties  that are control led, jointly control led or s igni ficantly influenced, or for which
s igni ficant voting power is  held, by key management personnel  or their close fami ly members .

No transactions  greater than £0.1 mi l l ion were entered into with key management personnel  or their close fami ly members
during the current or prior year.

The Company undertook the fol lowing transactions  with other companies  in the Secure Trust Bank Group:

2023
£million

2022
£mil l ion

Interest income and s imi lar income (28.8) (26.2)

Gain on sale of defaulted debt - 0.2

Operating expenses (0.4) (0.4)

Waiver of intercompany balance - (0.2)

Al lowances  for impairment of amounts  due from related companies (2.1) -

Investment income 10.2 14.0

(21.1) (12.6)

Equity contribution to subs idiaries  re. share-based payments 0.2 0.4

The loans  and advances  with, and amounts  receivable and payable to, related companies  are noted below:

Company
2023

£million

Company
2022

£mil l ion
Amounts  receivable from subs idiary undertakings 2.7 3.1

Amounts  due to subs idiary undertakings (10.5) (12.4)

(7.8) (9.3)

Al l  amounts  above are repayable on demand and the Company charged interest at a  variable rate on amounts  outstanding.

Directors' remuneration

The Directors ' emoluments  (including pens ion contributions  and benefi ts  in kind) for the year are disclosed in the
Directors ' Remuneration Report in the Annual  Report and Accounts .

At the year-end the ordinary shares  held by the Directors  are disclosed in the Directors ' Remuneration Report in the Annual
Report and Accounts . Detai ls  of the Directors ' holdings  of share options, as  wel l  as  detai ls  of those share options  exercised
during the year, are a lso disclosed in the Directors ' Report.

43. Immediate parent company and ultimate controlling party

The Company has  no immediate parent company or ul timate control l ing party.

44. Country-by-Country reporting

The Capital  Requirements  (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations  2013 introduced reporting obl igations  for
insti tutions  within the scope of CRD V. The requirements  a im to give increased transparency regarding the activi ties  of
insti tutions. The

Country-by-Country information is  set out below:

Name
Nature
of activi ty Location

Turnover
£million

Average
number of

FTE
employees

Profit
before tax

£million

Tax paid
on profit
£million

31 December 2023 Secure Trust Bank PLC
Banking
services UK 321.3 879 33.4 8.6

31 December 2022 Secure Trust Bank PLC
Banking
services UK 208.3 940 44.0 7.0



31 December 2022 Secure Trust Bank PLC services UK 208.3 940 44.0 7.0

45. Post balance sheet events

There have been no s igni ficant events  between 31 December 2023 and the date of approval  of these financial  s tatements
which would require a  change to or additional  disclosure in the financial  s tatements .

Five-year summary (unaudited)

2023
£million

 
2022

£mil l ion
2021

£mil l ion
2020

£mil l ion

 
2019

£mil l ion

Profit for the year
Continuing operations

Interest and s imi lar income 304.0 203.0 163.9 173.1 191.4

Interest expense and s imi lar charges (136.5) (50.4) (27.7) (39.4) (46.0)

Net interest income 167.5 152.6 136.2 133.7 145.4

Net fee and commiss ion income 17.2 17.0 12.7 10.8 20.1

Operating income 184.7 169.6 148.9 144.5 165.5

Net impairment charge on loans  and advances  to customers (43.2) (38.2) (5.0) (41.4) (32.6)

Gains/(losses) on modification of financial  assets 0.3 1.1 1.5 (3.1) -

Fair value gains/(losses) on financial  instruments 0.5 (0.3) (0.1) - -

Operating expenses (99.7) (93.2) (89.4) (81.8) (96.8)

Profit before income tax before exceptional items 42.6 39.0 55.9 18.2 36.1

Exceptional  i tems (6.5) - - - -

Profit before income tax 36.1 39.0 55.9 18.2 36.1

Discontinued operations

(Loss)/profi t before income tax (2.7) 5.0 0.1 0.9 -

Total profit before income tax 33.4 44.0 56.0 19.1 36.1

 

Continuing
2023

£million

Continuing
2022

£mil l ion

Continuing
2021

£mil l ion

Continuing
2020

£mil l ion
2019

£mil l ion
Earnings per share for profit attributable to the equity
holders of the Company during the year (pence per share)

Basic earnings  per ordinary share 140.8 158.5 244.1 82.7 168.3
 

2023
£million

Restated
2022

£mil l ion

Restated
2021

£mil l ion
2020

£mil l ion
2019

£mil l ion

Financial position
Cash and Bank of England reserve account 351.6 370.1 234.0 181.5 105.8

Loans and advances  to banks 53.7 50.5 52.0 63.3 48.4

Debt securi ties - - 25.0 - 25.0

Loans and advances  to customers 3,315.3 2,919.5 2,530.6 2,358.9 2,450.1

Fair value adjustment for portfol io hedged risk (3.9) (32.0) (3.5) 5.7 (0.9)

Derivative financial  instruments 25.5 34.9 3.8 4.8 0.9

Other assets 35.8 36.6 44.0 47.0 51.4

Total assets 3,778.0 3,379.6 2,885.9 2,661.2 2,680.7

Due to banks 402.0 400.5 390.8 276.4 308.5

Deposits  from customers 2,871.8 2,514.6 2,103.2 1,992.5 2,020.3

Fair value adjustment for portfol io hedged risk (1.4) (23.0) (5.3) 4.7 (0.7)

Derivative financial  instruments 22.0 26.7 6.2 6.1 0.6

Subordinated l iabi l i ties 93.1 51.1 50.9 50.8 50.6

Other l iabi l i ties 46.0 83.5 37.7 63.1 49.4

Total  shareholders ' equity 344.5 326.2 302.4 267.6 252.0

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 3,778.0 3,379.6 2,885.9 2,661.2 2,680.7
The 2021 and 2020 profi ts  for the year have been restated to reflect the disclosure of discontinued operations.

Appendix to the Annual Report (unaudited)
Key performance indicators and other alternative performance measures
Al l  key performance indicators  are based on continuing operations  and continuing loans  and advances  to customers,
unless  otherwise stated.

Restated prior year ratios  reflect a  change in accounting pol icy relating to land and bui ldings , which are now presented at
historical  cost. See Note 1.3 for further detai ls .

(i) Continuing loans and advances to customers

A reconci l iation of total  loans  and advances  to customers  to continuing operations  loans  and advances  to customers  is  set
out below:



2023
£million

2022
£mil l ion

2021
£mil l ion

2020
£mil l ion

2019
£mil l ion

2018
£mil l ion

Loans and advances  to customers 3,315.3 2,919.5 2,530.6 2,358.9 2,450.1 2,028.9

Assets  held for sale - loan portfol ios - - 1.3 - - -

Total loans and advances to customers 3,315.3 2,919.5 2,531.9 2,358.9 2,450.1 2,028.9

Less  discontinued loans  and advances  to
customers:

 Asset Finance (sold during 2021) - - - (10.4) (27.7) (62.8)

 DMS (sold during 2022) - - (79.6) (81.8) (82.4) (32.3)

 Consumer Mortgages  (sold during 2021) - - - (77.7) (105.9) (84.7)

 Other - - (1.3) (4.1) (7.6) (11.2)

Total  discontinued operations  loans  and
advances  to customers - - (80.9) (174.0) (223.6) (191.0)

Continuing loans and advances to customers 3,315.3 2,919.5 2,451.0 2,184.9 2,226.5 1,837.9

(ii) Net interest margin, net revenue margin and risk adjusted margin ratios

Net interest margin is  calculated as  net interest income for the financial  year as  a  percentage of the average loan book.
Risk adjusted margin is  calculated as  risk adjusted income for the financial  year as  a  percentage of the average loan book.
Net revenue margin is  calculated as  operating income for the financial  year as  a  percentage of the average loan book. The
calculation of the average loan book is  the average of the monthly balance of loans  and advances  to customers, net of
provis ions, over 13 months:

Group
2023

£million
2022

£mil l ion
2021

£mil l ion
2020

£mil l ion
2019

£mil l ion
Net interest income 167.5 152.6 136.2 133.7 133.5

Opening loan book 2,919.5 2,451.0 2,184.9 2,226.5 1,837.9

Clos ing loan book 3,315.3 2,919.5 2,451.0 2,184.9 2,226.5

Average loan book 3,099.4 2,699.3 2,240.5 2,197.8 2,041.3

Net interest margin 5.4% 5.7% 6.1% 6.1% 6.5%
 

Retai l  Finance
2023

£million
2022

£mil l ion
2021

£mil l ion
2020

£mil l ion
2019

£mil l ion
Net interest income 73.1 61.2 56.1 57.7 58.1

Average loan book 1,143.4 898.8 692.9 663.4 651.9

Net interest margin 6.4% 6.8% 8.1% 8.7% 8.9%

Net interest income 73.1 61.2 56.1 57.7 58.1

Net fee and commiss ion income 3.2 3.6 2.6 2.1 3.6

Net impairment charge on loans  and advances  to customers (15.9) (14.8) (5.0) (14.5) (19.8)

Gains/(losses) on modification of financial  assets - 0.2 0.4 (0.6) -

Risk adjusted income 60.4 50.2 54.1 44.7 41.9

Risk adjusted margin 5.3% 5.6% 7.8% 6.7% 6.4%

 

Vehicle Finance
2023

£million
2022

£mil l ion
2021

£mil l ion
2020

£mil l ion
2019

£mil l ion
Net interest income 44.1 38.9 32.2 37.5 40.6

Average loan book 429.6 325.1 245.8 292.1 300.1

Net interest margin 10.3% 12.0% 13.1% 12.8% 13.5%

Net interest income 44.1 38.9 32.2 37.5 40.6

Net fee and commiss ion income 1.8 1.4 1.1 0.6 0.6

Net impairment charge on loans  and advances  to customers (14.8) (21.3) (0.1) (20.7) (13.8)

Gains/(losses) on modification of financial  assets 0.3 0.9 1.1 (2.5) -

Risk adjusted income 31.4 19.9 34.3 14.9 27.4

Risk adjusted margin 7.3% 6.1% 14.0% 5.1% 9.1%
 

Real  Estate Finance
2023

£million
2022

£mil l ion
2021

£mil l ion
2020

£mil l ion
2019

£mil l ion
Net interest income 29.7 29.7 31.5 30.4 27.0

Net fee and commiss ion income  0.9  0.2  0.3 -  1.0

Operating income 30.6 29.9 31.8 30.4 28.0

Net impairment charge on loans  and advances  to customers (4.5) (1.3) (0.1) (5.2) (0.1)

Risk adjusted income 26.1 28.6 31.7 25.2 27.9

Average loan book 1,177.7 1,114.9 1,045.3 1,020.4 867.5

Net revenue margin 2.6% 2.7% 3.0% 3.0% 3.2%

Risk adjusted margin 2.2% 2.6% 3.0% 2.5% 3.2%
 

Commercial  Finance
2023

£million
2022

£mil l ion
2021

£mil l ion
2020

£mil l ion
2019

£mil l ion
Net interest income 13.2 11.4 6.5 4.4 4.0

Net fee and commiss ion income  11.3  11.6  8.4  7.7  9.2



Net fee and commiss ion income  11.3  11.6  8.4  7.7  9.2

Operating income 24.5 23.0 14.9 12.1 13.2

Net impairment (charge)/credit on loans  and advances  to
customers (8.0) (0.8) 0.2 (1.1) (0.1)

Risk adjusted income 16.5 22.2 15.1 11.0 13.1

Average loan book 348.8 360.7 259.6 221.9 221.8

Net revenue margin 7.0% 6.4% 5.7% 5.5% 6.0%

Risk adjusted margin 4.7% 6.2% 5.8% 5.0% 5.9%

These ratios  show the net return on our lending assets , with and without adjusting for cost of risk.

(iii) Yield

Yield is  calculated as  interest income and s imi lar income for the financial  year as  a  percentage of the average loan book.
The calculation of the average loan book is  the average of the monthly balance of loans  and advances  to customers, net of
provis ions, over 13 months:

2023
£million

2022
£mil l ion

Interest income and s imi lar income 304.0 203.0

Average loan book 3,099.4 2,699.3

9.8% 7.5%

The yield measures  the gross  return on the loan book.

(iv) Return on average equity

Total  return on average equity is  calculated as  the total  profi t after tax for the previous  12 months  as  a  percentage of
average equity. Adjusted return on average equity is  calculated as  the adjusted profi t after tax for the previous  12 months
as  a  percentage of average equity. Average equity is  calculated as  the average of the monthly equity balances.

2023
£million

Restated
2022

£mil l ion
2021

£mil l ion
2020

£mil l ion
2019

£mil l ion
Total  profi t after tax 24.3 33.7 45.6 15.4 31.1

Less:

Loss/(profi t) for the year from discontinued operations 2.1 (4.1) N/A N/A N/A

Exceptional  i tems after tax 5.9 - - - -

Adjusted profi t after tax 32.3 29.6 N/A N/A N/A

Opening equity 326.4 302.2 267.6 252.0 237.0

Clos ing equity 344.5 326.4 302.2 267.6 252.0

Average equity 334.9 313.4 287.0 261.1 242.9

Total return on average equity 7.3% 10.8% 15.9% 5.9% 12.8%

Adjusted return on average equity 9.6% 9.4% N/A N/A N/A

Return on average equity is  a  measure of the Group's  abi l i ty to generate profi t from the equity avai lable to i t.

(v) Cost to income ratio

Statutory cost to income is  calculated as  total  operating expenses  for the financial  year as  a  percentage of operating
income for the financial  year. Adjusted cost to income is  calculated as  adjusted operating expenses  for the financial  year
as  a  percentage of operating income for the financial  year.

2023
£million

2022
£mil l ion

2021
£mil l ion

2020
£mil l ion

2019
£mil l ion

Total  operating expenses 106.2 93.2 89.4 81.8 83.5

Less: Exceptional  i tems (6.5) - - - -

Adjusted operating expenses 99.7 93.2 89.4 81.8 83.5

Operating income 184.7 169.6 148.9 144.5 148.4

Statutory cost to income ratio 57.5% 55.0% 60.0% 56.6% 56.3%

Adjusted cost to income ratio 54.0% 55.0% 60.0% 56.6% 56.3%

The cost to income ratio measures  how efficiently the Group is  uti l i s ing i ts  cost base to produce income.

(vi) Cost of risk

Cost of risk i s  calculated as  the total  of the net impairment charge on loans  and advances  to customers  and gains  and
losses  on modification of financial  assets  for the financial  year as  a  percentage of the average loan book

2023
£million

2022
£mil l ion

2021
£mil l ion

2020
£mil l ion

2019
£mil l ion

Net impairment charge on loans  and advances  to customers 43.2 38.2 5.0 41.5 33.8

(Gains)/losses  on modification of financial  assets (0.3) (1.1) (1.5) 3.1 -

Total 42.9 37.1 3.5 44.5 33.8

Average loan book 3,099.4 2,699.3 2,240.5 2,197.8 2,041.3

Cost of risk 1.4% 1.4% 0.2% 2.0% 1.7%

The cost of risk measures  how effective the Group has  been in managing the credit risk of i ts  lending portfol ios

(vii) Cost of funds

Cost of funds  is  calculated as  the interest expense for the financial  year expressed as  a  percentage of average loan book

2023
£million

2022
£mil l ion



£million £mil l ion
Interest expense and s imi lar charges 136.5 50.4

Average loan book 3,099.4 2,699.3

Cost of funds 4.4% 1.9%

The cost of funds  measures  the cost of money being lent to customers.

(viii) Funding ratio and loan to deposit ratio

The funding ratio is  calculated as  the total  funding at the year-end divided by total  loans  and advances  to customers  at the
year-end. The loans  to deposit ratio is  calculated as  total  loans  and advances  to customers  at the year-end divided by
deposits  from customers  at the year end:

2023
£million

Restated
2022

£mil l ion
Deposits  from customers 2,871.8 2,514.6

Borrowings  under the Bank of England's  l iquidity support operations  (including accrued interest) 395.1 392.8

Tier 2 capital  (including accrued interest) 93.1 51.1

Equity 344.5 326.4

Total  funding 3,704.5 3,284.9

Total  loans  and advances  to customers 3,315.3 2,919.5

Funding ratio 111.7% 112.5%

Loan to deposit ratio 115.4% 116.1%

The funding ratio and loan to deposit ratio measure the Group's  excess  of funding that provides  l iquidity.

(ix) Profit before tax pre impairments

Profi t before tax pre impairments  is  profi t before tax, excluding impairment charges  and gains  on modification of financial
assets .

2023
£million

2022
£mil l ion

Profi t before income tax 36.1 39.0

Excluding: net impairment charge on loans  and advances  to customers 43.2 38.2

Excluding: gains  on modification of financial  assets (0.3) (1.1)

Profit before tax pre impairments 79.0 76.1

Exception i tems 6.5 -

Adjusted profit before tax pre impairments 85.5 76.1

 

Profi t before tax pre impairments  measures  the operational  performance of the bus iness .

(x) Tangible book value per share

Tangible book value per share is  calculated as  the total  equity less  intangible assets  divided by the number of shares  in
issue at the end of the year.

2023
£million

2022
£mil l ion

Total  equity 344.5 326.4

Less: Intangible assets (5.9) (6.6)

Tangible book value 338.6 319.8

Number of shares  in issue at the end of the year 19,017,795 18,691,434

Tangible book value per share £17.80 £17.11

 

Tangible book value per share is  a  measure of the Group's  value per share.
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